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For over thirty years, CARD MRI has touched 
countless lives throughout the country 
through its integrated microfinance and social 
development services. We are committed 
to our mission of fostering social change 
and eradicating poverty in the Philippines. 
This 2019, we found ourselves at another 
crossroad where we chose a new direction 
that we shall take for the next ten years.

Our covers serve to symbolically convey both 
the central theme and our approach towards 
this new strategic direction. We visualize 
these concepts in two ways, through the use 
of hands as central motifs. When the main 
CARD MRI annual report is paired together 
with our institutional annual reports, the 
outstretched hands prominently displayed 
on the covers evoke the collaborative and 
converging efforts between our mutually 
reinforcing institutions. Meanwhile, the covers 
when viewed individually visualize the ripples 
of change created by CARD MRI’s impact, 
especially in our newly identified high-impact 
growth zones (HIGZones).
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CARD MBA is committed to:

• Promote the welfare of marginalized sectors of the Philippine society and to other 
sectors as maybe determined by the Board;

• Extend financial assistance to its members in the form of death benefits, medical 
subsidy, pension and loan redemption assistance;

•  Ensure continued access to benefits/resources by actively involving the members 
in the direct management of the association that will include implementation of 
policies and procedures geared towards sustainability and improved services; and

•  To adopt a prudent cash management program to invest all cash in excess of 
current disbursement through a majority vote of its Board of Trustees.

CARD MBA is a global leader in the microinsurance industry, owned and led by 
members upholding the core values of competence, family spirit, integrity, simplicity, 
humility, excellence and stewardship.

5COLLABORATION  &  CONVERGENCE



A dream of ideas coming together, with an 
overflowing passion to serve the marginalized, 
and an opportunity ceased is how CARD MBA 
continues to thrive in the microinsurance 
industry. We have been delivering our products 
with immense speed and take great interest in 
the interests of our clients and understanding 
their problems. The institution remains 
committed in applying its most adequate 
resources to achieve its mission: to promote the 
welfare of marginalized sectors of the Philippine 
society and to other sectors by extending 
financial assistance to its members in the form 
of death benefits, medical subsidy, pension, 
and loan redemption assistance. 

As I look back at the last twelve months, I am 
proud to see the changes that have helped 
guide our institution in the right direction – 
into a stronger, more collaborative, member-
driven organization.  For us, collaboration and 
teamwork are important enablers in achieving 
our goals. We will always work hand in hand 
together with our clients and stakeholder 
partners, for we know that together we can 
achieve greater results for the industry than 
we could working alone. We, in the institution, 
celebrate successes and innovative efforts. 

We aim at expanding 
in the near future and 
remain committed 
to our social 
responsibility. Our 
wish and commitment 
is to develop a positive 
collaborative synergy 
with other institutions, 
while durably 
engaging with local 
communities, through 
financial assistance, 
training, support, 
and employment 
opportunities.

"I strongly believe that an 
institution’s image will eventually 
be a true reflection of the 
collective efforts of its people."
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We encourage discussion and sharing among 
staff and with external partners about finding and 
executing collaborative opportunities. This way, 
we get to understand why and how successes 
happened, and draw those insights into everyday 
conversation to spread the learnings throughout 
the entire institution. 

As a member, I am very proud with accomplishments 
up to date, we aim at expanding in the near future 
and remain committed to our social responsibility. 
Our wish and commitment is to develop a positive 
collaborative synergy with other institutions, 
while durably engaging with local communities, 
through financial assistance, training, support, 
and employment opportunities. In 2019, we 
began to implement a strategic plan that focuses 
on membership growth and an overall greater 
value for each member and the industry. High-
impact growth zones (HIGZ) were identified to help 
accelerate the growth requirements and at the 
same time, address pressing issues that affect the 
clients.

I express gratitude to fellow members, my Account 
Officers, Unit Managers, Provincial Managers, 
and Area Managers - our leading force for their 
endeavors and huge effort in the accomplishments 
and success of CARD MBA. I also wanted to thank 
them for the confidence shown to me in my 
decisions and my thoughts about the next steps for 
CARD MBA. I strongly believe that an institution’s 
image will eventually be a true reflection of the 
collective efforts of its people. We will continue to 
honor the dignity of even the most resource-poor, 
trust in their innate capabilities, and to love enough 
to give ourselves in service to them.

For us, 
collaboration 
and teamwork 
are important 
enablers in 
achieving our 
goals. We will 
always work hand 
in hand together 
with our clients 
and stakeholder 
partners, for 
we know that 
together we can 
achieve greater 
results for the 
industry than we 
could working 
alone.

Ms. Flordeliza Cristobal
President
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CARD MBA has taken it up a notch with the 
significant achievements we have for the year 2019. 
We were able to take on new challenges, innovations 
after innovation. We also broke new grounds in 
area expansion, financial literacy education, and 
digitization. Through the years, we’ve continued 
to strive for and reach greater heights amidst 
passionate admiration from observers in the 
country’s microinsurance industry.

This year also marks our  20th anniversary. This 
milestone has not only brought us an occasion 
to celebrate, but has also given us moments of 
reflection, allowing us to march forward with better 
poise to fulfil our vision of a society free from poverty. 
As a result, we’ve decided to raise the bar higher, 
aiming for even more — as stewards of the strategy 
to reach 20 million clients and insure 80 million lives 
of the country's severely poor with financial services 
within the next ten years. The institution has always 
been an evolving organization, and the 10-20-80 
strategic plan is a continuation of this trend.

Product Development & Expansion
The Insurance Commission has approved the Family 
Security Plan that will increase the benefits of the 
members and legal dependents on top of their basic 
plan. Our membership program has become more 
focused on the retention of existing membership 
and seeking out passionate members to join our 
efforts and to keep them engaged for years to come.

Due to the staff’s endless hard work and the 
strengthened trust from our members, there was 
a significant increase in enrollments on optional 
products. Golden Life Insurance Program (GLIP)  
has increased by 48% with a total policy of 22,107 
from 14,909  while Remitter Protek Plan has also 
increased with a total policy of 49,210 from 1,319 
in 2018. And in an effort to continuously broaden 
our scope and reach out to more members, our 
expansion of operation had established 13 Provincial 

Offices namely Camarines Sur 3, Isabela, Batangas 
3, Quezon 3, Surigao Del Norte, Metro Manila 3, 
Bukidnon, Southern Leyte, Negros Occidental 2, 
Iloilo 2, Cebu 3, Quezon 4 and La Union from January 
to December 2019.

Strategies to Improve Operations
In order to make the business operations more 
efficient and to free up resources that could be better 
used elsewhere, CARD MBA develops and improves 
its mechanisms. We aim to tremendously increase 
our efficiency in terms of claims settlement through 
our delivery channels, which includes CARD MFI 
branches and over 1,500 MBA Coordinators across 
the country, who validate claims from notice and 
ensure benefits are received almost immediately.

We have appointed Claims Officers in our Provincial 
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Offices to aid the quick settlement of claims. By 
far, we have already conducted 48 batches of 
Microinsurance Caravan with a total of 2,714 people 
benefiting from this activity (1,991 Account Officers, 
546 Unit Managers and 177 Admin Staff). We have 
provided exposure and capacity building training to 
the members of the board and staff in NTUC Income 
in Singapore, AOA and ICMIF in New Zealand and 
ACCU Forum in Malaysia. Additionally, we have 
initiated a training module together with CMDI to 
enhance the capacity of MBA Coordinators as they 
are the institution’s front liner in claims settlement. 
We also took part in assisting CMDI in the design 
of Training Regulation for Microinsurance National 
Certificate II (NC II) with TESDA.

Celebrate with Vigor
The institution successfully celebrated our 20th 
year founding anniversary and the occasion was 
graced by the Insurance Commissioner Atty. Dennis 
B. Funa and attended by former members of the 

Board of Trustees, MBA Coordinators, partners, and 
colleagues from CARD MRI. Insurance Commissioner 
Atty. Funa gave a glimpse of a recent statistical 
report that shows numbers and positive growth 
in various key indicators such as the premium 
production and the number of lives insured. CARD 
MBA ranked first among the microinsurance MBAs 
with the most number of lives insured. With over 18 
million individuals covered under its services, CARD 
MBA contributed the lion’s share, or 81.74% of the 
total number of lives insured under the MBA sector.

CARD MBA was also awarded as one of the "TOP 
PERFORMING Insurance Company in the Philippines 
2018” under the Asean Corporate Governance 
Scorecard (ACGS). The ACGS or Scorecard is an 
instrument for the assessment and ranking of 
publicly listed companies including insurance 
companies in the ASEAN countries for adopting 
corporate governance best practices.

The 10-20-80 Strategic Direction
Continuing the momentum of our 5-8-40 campaign, CARD MRI is aiming to increase its 
outreach to 20 million clients and provide insurance to 80 million individuals by 2030. 

High-Impact Growth Zones (HIGZones)
Various locations were identified by CARD MRI as areas where it could intensify 
and focus its resources so that the impact of its integrated microfinance and social 
development services are felt by our clients and communities. Through the HIGZone 
strategy, CARD MRI aims to accelerate its growth requirement, address the pressing 
issues that affect its clients and stakeholders, and foster a simple and “genuine” 
process and synergy throughout the MRI. The areas identified are Laguna, Quezon, 
Oriental and Occidental Mindoro, Marinduque, Samar and Leyte,  Bicol Region, Davao 
del Sur and del Norte, and Sulu.
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Managing Disruption
2019 was characterized by intense catastrophes 
experienced throughout the country. This created 
a challenging environment for the microinsurance 
operations of the institution. We were subjected 
to a range of natural disasters that disrupted our 
lives by damaging our homes and our belongings, 
affected our health, and altered our daily routines.
To tackle such challenges, CDRAP Program assisted 
781,334 families amounting to Php 55.8 million 
due to calamities they have experienced such as 
typhoons, earthquake, flood, and fire to make sure 
that families have the resources they need to rebuild.
Our clients have always proved their resilience in the 
face of adversity – whether natural or man-made – 
and MBA is confident this resilience will manifest 
itself in the coming years. We remain steadfast 

when it comes to working in solidarity with the 
most disadvantaged of people, soldiering alongside 
them to combat poverty. I am pleased to report 
that CARD MBA’s work is already well-aligned with 
the 10-20-80 strategic direction. We will aim even 
higher over the upcoming years. We will continue 
to maximize opportunities and expand services for 
the unserved needs of the over 20 million people 
we already reach, while still empowering the most 
underserved and marginalized women and men to 
gain greater access to and control over resources, 
decisions and actions for social transformation. We 
continue to plan and work according to plans set, 
for it is far easier to set the course and stay on it 
than to redirect a ship after it has set sail.

We’ve decided to raise the bar higher, aiming for even more — 
as stewards of the strategy to reach 20 million clients and insure 
80 million lives of the country's severely poor with financial 

services within the next ten years. 
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Being the leader in the 
microinsurance industry, 
CARD Mutual Benefit 
Association Inc. gives high 
value on ensuring that a 
good corporate governance 
is observed in all its 
undertakings. A transparent 
good governance helps 
the association achieve 
our goals in extending 
our hands to the socially 
economically challenged 
families as a larger number 
of members are continually 
trusting the association and 
the leaders behind it.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CONFIRMATION STATEMENT
The Board of Trustees and the Management of CARD Mutual Benefit 
Association, Inc. confirm its full compliance with the Code of Corporate 
Governance. This commitment is driven by its core values of competence, 
family spirit, integrity, simplicity, humility, excellence, and stewardship. 
Moreover, the Association remains deeply rooted in its responsibility to 
the members and their families. Ergo, the practice of transparency and full 
disclosure give CARD MBA the opportunity to further gain the trust and 
confidence of its members and stakeholders.

BOARD OF TRUSTEES
As the highest governing body of the association, the Board of Trustees (BOT) 
is a position of trust and confidence. All of them holds no executive position 
to the association. They act in a manner characterized by transparency, 
accountability, fairness and for the best interest of the members and 
stakeholders. Trustees are primarily responsible for approving and 
overseeing the implementation of the Associations’ policies and procedures, 
action plans corporate governance and values towards attainment of the 
short and long-term strategic objectives. The Board of Trustees are selected 
among the members and elected by their co-members as well, in accordance 
with the selection and nomination process of the Association. They came 
from different regions of the country for a diversified representation of 
the members for abroad range of perspective on the operation of the 
association based on their race, age, expertise, experience and knowledge. 
This helps the association in pioneering microinsurance products and 
services. From being a simple ‘Nanay’ to becoming an empowered women 
that lead and serve the others, they are trained and exposed to different 
training and practices. As part of their responsibility, the Board of Trustees 
had to visit five members and three centers every month so they could 
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NEWLY ELECTED BOARD OF TRUSTEES SEPTEMBER 6, 2019

*Ms. Violeta G. Aquino

Name of 
Trustee

personally hear and learn from the members 
themselves. CARD MBA Board of Trustees do not 
have any remuneration, only incidental expenses 
they incurred during attendance of meetings and 
on their monthly visitation to centers and members. 
The Board holds regular meetings every first Friday 
of every other month. In compliance with Insurance 
Commission Circular 2018-36 enjoining all to have 
20% of the members of the Board, additional 
Independent Trustee was elected last September 9, 
2019. 

BOARD COMMITTEES
Audit Committee
The Audit Committee assists the Board of Trustees in 
the oversight of internal and external audit functions. 
It is composed of two (2) members of the board 
without executive position, (two) 2 Independent 
Trustees and (1) one from another institution.  During 
the regular meeting, the committee ensures that the 
management takes necessary corrective actions in a 
timely manner to address weaknesses noted in the 
internal control and other non-compliance issues 
with internal policies and procedures identified by 
auditors. All significant issues noted are reported 
during the BOT meeting. For the year 2019, CARD 
MBA Audit Committee certifies that CARD MBA Inc., 
has sufficient internal control systems in place and 
is aware that constant review of the said systems 
and procedures is a must to keep abreast with the 
changing times. The Audit Committee meets every 
first Friday of every month. Table below shows the 
2019 attendance of each member in the meeting.

Total No. of

MEETINGS

Total No. of

Meetings 

ATTENDED

Percentage

RATINGS

*Ms. Minerva M. Arcullo

*Ms. Analie R. Marasigan

*Ms. Hean D. Rosales

*Ms. Rosalie R. Barandino

*Ms. Fidela C. Gabatin

*Ms. Girlie M. Lopez

Ms. Flordeliza C. Cristobal

Ms. Ligaya P. Ramos

Ms. Audrey R. Cabebe

Ms. Marabella D. Celoso

Ms. Roselyn V. Bayron

Ms. Arlette A. Umali

Atty. Jomer H. Aquino

5

5

5

5

6

5

5

6

6

6

6

6

6

6

5

5

5

5

6

5

5

6

6

6

6

6

6

6

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Ms. Remedios V. Gabriel

Ms. Cristita S. Salao

Ms. Teresita G. Villanueva

Ms. Perla L. Munar

Ms. Elizabeth T. Francisco

Ms. Nora T. Porley

Ms. Vida T. Chiong

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Audit 
Committee 

Member

Total No. of

MEETINGS

Total No. of

Meetings 

ATTENDED
Percentage

RATINGS

Ms. Arlette A. Umali

Mr. Josef M. Leron

*Ms. Analie R. Marasigan

*Ms. Rosalie R. Barandino

*Ms. Flordeliza C. Cristobal

**Mr. Jeffrey M. Rondina

**Ms. Cristita S. Salao

**Ms. Perla L. Munar

**Ms. Vida T. Chiong

12

9

9

9

9

3

3

3

3

12

9

9

9

9

3

3

3

3

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%
*term ended on September 5, 2019
**term started on September 6, 2019

*term ended on September 5, 2019
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Total No. of

MEETINGS

Risk
Committee 

Member

Risk Oversight Committee
Risk Oversight Committee is responsible for the 
identification and evaluation of risk exposure of 
CARD MBA and development of risk management 
strategies and plan and oversees its implementation. 
Different risk identified by the committee that is 
regularly monitored includes but not limited to 
reputational risks, underwriting risks, product risks, 
compliance risks, IT risks, investment/financial risks 
and operation risks. The committee also ensure that
the management was able to implement effectively 
the mitigating factors recommended by the 
committee. The committee meets every first Friday 
of every two months.

Related Party Transaction Committee
The RPT Committee assists the Board of Trustees in 
evaluating transactions with related parties to ensure 
that related party transactions are undertaken 
in a fair and arm’s length basis for the financial, 
commercial and economic benefit of both CARD 
MBA and of CARD MRI’s institutions. The committee 
set a materiality threshold and authorization level 
for each type of transactions dealt with the related 
parties. Further pursuant to IC Circular 2017-29, the 
Association complies with the quarterly submission 
of list of RPT Transactions to the Insurance 
Commission along with the Organizational Structure 
which is submitted annually.

Total No. of

Meetings 

ATTENDED

Atty. Jomer H. Aquino 6

1

100%

Ms. May S. Dawat

Ms. Arlene R. Umandap

Ms. Juliana B. De Leon

Ms. Cynthia B. Baldeo

*Ms. Vida T. Chiong

*Ms. Vida T. Chiong

Ms. Arlette A. Umali

Ms. Flordeliza Cristobal

Ms. Remedios Gabriel

*term started November 5, 2019

6

6

6

6

6

6

6

6

6

1

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

*term started November 5, 2019

2

2

2

2

2

Total No. of

MEETINGS

Total No. of

Meetings 

ATTENDED

2

2

2

100%

100%

100%

100%

Related Party
Committee 

Member

Nomination Committee
Ms. Arlette A. Umali - Chairperson
Atty. Jomer H. Aquino
Ms. Eulalia A. Villanueva

Election Committee
Atty. Virlyn Rose R. Ramirez - Chairperson
Ms. Joan A. Cajes
Ms. Marissa De Mesa

Selection of nominees for the Board of Trustees 
adheres to the Governance Manual adopted by 
the Association. Nominees underwent two level 
of screening: first is on a regional level and finally 
to the Nomination Committee in the Main Office. 
Regional level selection meeting done on April 
22 and May 15, 2019 includes validation and 
background checking of eligibility of the nominees 
in accordance with the Association’s By-Laws and. 
Selected nominees are endorsed to the central 
Nomination Committee in the Main Office, which 
is composed of all Independent Trustees and one 
passed President. The committee meets on May 27, 
2019 for the final scrutinization of the nominees by 
conducting a personnel interview with them before 
the list are released to the members for their proxy 

Percentage

RATINGS

Percentage

RATINGS
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Product Development and Innovation 
Committee 
With the combined efforts of the operations staff 
and MBA Coordinators, the Association through the 
Product Development and Innovation Committee 
was able to offer a new and very competitive 
product to its members and his/her family. PDIC is 
a body whose primary responsibility is to develop 
products and enhance benefit packages and 
services that meet the emerging needs of members. 
Last 2019, PDIC was able to launch a new product 
called Family Security Plan. An optional product for 
additional insurance coverage for the members 

voting. During the Annual General Membership 
Meeting (AGMM), nominees are then elected with the 
supervision of an independent Election Committee. 
They supervise the voting ceremony during the 
AGMM up to the counting of votes, tabulation and 
announcement the results thereof.

Remuneration Committee
To ensure that a competitive remuneration 
arrangements of a wider employee population are 
met, Renumeration Committee meets at least twice 
a year to review and discuss the matter. Further, 
this Committee is also responsible to evaluate the 
support given to the MBA Coordinators, as they are 
a volunteered member who helps the Association 
achieve its goal of efficient and timely payment 
of claims. One of the proposed resolutions to 
the Committee is having a team leader for MBA 
coordinators, however it was not pursued after 
some studies and review.

Remuneration
Committee 

Member

Total No. of

MEETINGS

Total No. of

Meetings 

ATTENDED

Percentage

RATINGS

Atty. Jomer H. Aquino 2 2 100%

Ms. Violeta G. Aquino

Ms. Minerva M. Arcullo

2 2 100%

2 2 100%

Treasury Committee
As a manifestation of good stewardship of the 
members’ fund, the Board of Trustees are assisted 
by a body called the Treasury Committee whose 
responsibility is to review and give advice and 
recommendations for actions on financial matters, 
particularly on investment. Every investment 
offering received by the Association is scrutinized 
by the Treasury Committee to ensure that a good 
investment house is selected for the funds of the 

association to be in good hands. The Treasury 
Committee meets every third Monday of every two 
months.

Treasury
Committee 

Member

Total No. of

MEETINGS

Total No. of

Meetings 

ATTENDED

Percentage

RATINGS

Ms. Mary Jane A. Perreras 5 5 100%

Ms. Lorenza Dt. Banez

Ms. Janet D. Caneo

Ms. Marie Sharon D. Roxas

Ms. Jennifer O. Redublo

**Ms. Violeta G. Aquino

**Ms. Hean D. Rosales

*Ms. May S. Dawat

*Ms. Flodeliza C. Cristobal

*Ms. Remedios V. Gabriel

*Ms. Arpheejane A. Bahia

5

5

5

5

5 5

5 3

4 4

4 4

1 1

1 1

1 1

1 1

100%

100%

100%

60%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%
*term started on September 16, 2019
**term ended on September 6, 2019
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and his/her legal dependents. PDIC meets every 1st 
Friday of every other month. The chairperson is an 
independent consultant who has deep knowledge 
and expertise in the field of microinsurance and 
product development. 

PDI Committee 
Member

Total No. of

MEETINGS

Total No. of

Meetings 

ATTENDED

Percentage

RATINGS

Mr. Wilfredo M. Llanto 7 7 100%

Ms. May S. Dawat

*Ms. Violeta G. Aquino

*Ms. Minerva M. Arcullo

**Ms. Flodeliza C. Cristobal

**Ms. Ligaya P. Ramos

7 7 100%

6 6 100%

6 6 100%

1 1 100%

1 1 100%
*term started on September 16, 2019
**term ended on September 6, 2019

INDEPENDENT CHECKS AND BALANCES
As integrity and stewardship is among the core 
values adopted by CARD MBA, independent checks 
and balances through the help of the following 
functions are continuously carried out throughout 
the year.

External Auditor
Appointed by the Audit Committee, Sycip, Gorres, 
Velayo & Co. conducts the external audit of the 
Association. The engagement team was headed 
by Mr. Ray Francis C. Balagtas, and was paid Php1, 
403, 248.00 to audit the 2018 Financial Statements. 
The result of audit was presented and affirmed by 
the Board of Trustees during its meeting on April 
11, 2019. In 2019, no non-audit fees were paid to 
external auditor.

Internal Auditor
Internal Audit helps the Board of Trustees ensure 
that an effective internal control system is in 
place. It adds value on achieving the goals of the 
Association by independent evaluation and testing 
of the operation, compliance and risk management 
practices.  The Unit is headed by the Deputy Director 
for Audit – Ms. Jennifer P. Masa directly supervised 
by the Audit Committee.

Compliance
To ensure compliance of the Association to the 
required laws and regulations, more particularly of 
the Insurance Commission, a Compliance Officer 
was appointed by the Board. Aside from external 
regulatory requirements, the Compliance Unit 
also sees to it that the management applied the 
corrective actions recommended by the internal and 
external audit and of the Risk Oversight committee 
for continuous improvement of the operation.

CODE OF CONDUCT AND BUSINESS ETHICS
The Association institutionalizes the highest ethical 
standards through the strict implementation of 
the CARD MRI Code of Discipline that outlines the 
policies governing the activities of the institutions, 
its trustees, officers and employees. The Code 
specifies the fair treatment of employees and 
business partners.

Related Party Transactions
Created last August 23, 2018, the Related Party 
Transaction Committee warrants that transactions 
made by the Association follow the best interest 
of its members and stakeholders. There is an 
authorization level set for the proper approval, but 
nevertheless all are presented and approved to 
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the Board of Trustees and eventually ratified by the 
members during the Annual General Membership 
Meeting. Details of Related Party Transactions (RPTs) 
as provided in Note 22 of the Audited Financial 
Statement.

Transparency and Disclosures
Keeping the members and other stakeholders 
updated on the whereabouts and status of the 
Association is carried out by means of open 
communication through different channels such as:

Website (www.cardmba.com). The website contains 
monthly fnancial and non-fnancial updates such as 
Audited FS, Annual Reports and other advisories for 
easy access and immediate availability.

Newsletter. Members receive a newsletter every 
quarter. Dubbed as DAGLI, the quarterly newsletter 
which is distributed to members and posted inside 
CARD MRI offices, contains information relating 
to activities, achievements, and challenges of the 
association. It is also downloadable on the company 
website.

Media. The Association launched its Facebook 
account (www.facebook.com/cardmbaofficial) last 
2018 for everyday interaction with the members 
and other stakeholders. CARD MBA also tapped the 
traditional media to spread its advocacy through 
radio guesting and media conferences.

Members’ Hotline. On April 16, 2018, CARD MBA 
released the member’s hotline at the center level 
to ensure immediate response to queries and 
concerns. The Association also placed suggestion 
boxes in all CARD MRI offices to encourage members’ 
feedback.

Board Performance Evaluation
The performance assessment was conducted 

to further distinguish well and improve the 
Performance appraisal is an indispensable tool that 
helps the Association maintain its highest quality 
of work. Hence, every board meeting in November, 
the Board of Trustees conducts annual self-
performance, peer performance, and committee 
performance assessments. Using a rating scale 
questionnaire, the Trustees assessed themselves, 
their peers, and their respective committees. The 
assessment, conducted on November 5, 2019, 
included among others their (1) understanding of 
the Association’s mission and vision and their (2) 
commitment in achieving the best interest of the 
stakeholders. The Compliance Unit received the 
completed questionnaire to ensure confidentiality 
of the assessments.

STAKEHOLDER INTEREST
The Association is committed to protect the welfare 
and rights of its stakeholders by ensuring that 
quality service and programs are given to them and 
that every transaction with them is conducted in a 
transparent and fair manner.

Members’ Satisfaction
One of the ways for CARD MBA to improve its 
products and services are through its members’ 
feedback. Based on the result of the Feedback 
Gathering Tool (FGT), 81% of the members who 
responded said they are satisfied with the products, 
prices, benefits, and services of the Association.

Member’s Health and Safety
Community Health Days
Under the Community Development Group, 
the Microfinance and Health Protection (MaHP) 
Unit visits communities where members of the 
Association and their family members are present. 
They conduct Community Health Days wherein free 
medical and dental services can be availed. In 2019, 
MaHP has conducted 571 Community Health Days 
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with a total of 289, 360 members served.

Disaster Preparedness and First Aid Training
On February 16, 2019, through the cooperation of 
the Bureau of Fire, a Fire and Earthquake Drill with 
First Aid Training was conducted by the employees 
of the Association. This aims to orient and teach all 
the participants on how to be prepared in times of 
inevitable and sudden disaster or unfortunate event 
and for their own protection.

Supplier/Contractor Selection Criteria
On September 16, 2019, a review and selection of 
a competitive supplier for the firewall to be used 
by the Association was conducted. CARD MBA is 
implementing selection process procedures to all 
suppliers and contractors, who will be accredited 
by the Association, to ensure that a good quality of 
products and services with a competitive price is 
provided. Supplies and contractors’ financial stability, 
response time, service availability, cost benefit, 
compliance with the regulatory and reputation to 
the market is being considered as part of the due 
diligence criteria.

Environmentally-friendly Value Chain
CARD MBA supports the Republic Act 9003 also 
known as the “Ecological Solid Waste Management 
Act of 2000 by implementing proper segregation 
and disposal of solid wastes through the formation 
and adoption of the best environmental practices in 
ecological waste management.

As the issue of climate change continues to threaten 
our water resources, we implemented a policy that 
encourages all our offices to use water efficiently. All 
our employees are requested to save water when 
raining, to use a glass when brushing their teeth, 
and to use a basin when washing their clothes.

CARD MBA also supports reciprocal and mutual 
benefits among CARD MRI institutions. We have 
availed solar panels through CARD Leasing 
and Finance Corporation (CARD LFC) to ensure 
continuous Provincial Offices’ (POs) operations 
despite certain calamities, especially storms and 
typhoons. This endeavor is also in support of CARD 
Business Development Service Foundation Inc.’s 
(CARD-BDSFI) renewable energy initiatives.

Interaction with Communities
This year, CARD MBA joined the Insurance 
Commission on its Microinsurance Awareness 
campaigns in Batangas, Cavite, Navotas, and Laguna. 
This supported the Association’s push for financial 
inclusivity. Eight (8) additional scholarships were 
granted to support the “One Family, One Graduate” 
program of CARD.

Anti-Corruption Program/Whistle Blowing Policy
CARD MBA continuously implements its policies 
on anti-corruption programs such as Bantay-
Intergridad, Paid Mandatory Leave and Cluster 
Manager’s Audit Monitoring System (CMAMs). 
Bantay-Integridad program provides consciousness 
and commitment to every employee’s duty to report 
in good faith any instances of suspected or actual 
commission of fraud and any event that is contrary 
to the value of integrity of CARD. To further support 
this, CARD established a Grievance Committee to 
handle and serve as a formal venue to resolved 
employees’ issues on its work environment. Series 
of trainings was conducted to all the staff to educate 
them on the proceedings of documenting the issues 
and its resolutions.

Creditors’ Right
The Association has no credit obligation/s to any 
third party. However, the Association is committed to 
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meet its obligations to the members, suppliers and 
third party service providers by monthly monitoring 
the liquidity ratio and by matching of assets versus 
the liabilities to ensure enough liquidity to meet 
its obligations. And in accordance with the law, 
Association’s creditors, if any, are given priority 
in payment of obligations in the normal course of 
business and in the event of liquidation.

EMPLOYEES’ DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM
Annual Physical Examination (APE)
Annual Physical Examination/Executive Check Up 
is one of the health programs of the Association to 
its qualified employees to ensure that all are fit and 
in the best condition. Three hundred eighty-three 
(383) employees underwent APE/ Executive Check-
up in 2019. Also, all regular employees were given 
health cards and free dental allowances annually.

Training and Development
It is a policy that all staff are required to have at 
least 16 hours training every year to ensure that 
all are properly equipped and capacitated with the 
requirements of their respective duties.

LOCAL TRAININGS
Average

TRAINING

hours

Equivalent 

No. of 

DAYS

RANK

Staff 18 3

Manager 30 4

INTERNATIONAL 
TRAININGS

Average

TRAINING

hours

Equivalent 

No. of 

DAYS

RANK

Manager 46 6

Aside from the abovementioned training, three (3) 
employees were enrolled in short courses. They 
were: Mr. Oliver R. Reyes, Deputy Director for 
Operations and Ms. Arlene R. Umandap, Deputy 
Director for Claims and Technical Support who 
attained certification on Basic Strategic Management 
Program at Ateneo De Manila University and Ms. 
Janet D. Caneo, Director for Admin and Finance who 
is currently enrolled at Harvard University.

National Microinsurance Forum: Partnerships and Innovations

Ms. Violeta G. Aquino

Ms. Analie R. Marasigan

Ms. Hean D. Rosales

Ms. Flordeliza C. Cristobal

Ms. Rosalie R. Barandino

Ms. Fidela C. Gabatin

Ms. Minerva M. Arcullo

Ms. Audrey R. Cabebe

4th AOA Members' Study Group Visit to Singapore 

Ms. Analie R. Marasigan

Orientation on CARD MBA Compliance, Financial Ratios, 
Governance and Professional Image Course

Ms. Cristita S. Salao

Ms. Remedios V. Gabriel

Ms. Teresita G. Villanueva

Ms. Flordeliza C. Cristobal

Ms. Perla L. Munar

Ms. Elizabeth T. Francisco

Ms. Nora T. Porley

Trainings and Seminars Attended by the Board 
of Trustees
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AOA/ICMIF Microinsurance Seminar at Auckland New Zealand

Ms. Violeta G. Aquino Ms. Minerva M. Arcullo

Governance and AMLA Training

Ms. Cristita S. Salao

Ms. Remedios V. Gabriel

Ms. Teresita G. Villanueva

Ms. Perla L. Munar

Ms. Elizabeth T. Francisco

Ms. Nora T. Porley

Ms. Teresita Sasa

BOARD OF TRUSTEES PROFILE

Flordeliza C. Cristobal, 39 years old, Filipino, 
is a member of the Board of Trustees since 
September 9, 2018 and elected as BOT President 
and Chair on September 5, 2019. She is a member 
of the Related Party Transactions Committee, 
Product Development and Innovation Committee, 
Remuneration Committee and Treasury Committee. 
She is a Basic Computer graduate and currently 
resides in Dasmarinas, Cavite. She is into RTW 
business. Ms. Cristobal holds no directorship or any 
position in any listed company.
Ligaya P. Ramos, 64 years old, Filipino, is a member 
of the Board of Trustees since September 9, 2018 
and was elected BOT Vice President on September 5, 
2019. She is a member of the Product Development 
and Innovation Committee. She is a BS Commerce 
Major in Accounting graduate and currently resides 
in Danao City, Cebu. She is into the carinderia 
business. Ms. Ramos holds no directorship or any 
position in any listed company.

Cristita S. Salao, 49 years old; Filipino, is a member of 
the Board of Trustees since September 5, 2019 and 
was elected as BOT Secretary on the same date. She 
is a member of the Remuneration Committee and 
Audit Committee. She is a BS Medical Technology 
graduate and currently resides in Dasmariñas, 
Cavite. She is into a buy and sell business. Ms. Salao 
holds no directorship or any position in any listed 
company.

Remedios V. Gabriel, 59 years old, Filipino, is a 
member of the Board of Trustees since September 
5, 2019 and was elected as BOT Treasurer on the 
same date. She is a member of the Related Party 
Transactions Committee and Treasury Committee. 
She is a High School graduate and currently resides 
in Balete Batangas. She is into a food vending 
business. Ms. Gabriel holds no directorship or any 
position in any listed company.

Audrey R. Cabebe, 40 years old, Filipino, is a member 
of the Board of Trustees since September 9, 2018. 
She is a Beauty Care NCII Graduate and currently 
resides in Batac, Ilocos Norte. She is into piggery 
and farming. Ms. Cabebe holds no directorship or 
any position in any listed company.

Marabella D. Celoso, 35 years old, Filipino, is a 
member of the Board of Trustees since September 
9, 2018. She is a BS Commerce Major in Banking and 
Finance graduate and currently resides in Milagros, 
Masbate. She is into the crab marketing business. 
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Ms. Celoso holds no directorship or any position in 
any listed company.

Roselyn V. Bayron, 51 years old, Filipino, is a member 
of the Board of Trustees since September 9, 2018. 
She is a Food Service Management undergraduate 
and currently resides in Alabel, Sarangani. She is into 
tailoring business. Ms. Bayron holds no directorship 
or any position in any listed company.

Dorfe A. Pagunsan, 61 years old, Filipino, is a 
member of the Board of Trustees since September 
9, 2018. She is a BS Biology graduate and currently 
resides in Governor Generoso, Davao Oriental. She 
is into the Agri-farming business. Ms. Pagunsan 
holds no directorship or any position in any listed 
company.
Elizabeth A. Francisco, 49 years old, Filipino, is a 
member of the Board of Trustees since September 
5, 2019. She is a High School Graduate and currently 
resides in Villaverde, Nueva VIzcaya. She is into 
a direct selling business. Ms. Francisco holds no 
directorship or any position in any listed company.

Perla L. Munar, 47 years old, Filipino, is a member 
of the Board of Trustees since September 5, 2019. 
She is a member of the Audit Committee. She is a 
BS Biology undergraduate and currently resides in 
Floridablanca, Pampanga. She is into a buy and sell 
business. Ms. Munar holds no directorship or any 
position in any listed company.

Teresita G. Villanueva, 54 years old, Filipino, is a 
member of the Board of Trustees since September 
5, 2019. She is a High School graduate and currently 
resides in Baco, Oriental Mindoro. She is into a 
buy and sell business. Ms. Villanueva holds no 
directorship or any position in any listed company.

Nora T. Porley, 47 years old; Filipino, is a member 
of the Board of Trustees since September 5, 2019. 

She is a BS Midwifery undergraduate and currently 
resides in Torrijos, Marinduque. She is into a buy 
and sell business. Ms. Porley holds no directorship 
or any position in any listed company.

Atty. Jomer H. Aquino, 50 years old, Filipino, has 
been an Independent Trustee of CARD MBA Inc.’s 
Board of Trustees since January 2, 2015. He is the 
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and 
Risk Oversight Committee. He is a graduate of AB 
Philosophy (1989) and obtained his degree in Law 
in 1997. Atty. Aquino holds no directorship or any 
position in any listed company.

Arlette A. Umali, 70 years old, Filipino, has been 
an Independent Trustee of CARD MBA Inc.’s Board 
of Trustees since January 2, 2015. She is the 
Chairman of the Audit Committee and Nomination 
Committee and member of the Related Party 
Transactions Committee. She has a degree in BA in 
Public Administration (1971), and Master’s degree in 
Public Administration (1977), Development Banking 
(1982), and in Business Administration (2002). She 
currently resides in Marikina City. Ms. Umali holds no 
directorship or any position in any listed company.

Vida T. Chiong, 67 years old,  elected as Independent 
Trustee of CARD MBA on September 5, 2019. She 
is the Chairman of the Related Party Transactions 
Committee and member of Risk Oversight 
Committee and Audit Committee. She has a degree 
in Bachelor of Science in Mathematics (1970), has a 
Diploma in Mathematics (1973); Master of Science 
in Management (1990) and Doctor of Management 
Science.  She also held various positions in the 
Insurance Commission for the period 1981-1999. 
She currently resides in San Pedro, Laguna. Ms. 
Chiong holds no directorship or any position in any 
listed company.
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May S. Dawat
Chief Executive Officer

Janet D. Caneo
Director for Administration 

and Finance

Arlene R. Umandap
Deputy Director for Claims 

and Technical Support

Gina A. Nevado
Deputy Director 
for Operations

Ma. Joyce M. Alimagno
Deputy Director 
for Operations

Oliver M. Reyes
Deputy Director 
for Operations

Mauricio B. Maur
Deputy Director 
for Operations
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Rona R. Nava
Deputy Director 
for Operations

Francis R. Montilla
Deputy Director 
for Operations

Michael Kelvin N. Junos
In-house Actuary

Jennifer O. Redublo
Compliance Officer

Aileen C. Barrera
Claims Manager

Kathryn Joyce B. Manimtim
Finance Manager

Janicekith P. Navera
John Paulin P. Icaro
Edison R. Reyes

Erwin G. Venancio
Francis R. Montilla
Catherine M. Patay

CLUSTER MANAGERS

Catherine E. Pondevida
Carla Fe L. Liboon
Rosalie B. Martecion
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Ms. Flordeliza Cristobal
President

Ms. Ligaya Ramos
Vice President

Ms. Cristita Salao
Secretary

Ms. Marabella Celoso
Trustee

Ms. Audrey Cabebe
Trustee

Ms. Nora Porley
Trustee

Ms. Remedios Gabriel
Treasurer
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Ms. Roselyn Bayron
Trustee

Ms. Dorfe Pagunsan
Trustee

Ms. Perla Munar
Trustee

Ms. Teresita Sasa
Trustee

Ms. Elizabeth Francisco
Trustee

Ms. Arlette Umali
Independent Trustee

Ms. Vida Chiong
Independent Trustee

Atty. Jomer Aquino
Independent Trustee
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•	Laoag, Ilocos Norte
•	Candon, Ilocos Sur
•	Baguio City, Benguet
•	San Fernando La Union
•	Urdaneta City, Pangasinan
•	Lingayen, Pangasinan
•	Puerto Princesa, Palawan
•	Guiguinto, Bulacan
•	Cainta, Rizal Province
•	Victoria, Oriental Mindoro
•	Roxas, Oriental Mindoro
•	Sablayan, Occidental Mindoro
•	Matatalaib, Tarlac

•	Dinalupihan, Bataan
•	Tuguegarao, Cagayan Valley
•	Bayombong, Nueva Vizcaya
•	Cabanatuan, Nueva Ecija
•	Santiango, Isabela
•	San Fernando, Pampanga
•	Pasay City, Metro Manila
•	Quezon City, Metro Manila
•	Las Pinas, Metro Manila
•	Lemery, Batangas
•	Dasmarinas, Cavite
•	Lipa City, Batangas
•	Tanauan, Batangas
•	Sta.Cruz, Laguna

LUZON 

MAIN OFFICE
San Pablo City, Laguna

VISAYAS 

MINDANAO

•	Tacloban City, Leyte
•	Calbayog City, Western Samar
•	Borongan City, Eastern Samar
•	Maasin, Southern Leyte
•	Ormoc, City

•	Surigao Del Norte
•	Cagayan de Oro City
•	Panabo City
•	Butuan City, Agusan del Norte
•	Valencia City, Bukinon
•	Davao City, Davao Del Sur
•	Digos, Davao Del Sur
•	Mati, Davao Oriental
•	Tagum City, Davao del Norte
•	Isulan, Sultan Kudarat
•	General Santos, South Cotabato
•	San Francisco, Agusan del Sur
•	Tubod, Lanao Del Norte
•	Dipolog, Zamboanga del Norte
•	Ipil, Zamboanga Sibugay
•	San Jose Gusu, Zamboanga City
•	Kidapawan, North Cotabato

•	Calamba, Laguna
•	Gasan, Marinduque
•	Tagaytay, Cavite
•	Gumaca, Quezon
•	Lucena City, Quezon
•	Candelaria, Quezon
•	Calauag, Quezon
•	Daet, Camarines Norte
•	Naga City, Camarines Sur
•	Nabua, Camarines Sur
•	Goa, Camarines Sur
•	Legaspi City, Albay
•	Masbate City, Masbate
•	Dimasalang, Masbate

•	Guadalupe, Cebu City
•	Danao City, Cebu
•	Naga City, Cebu
•	Tagbilaran City, Bohol
•	Dumaguete, Negros Oriental
•	Bacolod, Negros Occidental

•	Kabankalan, Negros Occidental
•	Roxas City, Capiz
•	Culasi, Antique
•	Barotac Nuevo, Iloilo
•	Iloilo City, Iloilo
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•	BAGNOS MULTIPURPOSE COOPERATIVE
•	BUKIDNON INTEGRATED NETWORK OF HOME 	   	
   INDUSTRIES (BINHI), INC.
•	CAUNAYAN MULTIPURPOSE COOPERATIVE (MPC)
•	LOS ARCOS MULTIPURPOSE COOPERATIVE (LAMPCO)
•	MEDIA ONCE FARMERS MULTIPURPOSE COOPERATIVE
•	NANGALISAN MULTIPURPOSE COOPERATIVE
•	PADRE BURGOS MULTIPURPOSE COOPERATIVE
•	PROGRESSIVE WOMEN AGRARIAN REFORM 		    	
   COOPERATIVE
•	SAN JULIAN MULTIPURPOSE COOPERATIVE
•	LIBERCON MULTIPURPOSE COOPERATIVE

•	SIPSIPIN MULTIPURPOSE COOPERATIVE
•	TINABANGAY SA IGSOONG MAG-UUMA GASA NI SAN 	  	
   ISIDRO (TIMGAS) MULTIPURPOSE COOPERATIVE
•	USWAG DEVELOPMENT FOUNDATION
•	TINAGACAN AGRARIAN REFORM BENEFICIARIES 	   	
   COOPERATIVE (TARBC)
•	GRAINS MULTIPURPOSE COOPERATIVE
•	STO. NIÑO VISARES TRANSPORT SERVICES 		    	
   MULTIPURPOSE COOPERATIVE
•	UMIRAY AGRARIAN REFORM BENEFICIARIES 		    	
   MULTIPURPOSE COOPERATIVE (UMARBEMPCO)
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ENTER FOR AGRICULTURE AND RURAL DEVELOPMENT (CARD) 
MUTUAL BENEFIT ASSOCIATION, INC. 
(A Nonstock, Not-for-Profit Association) 
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
 
 
 
  December 31 
 2019 2018 

ASSETS   
Cash and Cash Equivalents (Notes 6 and 26) P=547,505,284 P=315,295,952 
Financial Assets (Note 26)   
Loans and receivables - net (Note 8) 1,315,512,698 1,028,653,464 
Held-to-maturity investments (Note 7)  15,558,075,386 12,689,868,405 
Available-for-sale financial assets (Note 9) 1,645,370,276 1,270,657,841 
Accrued Income (Notes 10) 220,407,218 149,918,199 
Property and Equipment - net (Note 11) 116,070,268 117,863,287 
Investment Properties (Note 12) 352,949,431 308,143,784 
Investments in Associates (Note 13) 946,624,769 769,350,788 
Pension Asset - net (Note 25) 43,261,782 35,194,710 
Other Assets (Note 14) 17,246,568 17,383,509 
 P=20,763,023,680 P=16,702,329,939 
   

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE   
Liabilities   
Insurance contract liabilities (Notes 16 and 26) P=9,306,435,713 P=7,783,398,077 
Retirement fund (Note 17) 5,990,697,711 4,839,250,994 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (Notes 15 and 26) 48,225,751 63,282,476 
  Total Liabilities 15,345,359,175 12,685,931,547 
Fund Balance   
Appropriated fund balance (Note 28) 529,629,710 224,304,944 
Unappropriated fund balance 4,394,749,858 3,559,667,260 
Other comprehensive income  493,284,937 232,426,188 
  Total Fund Balance 5,417,664,505 4,016,398,392 
 P=20,763,023,680 P=16,702,329,939 
   
See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.  
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ENTER FOR AGRICULTURE AND RURAL DEVELOPMENT (CARD) 
MUTUAL BENEFIT ASSOCIATION, INC. 
(A Nonstock, Not-for-Profit Association) 
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
 
 
 
  December 31 
 2019 2018 

ASSETS   
Cash and Cash Equivalents (Notes 6 and 26) P=547,505,284 P=315,295,952 
Financial Assets (Note 26)   
Loans and receivables - net (Note 8) 1,315,512,698 1,028,653,464 
Held-to-maturity investments (Note 7)  15,558,075,386 12,689,868,405 
Available-for-sale financial assets (Note 9) 1,645,370,276 1,270,657,841 
Accrued Income (Notes 10) 220,407,218 149,918,199 
Property and Equipment - net (Note 11) 116,070,268 117,863,287 
Investment Properties (Note 12) 352,949,431 308,143,784 
Investments in Associates (Note 13) 946,624,769 769,350,788 
Pension Asset - net (Note 25) 43,261,782 35,194,710 
Other Assets (Note 14) 17,246,568 17,383,509 
 P=20,763,023,680 P=16,702,329,939 
   

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE   
Liabilities   
Insurance contract liabilities (Notes 16 and 26) P=9,306,435,713 P=7,783,398,077 
Retirement fund (Note 17) 5,990,697,711 4,839,250,994 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (Notes 15 and 26) 48,225,751 63,282,476 
  Total Liabilities 15,345,359,175 12,685,931,547 
Fund Balance   
Appropriated fund balance (Note 28) 529,629,710 224,304,944 
Unappropriated fund balance 4,394,749,858 3,559,667,260 
Other comprehensive income  493,284,937 232,426,188 
  Total Fund Balance 5,417,664,505 4,016,398,392 
 P=20,763,023,680 P=16,702,329,939 
   
See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.  
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CENTER FOR AGRICULTURE AND RURAL DEVELOPMENT (CARD) 
MUTUAL BENEFIT ASSOCIATION, INC. 
(A Nonstock, Not-for-Profit Association) 
STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 
 
 
 Years Ended December 31 
 2019 2018 
REVENUE    
Members’ contribution and premiums – micro (Note 18) P=4,355,117,886 P=3,791,248,317 
Reinsurance’ share on gross earned premium on   

insurance contracts (Note 18) (3,031,225) (3,050,435) 
Net premiums on insurance contracts 4,352,086,661 3,788,197,882 
Investment income (Note 19) 562,152,537 481,744,982 
Equity in net earnings of associates (Note 13) 157,177,654 163,180,366 
Rental income (Notes 12 and 21) 16,235,175 14,563,949 
Reversal of impairment loss on property and equipment and 
 investment properties (Notes 11 and 12) 1,098,426 – 
Others (Note 17) 23,936,346 540,529 
Other revenue 760,600,138 660,029,826 
 5,112,686,799 4,448,227,708 

BENEFITS, CLAIMS AND EXPENSES   
Gross change in insurance contract liabilities (Note 16) 1,520,383,309 1,593,418,254 
Gross insurance contract benefits and claims paid  
 (Note 16) 1,719,455,970 1,356,984,623 
Insurance benefits and claims  3,239,839,279 2,950,402,877 
General and administrative expenses (Note 20) 600,736,357 529,748,899 
 3,840,575,636 3,480,151,776 

EXCESS OF REVENUE OVER EXPENSES BEFORE 
PROVISION FOR TAXES 1,272,111,163 968,075,932 

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX (Note 23) 75,770,402 69,361,386 

EXCESS OF REVENUE OVER EXPENSES 1,196,340,761 898,714,546 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME   
Item that will be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent 

periods   
Fair value gains on available-for-sale financial assets (Note 9)  255,690,405 179,119,820 

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent 
periods    
Remeasurement gains (losses) on defined benefit plan (Note 25) 6,268,786 (4,851,482) 
Equity in other comprehensive income (loss) of an associate 

(Note 13) (1,100,442) 466,167 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME P=1,457,199,510 P=1,073,449,051 
   
See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements. 
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CENTER FOR AGRICULTURE AND RURAL DEVELOPMENT (CARD) 
MUTUAL BENEFIT ASSOCIATION, INC. 
(A Nonstock, Not-for-Profit Association) 
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
 
 
 Years Ended December 31 
 2019 2018 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES   
Excess of revenue over expenses before provision for  
 current and final tax P=1,272,111,163 P=968,075,932 
Adjustments for:   

Increase in aggregate reserves (Note 16) 1,520,382,466 1,593,418,254 
Interest income (Notes 4, 5, 6 and 10) (388,674,929)  (355,141,061) 
Dividend income (Notes 9 and 10)  (169,885,744)  (124,249,320) 
Equity in net earnings of an associate - net (Note 13)  (157,177,654) (163,180,366) 
Depreciation (Notes 11, 12, and 21) 32,744,305  24,810,520 
Amortization of bond premium (discount) (Note 7) (10,398,377) 6,915,651 
Provision for impairment losses (Note 8) 3,596,596  6,200,507 
Interest income on pension asset (Note 24) (2,778,093) (2,354,601) 
Pension expense (Note 24) 2,748,654 2,964,267 
Reversal of impairment loss on property and equipment and 
 investment properties (Notes 11 and 12) (1,098,425) − 
Interest expense on lease liability 422,093  − 

Cash generated from operations before changes in working capital 2,101,992,055 1,957,459,783 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:   
 Decrease (increase) in:   
  Receivables (133,620,414) (34,179,599) 
  Short-term investments (156,835,416) (265,142,855) 
  Other current assets  159,801  (5,142,941) 
 Increase (decrease) in:   
  Retirement fund  1,151,446,717  996,162,632 
  Accounts payable and accrued expenses (15,443,418) (7,258,905) 

 Claims payable  2,655,170  51,450,053 
Net cash generated from operations 2,950,354,495 2,693,348,168 
Income taxes paid  (75,770,402)  (69,361,386) 
Utilization of appropriation (55,929,693)  (46,421,909) 
Contributions paid  (1,768,847)  (1,043,518) 
Net cash provided by operating activities 2,816,885,553 2,576,521,355 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES   
Interest received 318,185,910 319,260,149 
Cash dividends received 188,464,724 151,361,587 
Acquisitions of:   
     Held-to-maturity investments (Note 7) (3,098,694,594) (2,564,495,114) 
     Available-for-sale financial assets (Note 9 and 25) (119,031,630)  (394,994,693) 
     Long-term investments −  (261,784,549) 
     Investment properties (Note 12)  (64,029,102)  (1,239,837) 
     Investments in associates (Note 13)  (39,775,749)  (57,600,000) 
     Property and equipment (Note 11) (13,576,377)  (24,349,588) 

(Forward)   
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 Years Ended December 31 
 2019 2018 
Proceeds from sale/maturities of:    

Held-to-maturity investments (Note 7) P=240,885,990 P=261,078,367 
     Available-for-sale financial assets (Note 9 and 25) 9,600  45,270,000  
     Investment properties (Note 12) − 11,209,628 
Receipt of refund from the building contractor (Notes 11 and 12) 8,674,443 − 
Net cash flows used in investing activities (2,578,886,785) (2,516,284,050) 
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES   
Payment of lease liabilities (5,789,436) − 
Net cash used in financing activities (5,789,436) − 

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 232,209,332 60,237,305 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING  
 OF YEAR 315,295,952 255,058,647 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END  
 OF YEAR (Note 6) P=547,505,284 P=315,295,952 
See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements. 
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CENTER FOR AGRICULTURE AND RURAL DEVELOPMENT (CARD) 
MUTUAL BENEFIT ASSOCIATION, INC. 
(A Nonstock, Not-for-Profit Association) 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
 
 
1. Corporate Information 
 

Center for Agriculture and Rural Development (CARD) Mutual Benefit Association, Inc. (the 
Association) was registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) as a non-stock,  
not-for-profit association on October 29, 1999.  It was granted a license by the Insurance Commission 
(IC) on May 22, 2001 to engage as a mutual benefit association that extends benefits and services for 
the welfare and financial security of its members and their families in the form of death benefits, 
medical subsidy, pension and loan redemption assistance and ensuring continued access to benefits 
and resources.  The Association actively involves the members in the direct management of the 
Association including the implementation of policies and procedures geared towards sustainability 
and improved services. 

 
As a non-stock, not-for-profit and mutual benefit association, the Association was granted tax 
exemption with respect to income and value-added taxes (VAT) except for those activities which are 
conducted for profit and are not directly related to its main purpose as provided under the National 
Internal Revenue Code of 1997 as amended by Republic Act 8424 known as the Comprehensive Tax 
Reform Program by the Bureau of Internal Revenue (BIR). 

 
In June 2015, the Association obtained its registration from BIR as a VAT registered entity in relation 
to its rental income earned from investment properties.  This income is subjected to current income 
tax and VAT. 

 
The registered office address of the Association is 120 M. Paulino St., corner P. Burgos St., Brgy. 
VII-D, San Pablo City, Laguna. 

 
 
2. Basis of Preparation and Statement of Compliance 
 

Basis for Preparation 
The Association’s financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for 
available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets which have been measured at fair value.  The financial 
statements are presented in Philippine Peso (P=), which is the Association’s functional and 
presentation currency.  All amounts are rounded to the nearest peso, unless otherwise indicated. 

 
Statement of Compliance 
The financial statements of the Association have been prepared in compliance with Philippine 
Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS). 
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3. Changes in Accounting Policies 
 

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except for the 
following new and amended PFRS, Philippine Accounting Standards (PAS) and Philippine 
Interpretation which became effective beginning January 1, 2019.  Unless otherwise stated, the 
adoption of these new and amended standards did not have any significant impact on financial 
statements of the Association. 

 

 PFRS 16, Leases  
 

PFRS 16 supersedes Philippine Accounting Standards (PAS) 17, Leases, Philippine Interpretation 
IFRIC 4, Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease, Philippine Interpretation SIC-
15, Operating Leases–Incentives, and Philippine Interpretation SIC-27, Evaluating the Substance 
of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease.  PFRS 16 sets out the principles for the 
recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to recognize 
most leases on the statement of financial position. 
 
Association as lessor 
Lessor accounting under PFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from PAS 17.  The Association 
continues to classify leases as either operating or finance leases using similar principles as in PAS 
17.  Therefore, PFRS 16 did not have an impact on leases where the Association is the lessor. 
 
Association as lessee 
The Association adopted PFRS 16 using the modified retrospective method of adoption with the 
date of initial application of January 1, 2019.  Under this method, the Association applied PFRS 
16 retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially applying the standard recognized at the 
date of initial application.  The Association elected to use the transition practical expedient to no 
longer reassess whether a contract is, or contains, a lease at January 1, 2019.  Instead, the 
Association applied PFRS 16 only to contracts that were previously identified as leases applying 
PAS 17 and Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 4 at January 1, 2019 
 
The Association has entered into lease contracts for some of its branch office premises, vehicles, 
and IT equipment.  Before the adoption of PFRS 16, the Association classified each of its leases 
at the inception date as either a finance lease or an operating lease.  Upon adoption of PFRS 16, 
the Association applied a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases except for 
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. 
 
Refer to the significant accounting policies prior to and beginning January 1, 2019 
 
Leases previously accounted for as operating leases 
The Association recognized right-of-use (ROU) assets and lease liabilities for those leases 
previously classified as operating leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value 
assets.  The ROU assets were recognized based on the amount equal to the lease liabilities, 
adjusted for any related prepaid rent, excess of face and present value of related security deposits, 
and accrued lease payments previously recognized.  Lease liabilities were recognized based on 
the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the incremental borrowing 
rate at the date of initial application. 
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The Association also applied the available practical expedients wherein it: 
 used a single weighted discount rate quoted from various banking institutions for all leases 
 relied on its assessment of whether leases are onerous immediately before the date of initial 

application 
 applied the short-term leases exemptions to leases with lease term that ends within 12 

months of the date of initial application 
 excluded the initial direct costs from the measurement of the ROU asset at the date of initial 

application 
 used hindsight in determining the lease term where the contract contained options to extend 

or terminate the lease 
 
The effect of adoption PFRS 16 as at January 1, 2019 is, as follows: 

 
 Increase (decrease) 
Assets  

Property and equipment (Note 9) P=1,995,105 
Other assets (56,000) 

Liabilities  
Lease liabilities (under ‘Other liabilities’) 1,916,179 

 
As of January 1, 2019, the weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied by the 
Association to the lease liabilities is 7.12%.  The lease liabilities as at January 1, 2019 can be 
reconciled to the operating lease commitments as at December 31, 2018, as follows: 
 
Operating lease commitments as at December 31, 2018 P=12,112,075 
Leases of short-term and low-value assets commitments as at 

December 31, 2018 (10,091,305) 
Total gross lease payments as of January 1, 2019 2,020,770 
Incremental borrowing rate 7.12% 
Lease liabilities as at January 1, 2019 P=1,916,179 
 

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-23, Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 
 

The Interpretation addresses the accounting for income taxes when tax treatments involve 
uncertainty that affects the application of PAS 12, Income Taxes.  It does not apply to taxes or 
levies outside the scope of PAS 12, nor does it specifically include requirements relating to 
interest and penalties associated with uncertain tax treatments.  The Interpretation specifically 
addresses the following:  
 
 Whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments separately  
 The assumptions an entity makes about the examination of tax treatments by taxation 

authorities  
 How an entity determines taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax 

credits and tax rates  
 How an entity considers changes in facts and circumstances  

 
The entity is required to determine whether to consider each uncertain tax treatment separately or 
together with one or more other uncertain tax treatments and use the approach that better predicts 
the resolution of the uncertainty.  The entity shall assume that the taxation authority will examine 
amounts that it has a right to examine and have full knowledge of all related information when 
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making those examinations.  If an entity concludes that it is not probable that the taxation 
authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, it shall reflect the effect of the uncertainty for 
each uncertain tax treatment using the method the entity expects to better predict the resolution of 
the uncertainty.  
 
Upon adoption of the Interpretation, the Association has assessed whether it has any uncertain tax 
position.  The Association applies significant judgement in identifying uncertainties over its 
income tax treatments.  The Association determined, based on its tax compliance assessment, in 
consultation with its tax counsel, that it is probable that its uncertain income tax treatments will 
be accepted by the taxation authorities.  Accordingly, the interpretation did not have an impact on 
the consolidated financial statements of the Association. 

 
 Amendments to PAS 28, Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures  
 Amendments to PFRS 9, Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation 
 Amendments to PAS 19, Plan Amendment, Curtailment and Settlement 
 Annual Improvements to PFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle 

• Amendments to PFRS 3 and PFRS 11, Previously held interest in a joint operation 
• Amendments to PAS 12, Income tax consequences of payments on financial instruments 

classified as equity 
• Amendments to PAS 23, Borrowing costs eligible for capitalization 

 
Future Changes in Accounting Policies 
The Association has not applied the succeeding amended PFRS which are not yet effective for the 
year ended December 31, 2019.  Unless otherwise indicated, the succeeding amended PFRS will not 
significantly impact the financial statements: 

 
Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2020 
 Amendments to PFRS 3, Definition of a Business  
 Amendments to PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, and PAS 8, Accounting Policies, 

Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, Definition of Material 
 

Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2021 
 PFRS 17, Insurance Contracts 
 
PFRS 17 is a comprehensive new accounting standard for insurance contracts covering recognition 
and measurement, presentation and disclosure.  Once effective, PFRS 17 will replace PFRS 4, 
Insurance Contracts.  This new standard on insurance contracts applies to all types of insurance 
contracts (i.e., life, non-life, direct insurance and re-insurance), regardless of the type of entities that 
issue them, as well as to certain guarantees and financial instruments with discretionary participation 
features.  A few scope exceptions will apply.  

 
The overall objective of PFRS 17 is to provide an accounting model for insurance contracts that is 
more useful and consistent for insurers.  In contrast to the requirements in PFRS 4, which are largely 
based on grandfathering previous local accounting policies, PFRS 17 provides a comprehensive 
model for insurance contracts, covering all relevant accounting aspects.  The core of PFRS 17 is the 
general model, supplemented by:  

 
 A specific adaptation for contracts with direct participation features (the variable fee approach)  
 A simplified approach (the premium allocation approach) mainly for short-duration contracts  
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PFRS 17 is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2021, with comparative 
figures required.  Early application is permitted.  The Company is currently assessing the impact of 
adopting PFRS 17.  

On December 28, 2018, IC issued circular letter 2018-69 stating that it would further defer the 
implementation of PFRS 17  to January 1, 2023. On the same circular letter, IC instructed pre-need 
companies, health maintenance organizations and mutual benefit associations to maintain to comply 
with the current accounting standards until further required by IC to comply with PFRS 17.  
However, voluntary compliance is not precluded in implementing PFRS 17. 

 
Deferred effectivity 
 Amendments to PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements and PAS 28, Investment in 

Associates and Joint Ventures - Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its 
Associate or Joint Venture 

 
 
4. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Cash includes cash on hand and in banks.  Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments 
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with original maturities of three months or less 
from dates of placement and that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

 
Fair Value Measurement 
The Association measures financial instruments at fair value.  Also, fair values of financial 
instruments measured at amortized cost and non-financial assets and investment properties carried at 
cost are disclosed in Note 26.  

 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  The fair value measurement is 
based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place 
either: 
 In the principal market for the asset or liability, or 
 In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability 

 
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to the Association. 

 
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants 
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic 
best interest. 

 
A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to 
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another 
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

 
The Association uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which 
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs 
and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs. 
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All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are 
categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that 
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole: 

 
 Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
 Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 

measurement is directly or indirectly observable 
 Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 

measurement is unobservable 
 

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the 
Association determines whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by 
re-assessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period. 

 
Financial Instruments 
 
Qualifying for temporary exemption from PFRS 9  
The Association applied the temporary exemption from PFRS 9 as permitted by the amendments to 
PFRS 4, Applying PFRS 9 Financial Instruments with PFRS 4 Insurance Contracts issued in 
September 2016.  The temporary exemption permits entities whose activities are predominantly 
connected with insurance to continue applying PAS 39 rather than PFRS 9 for annual periods 
beginning before January 1, 2022. 
 
The assessment for whether a reporting entity’s activities are predominantly connected with insurance 
is based on the liabilities connected with insurance in proportion to the entity’s total liabilities.  An 
entity may elect the temporary exemption if, and only if:  
o The carrying amount of its liabilities arising from contracts within the scope of PFRS 4 is 

significant compared to the total carrying amount of all its liabilities; and  
o The percentage of the total carrying amount of its liabilities connected with insurance relative to 

the total carrying amount of all of its liabilities is:  
i. Greater than 90 percent; or  

ii. Less than or equal to 90 percent but greater than 80 percent, and the insurer does not 
engage in a significant activity unconnected with insurance. 

 
The predominance assessment is performed using the carrying amounts of liabilities reported on the 
statement of financial position at the annual reporting date December 31, 2015 and before  
December 31, 2018.  Applying the requirements, the Association performed the predominance 
assessment using the Association’s statement of financial position as of December 31, 2015. 
 
The Association concluded that it qualified for the temporary exemption from PFRS 9 because its 
activities are predominantly connected with insurance.  As at December 31, 2015, the Association’s 
gross liabilities arising from contracts within the scope of PFRS 4 represented 94% of the total 
carrying amount of all its liabilities, and the Association did not engage into any significant activities 
not connected with insurance.  Since December 31, 2015, there has been no change in the activities of 
the Association that requires reassessment of the use of the temporary exemption. 

 
Date of recognition 
Financial instruments are recognized in the statement of assets, liabilities and fund balance when the 
Association becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  Purchases or sales of 
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financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or 
convention in the marketplace are recognized on the trade date. 

 
 

Initial recognition of financial instruments 
Financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value of the consideration given (in case of an 
asset) or received (in case of a liability).  Except for financial instruments at FVPL, the initial 
measurement of financial assets includes transaction costs.  The Association classifies its financial 
assets in the following categories: held-to-maturity (HTM) investments, AFS investments, FVPL 
investments, and loans and receivables.  The Association classifies its financial liabilities into 
financial liabilities at FVPL and other financial liabilities.  The classification depends on the purpose 
for which the investments were acquired and whether they are quoted in an active market.  
Management determines the classification of its investments at initial recognition and, where allowed 
and appropriate, re-evaluates such designation at every end of the reporting period. 

 
Day 1 profit  
Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different to the fair value from other observable 
current market transactions in the same instrument or based on a valuation technique whose variables 
include only data from observable market, the Association recognizes the difference between the 
transaction price and fair value (a Day 1 profit) in the statement of comprehensive income.  In cases 
where use is made of data which is not observable, the difference between the transaction price and 
model value is only recognized in the statement of comprehensive income when the inputs become 
observable or when the instrument is derecognized.  For each transaction, the Association determines 
the appropriate method of recognizing the Day 1 profit amount. 

 
Loan and receivables 
Receivables include non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market and for which the Association has no intention of trading.  Receivables are 
carried at amortized cost using the effective interest rate (EIR) method, reduced by allowance for 
impairment losses.  Gains and losses are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income when 
the receivables are derecognized or impaired based on comparison with fair value. 

 
Short-term Investments 
Short-term investments are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash with original maturities of more than three months but less than one year 
from dates of placement.  These earn interests at the respective short-term investment rates. 
 
Long-term Investments 
Long-term investments are non-current assets that are not used in operating activities to generate 
revenues.  In other words, long-term investments are assets that are held for more than one year or 
accounting period and are used to create other income outside of the normal operations of the 
Association. 

 
  

44 CARD MBA ANNUAL REPORT 2019



- 7 - 
 
 

*SGVFSM003201* 

financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or 
convention in the marketplace are recognized on the trade date. 

 
 

Initial recognition of financial instruments 
Financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value of the consideration given (in case of an 
asset) or received (in case of a liability).  Except for financial instruments at FVPL, the initial 
measurement of financial assets includes transaction costs.  The Association classifies its financial 
assets in the following categories: held-to-maturity (HTM) investments, AFS investments, FVPL 
investments, and loans and receivables.  The Association classifies its financial liabilities into 
financial liabilities at FVPL and other financial liabilities.  The classification depends on the purpose 
for which the investments were acquired and whether they are quoted in an active market.  
Management determines the classification of its investments at initial recognition and, where allowed 
and appropriate, re-evaluates such designation at every end of the reporting period. 

 
Day 1 profit  
Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different to the fair value from other observable 
current market transactions in the same instrument or based on a valuation technique whose variables 
include only data from observable market, the Association recognizes the difference between the 
transaction price and fair value (a Day 1 profit) in the statement of comprehensive income.  In cases 
where use is made of data which is not observable, the difference between the transaction price and 
model value is only recognized in the statement of comprehensive income when the inputs become 
observable or when the instrument is derecognized.  For each transaction, the Association determines 
the appropriate method of recognizing the Day 1 profit amount. 

 
Loan and receivables 
Receivables include non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market and for which the Association has no intention of trading.  Receivables are 
carried at amortized cost using the effective interest rate (EIR) method, reduced by allowance for 
impairment losses.  Gains and losses are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income when 
the receivables are derecognized or impaired based on comparison with fair value. 

 
Short-term Investments 
Short-term investments are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash with original maturities of more than three months but less than one year 
from dates of placement.  These earn interests at the respective short-term investment rates. 
 
Long-term Investments 
Long-term investments are non-current assets that are not used in operating activities to generate 
revenues.  In other words, long-term investments are assets that are held for more than one year or 
accounting period and are used to create other income outside of the normal operations of the 
Association. 
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Financial assets or financial liabilities are classified in this category are designated by management on 
initial recognition when any of the following criteria are met: 

 
 the designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that would otherwise 

arise from measuring the assets or liabilities or recognizing gains or losses on a different basis; or 
 the assets and liabilities are part of a group of financial assets, financial liabilities or both which 

are managed and their performance are evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a 
documented risk management or investment strategy; or 

 the financial instrument contains an embedded derivative, unless the embedded derivative does 
not significantly modify the cash flows or it is clear, with little or no analysis, that it would not be 
separately recorded. 

 
AFS financial assets 
AFS financial assets are those investments which are designated as such or do not qualify to be 
classified as designated as at FVPL, HTM investments or loans and receivables.  They are purchased 
and held indefinitely, and may be sold in response to liquidity requirements or changes in market 
conditions. 

 
These investments are initially recorded at cost, being the fair value of the consideration paid for the 
acquisition of the investment, including all transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition.  
After initial recognition, AFS financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value.  Interest earned 
on holding AFS financial assets are reported as interest income using the EIR.  The unrealized gains 
and losses arising from the fair valuation of AFS financial assets are excluded from reported earnings 
and are reported as “Reserve for fluctuation in value of AFS financial assets” (net of tax, where 
applicable) in the other comprehensive income in the fund balance section of the Association’s 
statement of financial position.  When the security is disposed of, the cumulative gains or losses 
previously recognized in equity is recognized in the Association’s statement of comprehensive 
income. 

 
When the fair value of AFS financial assets cannot be measured reliably because of lack of reliable 
estimates of future cash flows and discount rates necessary to calculate the fair value of unquoted 
equity instruments, these investments are carried at cost, less any allowance for impairment losses.  
Dividends earned on holding AFS financial assets are recognized in the Association’s statement of 
comprehensive income when the right of payment has been established. 

 
The losses arising from impairment of such investments are recognized as “Provision for impairment 
losses” included under “Operating expenses” in the Association’s statement of comprehensive 
income. 
 
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, AFS financial assets include investments in mutual fund, 
investments in unquoted securities and units in trust fund.  Investments in mutual funds and in unit in 
trust fund are initially recorded at fair value and revalued at year end in reference to published net 
asset value.  The investments in unquoted securities are initially recorded at cost, being the fair value 
of the investment at the time of acquisition.  The investments in mutual funds are carried at fair value 
(Note 26). 

 
HTM investments 
HTM investments are non-derivative financial assets that comprise fixed or determinable income 
securities of which the Association has the positive intension and ability to hold until maturity.  
Investments intended to be held for an undefined period are not included in this classification.  These 
investments are initially recognized at cost, being the fair value of the consideration paid for the 
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acquisition of the investment.  All transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition are also 
included in the cost of the investment.  Subsequent to initial recognition, these investments are carried 
at amortized cost, using the EIR method.  The cost is computed as the amount initially recognized 
minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortization using the EIR method of any 
difference between the initially recognized amount and the maturity amount.  This calculation 
includes all fees and points paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of 
the EIR, transaction costs and all other premiums and discounts.  Gains and losses are recognized in 
the statement of comprehensive income when the investments are derecognized or impaired, as well 
as through the amortization process.  These investments represent debt securities where the 
Association has the positive intent and financial capability to hold to maturity. 

 
Other financial liabilities 
Issued financial instruments or their components, which are not designated at FVPL are classified as 
other financial liabilities where the substance of the contractual arrangement results in the 
Association having an obligation either to deliver cash or another financial asset to the holder, or to 
satisfy the obligation other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset 
for a fixed number of own equity shares.  The components of issued financial instruments that contain 
both liability and equity elements are accounted for separately, with the equity component being 
assigned the residual amount after deducting from the instrument as a whole the amount separately 
determined as the fair value of the liability component on the date of issue.  After initial 
measurement, other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the EIR 
method.  Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on the issue 
and fees that are an integral part of the EIR. 

 
This accounting policy applies primarily to the Association’s “Accounts payable and accrued 
expenses”, and other obligations that meet the above definition (other than liabilities covered by other 
accounting standards, such as income tax payable and pension liability). 

 
Offsetting 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of 
financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to set off the recognized amounts and 
there is intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  
The Association assesses that it has a currently enforceable right of offset if the right is not contingent 
on a future event, and is legally enforceable in the normal course of business, event of default, and 
event of insolvency or bankruptcy of the Association and all of the counterparties. 

Impairment of Financial Assets 
An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is objective evidence that a specific 
financial asset may be impaired.  If such evidence exists, any impairment loss is recognized in the 
statement of comprehensive income. 

 
Assets carried at amortized cost 
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets carried at amortized cost has 
been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have 
not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original EIR (i.e., the EIR computed at initial 
recognition).  The carrying amount of the asset shall be reduced through use of an allowance account.  
The amount of the loss shall be recognized in the statement of comprehensive income. 

 
The Association first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for 
financial assets that are individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets 
that are not individually significant.  If it is determined that no objective evidence of impairment 
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exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, the asset is included in a 
group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and that group of financial assets is 
collectively assessed for impairment.  Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for 
which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognized are not included in a collective assessment 
of impairment. 

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be 
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously 
recognized impairment loss is reversed.  Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognized 
in the statement of comprehensive income, to the extent that the carrying value of the asset does not 
exceed its amortized cost at the reversal date. 

 
AFS financial assets 
If an AFS financial asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its cost (net of 
any principal payment and amortization) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss 
previously recognized in the statement of comprehensive income, is transferred from equity to the 
statement of comprehensive income.  Reversals in respect of equity instruments classified as AFS 
financial assets are not recognized in the statement of comprehensive income.  Reversals of 
impairment losses on debt instruments are reversed through the statement of comprehensive income if 
the increase in fair value of the instrument can be objectively related to an event occurring after the 
impairment loss was recognized in the statement of comprehensive income. 

Derecognition of Financial Assets and Liabilities 
Financial assets 
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial 
assets) is derecognized when: 

 
 the right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired; 
 the Association retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an 

obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass through’ 
arrangement; or 

 the Association has transferred its right to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has 
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor 
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the 
asset. 

 
Where the Association has transferred its right to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither 
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of 
the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent of the Association’s continuing involvement in the 
asset.  Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is 
measured at the lower of the carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration 
that the Association could be required to repay. 

 
Financial liabilities 
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or 
has expired.  Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an 
exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a 
new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the Association’s 
statement of comprehensive income. 
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Investments in Associates 
Investments in associates, are accounted for under the equity method of accounting.  An associate is 
an entity in which the Association has significant influence and which is neither a subsidiary nor a 
joint venture.  Under the equity method, the investment in associate is carried in the statement of 
financial position at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the Association’s share in the net assets of 
the investee.  The statement of comprehensive income reflects the Association’s share of the results 
of the operations of the investee.  Unrealized gains arising from inter Association transactions are 
eliminated to the extent of the Association’s interest therein.  Unrealized losses are eliminated 
similarly but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment of the asset transferred.  
Dividends received are treated as a reduction in the carrying value of the investment. 

 
Property and Equipment 
The Association’s property and equipment consist of land, building, equipment and right-of-use 
assets that do not qualify as investment properties. 
 
Property and equipment, except for land, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
impairment in value.  Land is carried at cost less any impairment in value.  The initial cost of property 
and equipment comprises its purchase price, including taxes and directly attributable cost to bring the 
asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.  Expenditures incurred after the fixed 
assets have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance are normally charged to income 
in the period in which the costs are incurred.  In situations where it can be clearly demonstrated that 
the expenditures have resulted in an increase in the future economic benefits expected to be obtained 
from the use of an item of property and equipment beyond its originally assessed standard of 
performance, the expenditures are capitalized as an additional cost of property and equipment. 
 
Effective January 1, 2019, it is the Association’s policy to classify right-of-use assets as part of 
property and equipment.  Prior to that date, all of the Association’s leases are accounted for as 
operating leases in accordance with PAS 17, hence, not recorded on the statement of financial 
position.  The Association recognizes right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., 
the date the underlying asset is available for use).  Right-of-use assets are initially measured at cost, 
less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of 
lease liabilities.  The initial cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities 
recognized, initial direct costs incurred, lease payments made at or before the commencement date 
less any lease incentives received and estimate of costs to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and 
removing the underlying asset, restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying 
asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred 
to produce inventories.  
 
Unless the Association is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the leased asset at the end of the 
lease term, the recognized right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter 
of their estimated useful life and lease term.  Right-of-use assets are subject to impairment. 
 
Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives (EUL) of the 
assets as follows: 

 Years 
Building 10-15 
Land improvement 10 
Transportation equipment 5 
Computer and office equipment 3 
Office furniture and fixtures 3 
Right-of-use assets 1.5-2.5 
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Fully depreciated assets are retained in the accounts until they are no longer in use and no further 
charge for depreciation is made with respect to these assets. 

 
The useful life and the depreciation method are reviewed periodically to ensure that the period and 
the method of depreciation are consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits from items 
of property and equipment. 

 
The carrying values of the property and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or 
changes in circumstances indicate the carrying values may not be recoverable.  If any such indication 
exists and where the carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable amounts, an impairment loss is 
recognized in the statement of profit or loss. 
 
Investment Properties 
Investment properties comprise of land and building that are held to earn rentals or capital 
appreciation or both and that are not occupied by the Association. 

 
Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.  Subsequent to initial 
recognition, investment property is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization and 
any impairment in value.  Depreciation and amortization of investment properties are computed using 
the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives (EUL) of assets as follows: 

 
 In Years 
Building 10-15 

 
Construction in-progress is carried at cost and transferred to the related investment property account 
when the construction and related activities to prepare the property for its intended use are complete, 
and the property is ready for occupancy. 

 
The EUL and depreciation and amortization method are reviewed periodically to ensure that the 
period and method of depreciation and amortization are consistent with the expected pattern of 
economic benefits from items of investment properties. 

 
Investment properties are derecognized when they have either been disposed of or when the 
investment properties are permanently withdrawn from use and no future benefit is expected from its 
disposal.  Any gain or loss on the retirement or disposal of an investment property is recognized in 
profit or loss in which it arises. 

 
Expenditures incurred after the investment properties have been put into operations, such as repairs 
and maintenance costs, are normally charged to operations in the period in which the costs are 
incurred. 
Transfers are made to investment properties when, and only when, there is a change in use, evidenced 
by the end of owner occupation or commencement of an operating lease to another party.  Transfers 
are made from investment properties when, and only when, there is a change in use, as evidenced by 
commencement or owner occupation or commencement of development with a view to sale.  

 
Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets 
The Association assesses at each end of the reporting period whether there is an indication that 
property and equipment may be impaired.  If any such indication exists, or when annual impairment 
testing for an asset is required, the Association makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount.  
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less 
costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not 
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generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets.  
Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered 
impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.  In assessing value in use, the estimated 
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.  

 
An assessment is made at each end of the reporting period as to whether there is any indication that 
previously recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.  If such 
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.  A previously recognized impairment loss is 
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable 
amount since the last impairment loss was recognized.  If that is the case, the carrying amount of the 
asset is increased to its recoverable amount.  That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been 
recognized for the asset in prior years.  Such reversal is recognized in statement of comprehensive 
income unless the asset is carried at revalued amount, in which case, the reversal is treated as a 
revaluation increase.  After such reversal the depreciation charge is adjusted in future periods to 
allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its 
remaining useful life. 

 
Fund Balance 
Fund balance represents accumulated excess of revenue over expenses. 

 
Revenue Recognition 
Revenue from contracts with customers is recognized upon transfer of services to the customer at an 
amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for 
those services. 
 
Revenues within the scope of PFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
Revenue from contracts with customers is recognized upon transfer of services to the customer at an 
amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for 
those goods or services.   
 
The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized within the 
scope of PFRS 15: 

 
Surrender charge 
Surrender charge pertains to the fee imposed by the Association for the cancellation of the member’s 
policy.  This is intended for the administration costs incurred by the Association.  Surrender charge is 
recognized when earned.  In 2019, the Association discontinued charging surrender charge upon 
membership cancellation. 
 
Other income 
Income from other sources is recognized when earned. 

 
Revenues outside the scope of PFRS 15 
 
Members’ Contribution and Premiums 
Contributions and premiums are recognized when collected.  When contributions and premiums are 
recognized, actuarial liabilities are computed, with the result that benefits and expenses are matched 
with such revenue.  The Association collects its contributions and premiums through the following 
affiliates that are considered as collecting institutions: (a) CARD Bank, Inc., (b) CARD, Inc., (c) 
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CARD SME Bank, Inc., (d) CARD MRI Rizal Bank, Inc. (e) CARD Leasing and Finance Corp., and 
(f) CARD Employee Multi-Purpose Cooperative and all BOAT partners. 
 
Interest income 
Interest on interest-bearing placements and securities are recognized based on the accrual accounting 
using the EIR. 

 
Rental income 
Rental income is the income generated from the investment properties of the Association and 
recognized when earned. 

 
Insurance Contract Liabilities 
Life insurance contract liabilities 
Life insurance contract liabilities are recognized when the contracts are entered into and the 
premiums are recognized.  The reserve for life insurance contracts is calculated in compliance with 
the statutory requirements as set by the IC where the assumptions used are based on 50.00% of gross 
premiums of the Association for the year. 

 
Golden life contract liabilities 
Golden life insurance contract liabilities are recognized when the contracts are entered into and the 
premiums are recognized.  The reserve for golden life insurance contracts is calculated on the basis of 
a prudent prospective actuarial valuation method wherein the assumptions used are the 1980 
Commissioners Standard Ordinary (CSO) Male - Age Nearest Birth Table for mortality and 4.00% as 
discount rate per annum.  Both assumptions are duly approved by IC.  

 
Golden Life Insurance Program (GLIP) 
Golden Life Insurance Program (GLIP) contract liabilities are recognized when contracts are entered 
into and the premiums are recognized.  The policy reserves for Golden Life is calculated using the 
Net Premium Valuation (NPV) Method.  It is calculated as the expected present value of future 
benefits less the expected value of the future premiums arising from the policy.  The assumptions 
used are discount rate and mortality rate which are based on the pricing assumptions as indicated in 
the Actuarial Notes.  The discount rate is at 3.75% per annum and 100.00% of 1980 Commissioner’s 
Standard Ordinary (CSO) Male – Age Nearest Birthday for the mortality rate. 

 
Basic Life Insurance Program (BLIP) Extension Plan  
Basic Life Insurance Program (BLIP) Extension Plan contract liabilities are recognized when the 
contracts are entered into and the premiums are recognized.  The reserves for BLIP Extension Plan is 
calculated using the Net Premium Valuation (NPV) Method.  It is calculated as the expected present 
value of future benefits less the expected value of the future premiums arising from the policy.  The 
assumptions used are discount rate and mortality rate which are based on the pricing assumptions as 
indicated in the Actuarial Notes.  The discount rate is at 3.50% per annum and the mortality rate used 
is 100.00% of the Philippine Intercompany Mortality Table.  These assumptions are duly approved by 
the Insurance Commission. 

 
Katuparan Plan  
Katuparan Plan contract liabilities are recognized when the contracts are entered into and the 
premiums are recognized.  The reserve for the Katuparan Plan is calculated as 50% of the gross 
premium collection for the year 2019. 
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Remitter Protek Plan  
Remitter Protek Plan contract liabilities are recognized when the contracts are entered into and the 
premiums are recognized.  The reserve for Remitter Protek Plan is computed using the unearned net 
premiums reserves method. 

 
Loan redemption contract liabilities  
Loan redemption contract liabilities are recognized when the contracts are entered into and the 
premiums are recognized.  The reserve for loan redemption is computed using the unearned net 
premium reserves method. 

 
Liability adequacy test 
Liability adequacy tests are performed annually to ensure the adequacy of the insurance contract 
liabilities.  In performing these tests, current best estimates of future contractual cash flows, claims 
handling and policy administration expenses are used.  Any deficiency is immediately charged 
against the statement of comprehensive income initially by establishing a provision for losses arising 
from the liability adequacy tests. 

 
Claim Costs 
Liabilities for unpaid claim costs and loss adjustment expenses relating to insurance contracts are 
accrued when insured events occur.  The liabilities for unpaid claims, including those for incurred but 
not reported losses, are measured using the chain ladder method, based on a reasonable estimate of 
ultimate claim amounts.  The method of determining such estimates and establishing reserves are 
continually reviewed and updated.  Changes in estimates of claim costs resulting from the continuous 
review process and differences between estimates and payments for claims are recognized as income 
or expense in the period when the estimates are changed or payments are made. 

 
Expense Recognition 
Expenses are decreases in economic benefits during the accounting period in the form of outflows or 
decrease of assets or incurrence of liabilities that result in decrease in equity, other than those relating 
to distributions to equity participants. 

 
Benefits and claims 
Life insurance claims reflect the cost of all claims arising during the year, including claims handling 
costs.  Death claims and surrenders are recorded on the basis of notifications received.  Maturities and 
annuity payments are recorded when due.  Benefits recorded are then accrued as liabilities. 

 
Claims handling costs include internal and external costs incurred in connection with the negotiation 
and settlement of claims.  Internal costs include all direct expenses of the claims department and any 
part of the general and administrative expenses directly attributable to the claims function. 

 
General and administrative expenses 
Expenses consist of costs of administering the business.  These are recognized as expenses as 
incurred. 
 
Defined benefit plan 
The net defined benefit liability or asset is the aggregate of the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation at the end of the reporting period reduced by the fair value of plan assets (if any), adjusted 
for any effect of limiting a net defined benefit asset to the asset ceiling.  The asset ceiling is the 
present value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in 
future contributions to the plan. 
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Remitter Protek Plan  
Remitter Protek Plan contract liabilities are recognized when the contracts are entered into and the 
premiums are recognized.  The reserve for Remitter Protek Plan is computed using the unearned net 
premiums reserves method. 

 
Loan redemption contract liabilities  
Loan redemption contract liabilities are recognized when the contracts are entered into and the 
premiums are recognized.  The reserve for loan redemption is computed using the unearned net 
premium reserves method. 

 
Liability adequacy test 
Liability adequacy tests are performed annually to ensure the adequacy of the insurance contract 
liabilities.  In performing these tests, current best estimates of future contractual cash flows, claims 
handling and policy administration expenses are used.  Any deficiency is immediately charged 
against the statement of comprehensive income initially by establishing a provision for losses arising 
from the liability adequacy tests. 

 
Claim Costs 
Liabilities for unpaid claim costs and loss adjustment expenses relating to insurance contracts are 
accrued when insured events occur.  The liabilities for unpaid claims, including those for incurred but 
not reported losses, are measured using the chain ladder method, based on a reasonable estimate of 
ultimate claim amounts.  The method of determining such estimates and establishing reserves are 
continually reviewed and updated.  Changes in estimates of claim costs resulting from the continuous 
review process and differences between estimates and payments for claims are recognized as income 
or expense in the period when the estimates are changed or payments are made. 

 
Expense Recognition 
Expenses are decreases in economic benefits during the accounting period in the form of outflows or 
decrease of assets or incurrence of liabilities that result in decrease in equity, other than those relating 
to distributions to equity participants. 

 
Benefits and claims 
Life insurance claims reflect the cost of all claims arising during the year, including claims handling 
costs.  Death claims and surrenders are recorded on the basis of notifications received.  Maturities and 
annuity payments are recorded when due.  Benefits recorded are then accrued as liabilities. 

 
Claims handling costs include internal and external costs incurred in connection with the negotiation 
and settlement of claims.  Internal costs include all direct expenses of the claims department and any 
part of the general and administrative expenses directly attributable to the claims function. 

 
General and administrative expenses 
Expenses consist of costs of administering the business.  These are recognized as expenses as 
incurred. 
 
Defined benefit plan 
The net defined benefit liability or asset is the aggregate of the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation at the end of the reporting period reduced by the fair value of plan assets (if any), adjusted 
for any effect of limiting a net defined benefit asset to the asset ceiling.  The asset ceiling is the 
present value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in 
future contributions to the plan. 
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The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plans is actuarially determined using the 
projected unit credit method. 

 
Defined benefit costs comprise the following: 
 Service cost 
 Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset 
 Remeasurements of net defined benefit liability or asset 

 
Service costs which include current service cost, past service cost and gains or losses on non-routine 
settlements are recognized as expense in profit or loss.  Past service costs are recognized when plan 
amendment or curtailment occurs.  These amounts are calculated periodically by independent 
qualified actuaries. 

 
Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset is the change during the period in the net 
defined benefit liability or asset that arises from the passage of time which is determined by applying 
the discount rate based on government bonds to the net defined benefit liability or asset.  Net interest 
on the net defined benefit liability or asset is recognized as expense or income in the statement of 
comprehensive income. 

 
Remeasurements comprising actuarial gains and losses, return on plan assets and any change in the 
effect of the asset ceiling (excluding net interest on defined benefit liability) are recognized 
immediately in other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.  Remeasurements are 
not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods. 

 
Plan assets are assets that are held by a long-term employee benefit fund.  Plan assets are not 
available to the creditors of the Group, nor can they be paid directly to the Association.  Fair value of 
plan assets is based on market price information.  When no market price is available, the fair value of 
plan assets is estimated by discounting expected future cash flows using a discount rate that reflects 
both the risk associated with the plan assets and the maturity or expected disposal date of those assets 
(or, if they have no maturity, the expected period until the settlement of the related obligations).  If 
the fair value of the plan assets is higher than the present value of the defined benefit obligation, the 
measurement of the resulting defined benefit asset is limited to the present value of economic benefits 
available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan. 

 
Leases 
 
Policies applicable effective January 1, 2019 
The Association determines at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease by 
assessing whether the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period 
of time in exchange for consideration. 
 
The Association as a lessee 
The Association applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for 
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets.  The Association recognizes right-of-use assets 
representing the right to use the underlying assets and lease liabilities to make lease payments 

 Right-of-use assets 
At the commencement date of the lease (i.e, the date the underlying asset is available for use), the 
Association recognizes right-of-use assets measured at cost.  The cost of right-of-use assets includes 
the amount of lease liabilities recognized, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or 
before the commencement date less any lease incentives received.  Subsequent to initial recognition, 
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the Association measures the right-of-use assets at cost less any accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. 

The Association presents the right-of-use assets in ‘Property and equipment’ and subjects it to 
impairment in line with the Association’s policy on impairment of nonfinancial assets. 

 
 Lease liabilities 

At the commencement date of the lease, the Association recognizes lease liabilities measured at 
the present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term discounted using the 
Association’s incremental borrowing rate with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an 
asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.  The lease 
payments include fixed payments, any variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, 
and any amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees.  The lease payments also 
include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the 
Association and payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects 
exercising the option to terminate.  Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a 
rate are recognized as expenses in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the 
payment occurs. 

After the commencement date of the lease, the Association measures the lease liabilities by 
increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liabilities (recorded in ‘Interest 
expense on bills payable and other borrowings’), reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease 
payments made, and remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or lease 
modifications, or to reflect revised in-substance fixed lease payments. 

 Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 
The Association applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its leases that have a lease term 
of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option, and the 
leases of low-value assets recognition exemption to its leases of office spaces and other equipment 
that are considered of low value (i.e., below P=250,000).  Lease payments on short-term leases and 
leases of low-value assets are recognized as expense under ‘Occupancy and equipment-related 
costs’ on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

 
The Association as a lessor 
In operating leases where the Association does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership of an asset, the Association recognizes rental income on a straight-line basis 
over the lease terms.  The Association adds back the initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and 
arranging an operating lease to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognizes them as rental 
income over the lease term on the same basis.  The Association recognizes contingent rents as 
revenue in the period in which they are earned. 
 
Policies applicable prior to January 1, 2019 
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease, is based on the substance of the 
arrangement at inception date, and requires an assessment of whether the fulfillment of the 
arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset and the arrangement conveys a right to use the 
asset.  A reassessment is made after inception of the lease only if one of the following applies: 
 
a) there is a change in contractual terms, other than a renewal or extension of the arrangement; 
b) a renewal option is exercised or an extension granted, unless that term of the renewal or extension 

was initially included in the lease term; 
c) there is a change in the determination of whether fulfillment is dependent on a specified asset; or 
d) there is a substantial change to the asset. 
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Where a reassessment is made, lease accounting shall commence or cease from the date when the 
change in circumstances gave rise to the reassessment for any of the scenarios above, and at the 
renewal or extension period for the second scenario. 

 
The Association as lessee 
Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are 
classified as operating leases.  Operating lease payments are recognized as expense in the statement 
of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  Indirect costs incurred in 
negotiating an operating lease are added to the carrying value of the leased asset and recognized over 
the lease term on the same basis as the lease income.  Minimum lease payments are recognized on a 
straight-line basis while the variable rent is recognized as an expense based on the terms of the lease 
contract. 

 
The Association as lessor 
Leases where the Association retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset 
are classified as operating leases.  Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are 
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognized over the lease term on the same bases 
as rental income.  Contingent rents are recognized as revenue in the period in which these are earned.   

 
Provisions 
Provisions are recognized when an obligation (legal or constructive) is incurred as a result of a past 
event and where it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  
If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the 
expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessment of the time value 
of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.  Where discounting is used, the 
increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as an interest expense. 

 
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 
Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the financial statements.  They are disclosed unless the 
possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote.  Contingent assets are 
not recognized in the financial statements but disclosed when an inflow of economic benefits is 
probable. 
 
Change in Account Title 
In 2019, the Association changed the account title for the collected contributions from the members 
under the basic and optional funds, respectively, from “Gross premiums on insurance contracts” to 
“Members’ Contributions and Premiums – Micro”.  Said accounts still conform to the Standard Chart 
of Accounts for Mutual Benefit Associations per Insurance Commission (IC) Circular Letter 2014-41 
dated September 25, 2014.  
 
 

5. Significant Accounting Judgments, Estimates and Assumptions 
 

The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with PFRS requires the Association to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses 
and disclosure of contingent assets and contingent liabilities.  Future events may occur which will 
cause the assumptions used in arriving at the estimates to change.  The effects of any change in 
estimates are reflected in the financial statements as they become reasonably determinable. 
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Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. 

 
Judgments 
Product classification 
The Association has determined that the insurance policies it issues have significant insurance risk 
and therefore meet the definition of an insurance contract and should be accounted for as such. 

 
The significance of insurance risk is dependent on both the probability of an insured event and the 
magnitude of its potential effect.  As a general guideline, the Association defines significant insurance 
risk as the possibility of having to pay benefits on the occurrence of an insured event that are at least 
10% more than the benefits payable if the insured event did not occur. 
 
Classification of HTM investments. 
The Association classifies non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and 
fixed maturities as HTM investments.  This classification requires significant judgment.  In making 
this judgment, the Association evaluates its intention and ability to hold such investments to maturity.  
If the Association fails to keep these investments to maturity other than in certain specific 
circumstances, the Association will be required to reclassify the entire portfolio as AFS financial 
assets and to measure these at fair value and not at amortized cost.  The Association has HTM 
investments amounting to P=15.56 billion and P=12.69 billion as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, 
respectively (see Note 7).  As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the fair value of HTM investments 
amounted to P=15.85 billion and P=11.59 billion, respectively (see Note 7). 

 
Fair value of financial instruments 
The Association carries certain financial assets at fair value, which requires extensive use of 
accounting estimates and judgments.  Fair value determinations for financial assets and liabilities are 
based generally on listed or quoted market prices.  If prices are not readily determinable or if 
liquidating the positions is reasonably expected to affect market prices, fair value is based on either 
internal valuation models or management’s estimate of amounts that could be realized under current 
market conditions, assuming an orderly liquidation over a reasonable period of time.   

 
While significant components of fair value were determined using verifiable objective evidence (i.e., 
foreign exchange rates, interest rates, volatility rates), the amount of changes in fair value of these 
financial assets and liabilities would affect profit and loss and equity. 

 
The fair values of the Association’s financial instruments follow (see Note 26): 

 
 2019 2018 
Financial assets P=19,580,929,271 P=14,226,410,928 
Financial liabilities 45,422,277 59,488,522 

 
Estimates 
Impairment of nonfinancial assets 
The Association assesses impairment on assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.  The factors that the Association 
considers important which could trigger an impairment review include the following: 

 
 significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future operating results; 
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 significant changes in the manner of use of the acquired assets or the strategy for overall 
business; and 

 significant negative industry or economic trends. 
 

The Association recognizes an impairment loss whenever the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its 
recoverable amount.  Recoverable amounts are estimated for individual assets or, if it is not possible, 
for the CGU to which the asset belongs. 

 
For the year ended December 31, 2019, no impairment loss recognized for property and equipment 
and for investment properties.  Impairment loss was recognized in 2018 amounting to P=1,535,764 for 
property and equipment and P=3,335,730 for investment properties. 

 
The following table sets forth the fair values of investment properties as of December 31: 

 
 2019 2018 
Investment properties (Note 12) P=730,289,423 P=435,537,408 

 
Impairment of receivables 
The Association reviews its receivables to assess impairment annually.  In determining whether an 
impairment loss should be recorded in the statement of revenue and expenses, the Association makes 
judgments as to whether there is any observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in 
the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of loans before the decrease can be identified with an 
individual loan in that portfolio.  Total receivables net of allowance for impairment losses amounted 
to P=184.59 million and P=54.56 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively (see Note 8).  
Allowance for impairment losses amounted to P=6.56 million and P=2.97 million as of  
December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively (see Note 8).  

 
Impairment of AFS financial assets 
The Association determines that AFS financial assets are impaired when there has been a significant 
or prolonged decline in the fair value below cost.  This determination of what is significant or 
prolonged requires judgment.  In making this judgment, the Association evaluates among other 
factors, the normal volatility in price.  In addition, impairment may be appropriate when there is 
evidence of deterioration in the financial health of the investee, industry and sector performance, 
changes in technology, and operational and financing cash flows.  As of December 31, 2019 and 
2018, the fair value of AFS financial assets amounted to P=1.65 billion and P=1.27 billion, respectively 
(see Note 9).  There were no impairment loss recognized on AFS financial assets in 2019 and 2018. 

 
Retirement and other employee benefits 
The cost of defined benefit pension plans and other post-employment benefits as well as the present 
value of the pension obligation are determined using actuarial valuations.  The actuarial valuation 
involves making various assumptions.  These include the determination of the discount rates, future 
salary increases, mortality rates and future pension increases.  Due to the complexity of the valuation, 
the underlying assumptions and its long-term nature, defined benefit obligations are highly sensitive 
to changes in these assumptions.  All assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date.  The net 
pension asset amounted to P=43.26 million and P=35.19 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, 
respectively (see Note 25). 

 
In determining the appropriate discount rate, management considers the interest rates of government 
bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, with extrapolated 
maturities corresponding to the expected duration of the defined benefit obligation.  
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The mortality rate is based on publicly available mortality tables for the specific country and is 
modified accordingly with estimates of mortality improvements.  Future salary increases and pension 
increases are based on expected future inflation rates for the specific  

 
Provision for reserves 
The estimation of ultimate liability arising from claims made under life insurance contracts is the 
Association’s most critical accounting estimate.  There are several sources of uncertainty that need to 
be considered in the estimate of the liability that the Association will ultimately pay for such claims.  
Previous experience and trends are fundamentally considered in determining the liability.  In 
determining the provision for reserves, estimates are made as to the expected number of deaths, 
illness or injury for each of the years in which the Association is exposed to risk.  These estimates are 
based on standard industry and national mortality and morbidity tables.  The estimated number of 
deaths, illness or injury determines the value of possible future benefits to be paid out, which will be 
factored into ensuring sufficient cover by reserves, which in return is monitored against current and 
future premiums.  Estimates are also made to future investment income arising from the assets 
backing life insurance contracts.  These estimates are based on weighted average rate of return arising 
from the assets backing life insurance contracts.  Refer to Note 26 for the key assumptions used in the 
estimation of provision for reserves. 

 
Contingencies 
Basic contingency reserve is set on Membership Certificates to meet the contractual obligation, other 
than the Member's Equity Value, as it falls due. 

 
 
6. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

This account consists: 
 

 2019 2018 
Cash on hand P=216,900 P=114,845 
Cash in banks 186,738,622 106,167,182 
Cash equivalents 360,549,762 209,013,925 
 P=547,505,284 P=315,295,952 

 
Cash in banks earns interest at the prevailing bank deposit rates ranging from 0.05% to 1.50% in 2019 
and 2018.  

 
Cash equivalents are made for varying periods of up to three (3) months depending on the immediate 
cash requirements of the Association and earn interest at the prevailing rates ranging from 3.12% to 
3.80% and 4.50% to 6.25% in 2019 and 2018, respectively.   

 
Interest income earned from cash and cash equivalents amounted to P=9.95 million and P=4.24 million 
in 2019 and 2018, respectively (see Note 19).  Accrued income from cash and cash equivalents 
amounted to P=1.26 million and P=0.53 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively (see 
Note 10).  
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7. Held-to-Maturity Investments 
 

As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the carrying amounts and fair values of these securities follow: 
 

 2019 2018 
 Carrying Value Fair Value Carrying Value Fair Value 
Fixed treasury notes P=10,307,395,292 P=10,619,503,784 P=8,286,368,025 P=7,625,242,371 
Retail treasury bonds 4,549,754,145 4,610,632,686 3,858,047,629 3,468,140,496 
Corporate bonds 699,344,772 617,279,272 545,000,000 492,617,628 
Treasury bills 1,581,177 1,609,341 452,751 – 
 P=15,558,075,386 P=15,849,025,083 P=12,689,868,405 P=11,586,000,495 

 
These investments bear annual interest rates which ranged from 3.25% to 8.06% in 2019 and 2018 
and will mature between one (1) and thirteen (13) years from the statements of financial position date.  
Interest income from these investments net of premium amortization amounted to P=356.07 million 
and P=329.84 million in 2019 and 2018, respectively (see Note 19).  Accrued income from these 
investments amounted to P=126.80 million and P=96.37 million in 2019 and 2018, respectively (see 
Note 10).  

 
The carrying value of HTM investments follows: 

 
 2019 2018 
At January 1 P=12,689,868,405 P=10,132,288,942 
Additions 3,098,694,594 2,564,495,114 
Amortization of bond discount (premium) 10,398,377 (6,915,651) 
Maturities (240,885,990) – 
At December 31 P=15,558,075,386 P=12,689,868,405 

 
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, HTM investments include government securities classified as 
guaranty fund amounting to P=225.06 and P=137.86 million, respectively.  These investments are 
deposited with the IC, in accordance with the provisions of Section 405 of the 2013 Revised 
Insurance Code, as security for the benefit of policyholders and creditors of the Association.  

 
 
8. Loans and Receivables 
 

As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Association’s loans and receivables are as follows: 
 

 2019 2018 
Receivables – net P=184,585,719 P=54,561,901 
Short-term investments 276,551,385 119,715,969 
Long-term investments 854,375,594 854,375,594 
 P=1,315,512,698 P=1,028,653,464 
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Receivables 
This account consists of: 

 
 2019 2018 
Receivables from:   
 Related parties (Note 22) P=27,007,901 P=6,314,600 
 Members and employees 1,752,094 1,391,977 
Loans receivable (Note 22) 19,960,000 6,460,000 
Advances for future stock subscription 121,273,000 – 
Others 21,157,323 43,363,198 
 191,150,318 57,529,775 
Less allowance for impairment losses 6,564,599 2,967,874 
 P=184,585,719 P=54,561,901 

 
Receivables from related parties pertain to premiums collected by related parties from the 
Association’s members.  These are generally on 1 to 30 day terms. 

 
Receivables from members and employees include receivables from the Association’s members of 
Build-Operate and Transfer (BOAT) program representing unremitted premiums.  It also includes 
receivables from the Association’s employees due to the excess claims and benefits disbursed to its 
members.  These receivables are expected to be settled and collected within thirty (30) days.  

 
Loans receivable pertain to loan agreements of the Association with UniHealth Quezon Hospital and 
Medical Center and CARD MRI Property Holdings, Inc (CMPHI).  The movements in loans 
receivable follow: 

 
 2019 2018 
At January 1 P=6,460,000 P=6,460,000 
Additions  15,000,000 – 
Principal collections (1,500,000) – 
At December 31 P=19,960,000 P=6,460,000 

 
Significant terms and conditions of the loan follows: 

 

 
Outstanding 

balance Release date Interest rate Terms  
UniHealth Quezon Hospital and 
Medical Center  

P=6,460,000 September 19, 
2017 

6% per annum 
payable 

quarterly 

Quarterly interest on the 
first two years and 

Principal plus interest 
starting 3rd year of the 

loan.   
CARD MRI Property Management, 
Inc. 

P=15,000,000 May 16, 2019 5.711% per 
annum  

 

 
Total interest income received from the loans receivable amounted to P=0.81 million and  
P=0.39 million in 2019 and 2018, respectively (see Note 19).  Accrued income from total loans and 
receivables amounted to P=92.35 million and P=53.02 million in 2019 and 2018, respectively (see Note 
10). 

 
Advances for future stock subscription pertains to the advance payment made by the Association for 
the subscription of additional stocks of CARD Bank, Inc. (CBI) amounting to P=74.14 million paid on  
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August 8, 2019.  The additional shares were not yet issued due to pending approval of SEC to CBI’s 
proposal of capital increase.  This also includes dividend income amounting to P=47.13 million to be 
given as shares from the same entity upon the approval of the increase in issued share. 
 
Other receivables represent claims from the different suppliers of the Association due to overpayment 
of services and products availed and purchased.  These amounts are expected to be settled within 
seven (7) days. 

 
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, allowance for impairment losses for receivables determined 
based on specific identification and assessment follows: 

 

 

Receivables from 
Related Parties 

(Note 22) 
Other 

Receivables Total 
At January 1, 2018 
Write-off 

P=1,115,021 
– 

P=523,842 
(81,702) 

P=1,638,863 
(81,702) 

Provision for probable losses (639,292) 2,050,005 1,410,713 
At December 31, 2018 475,729 2,492,145 2,967,874 
Provision for probable losses 1,279,120 2,317,605 3,596,725 
At December 31, 2019 P=1,754,849 P=4,809,750 P=6,564,599 

 
Short Term Investments 
Short-term investments are money market placements with maturities of more than three (3) months 
but less than one (1) year and bear annual interest at rates that ranged from 1.25% to 4.00% in 2019 
and 0.88% to 5.25% in 2018.  Interest income earned from these investments amounted to  
P=4.30 million and P=3.45 million in 2019 and 2018, respectively (see Note 19). 

 
The rollforward analysis of short-term investments follows: 

 
 2019 2018 
At January 1 P=119,715,969 P=115,651,483 
Additions 293,504,437 265,142,853 
Maturities (136,669,020) (261,078,367) 
At December 31 P=276,551,385 P=119,715,969 

 
Long Term Investments 
The long-term investments are placements with maturity of more than one (1) year but less than five 
(5) years that bear annual interest of 4.00% to 6.00% in 2019 and 2018.  Interest income earned from 
these investments amounted to P=18.35 million and P=17.23 million in 2019 and 2018, respectively  
(see Note 19).   
 
The rollforward analysis of long-term investments follows: 
 

 2019 2018 
At January 1 P=854,375,594 P=592,591,045 
Additions − 261,784,549 
At December 31 P=854,375,594 P=854,375,594 
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9. Available-for-Sale Financial Assets 
 

This account consists of: 
 

 2019 2018 
Quoted securities   
 Mutual funds  P=464,070,729 P=421,611,239 
Unquoted securities    
 Preferred shares 1,108,241,463 819,115,760 
Unit Investment Trust Fund (UITF) 73,058,084 29,930,842 
 P=1,645,370,276 P=1,270,657,841 

 
The carrying values of AFS financial assets have been determined as follows: 

 

 
Investments in 
Mutual Funds 

Unquoted 
Equity 

Securities UITF Total 
At January 1, 2018  P=480,411,928 P=261,401,400 P=− P=741,813,328 
Additions − 364,715,400 30,279,293 394,994,693 
Fair value gains (losses) (13,800,687) 192,998,960 (78,453) 179,119,820 
Disposal (45,000,002) − (269,998) (45,270,000) 
At December 31, 2018 P=421,611,239 P=819,115,760 P=29,930,842 P=1,270,657,841 
Additions − 79,023,400 40,008,230 119,031,630 
Fair value gains 42,459,490 210,102,303 3,128,612 255,690,405 
Disposal −  − (9,600) (9,600) 
At December 31, 2019 P=464,070,729 P=1,108,241,463 P=73,058,084 P=1,645,370,276 

Investments in unquoted equity shares pertain to the Association’s investments in preferred shares of 
CARD Bank, Inc., and CARD MRI Rizal Bank, and common shares of CARD Leasing and Finance 
Corporation, and UniHealth, Inc.  

 
Details of the Association’s investments in unquoted equity securities follow: 

 
  2019   2018  

 Amount Shares 

Percentage 
of 

ownership Amount Shares 
Percentage of 

 ownership 
CARD Bank, Inc. P=1,005,762,446 3,148,807 63.00% P=767,340,603 2,934,508 58.00% 
CARD MRI Rizal Bank, Inc. 86,138,833 354,394 70.88% 35,434,973 173,576 64.29% 
CLFC 15,840,184 40,000 4.00% 15,840,184 40,000 4.00% 
UniHealth, Inc. 500,000 500 0.13% 500,000 500 0.13% 

 P=1,108,241,463   P=819,115,760   
*Ownership in the preferred shares 

In 2019 and 2018, the Association subscribed to additional 214,299 and 1,795,101 preferred shares of 
CARD Bank, Inc., respectively, at P=200 par value with a total amount P=42.86 million and  
P=359.02 million, respectively 

 
Dividends received from this investment amounted to P=169.89 million and P=108.16 million in 2019 
and 2018 (see Note 19).  Accrued dividend amounted to nil in 2019 and 2018 (see Note 10). 

 
In 2019 and 2018, the Association owns 354,394 and 173,576 preferred shares of CARD MRI Rizal 
Bank, Inc. amounting to P=86.14 million and P=35.32 million, respectively.  In 2019 and 2018, the 
Association received dividend income from this investment amounting to P=22.43 million and  
P=14.84 million, respectively.  
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9. Available-for-Sale Financial Assets 
 

This account consists of: 
 

 2019 2018 
Quoted securities   
 Mutual funds  P=464,070,729 P=421,611,239 
Unquoted securities    
 Preferred shares 1,108,241,463 819,115,760 
Unit Investment Trust Fund (UITF) 73,058,084 29,930,842 
 P=1,645,370,276 P=1,270,657,841 

 
The carrying values of AFS financial assets have been determined as follows: 

 

 
Investments in 
Mutual Funds 

Unquoted 
Equity 

Securities UITF Total 
At January 1, 2018  P=480,411,928 P=261,401,400 P=− P=741,813,328 
Additions − 364,715,400 30,279,293 394,994,693 
Fair value gains (losses) (13,800,687) 192,998,960 (78,453) 179,119,820 
Disposal (45,000,002) − (269,998) (45,270,000) 
At December 31, 2018 P=421,611,239 P=819,115,760 P=29,930,842 P=1,270,657,841 
Additions − 79,023,400 40,008,230 119,031,630 
Fair value gains 42,459,490 210,102,303 3,128,612 255,690,405 
Disposal −  − (9,600) (9,600) 
At December 31, 2019 P=464,070,729 P=1,108,241,463 P=73,058,084 P=1,645,370,276 

Investments in unquoted equity shares pertain to the Association’s investments in preferred shares of 
CARD Bank, Inc., and CARD MRI Rizal Bank, and common shares of CARD Leasing and Finance 
Corporation, and UniHealth, Inc.  

 
Details of the Association’s investments in unquoted equity securities follow: 

 
  2019   2018  

 Amount Shares 

Percentage 
of 

ownership Amount Shares 
Percentage of 

 ownership 
CARD Bank, Inc. P=1,005,762,446 3,148,807 63.00% P=767,340,603 2,934,508 58.00% 
CARD MRI Rizal Bank, Inc. 86,138,833 354,394 70.88% 35,434,973 173,576 64.29% 
CLFC 15,840,184 40,000 4.00% 15,840,184 40,000 4.00% 
UniHealth, Inc. 500,000 500 0.13% 500,000 500 0.13% 

 P=1,108,241,463   P=819,115,760   
*Ownership in the preferred shares 

In 2019 and 2018, the Association subscribed to additional 214,299 and 1,795,101 preferred shares of 
CARD Bank, Inc., respectively, at P=200 par value with a total amount P=42.86 million and  
P=359.02 million, respectively 

 
Dividends received from this investment amounted to P=169.89 million and P=108.16 million in 2019 
and 2018 (see Note 19).  Accrued dividend amounted to nil in 2019 and 2018 (see Note 10). 

 
In 2019 and 2018, the Association owns 354,394 and 173,576 preferred shares of CARD MRI Rizal 
Bank, Inc. amounting to P=86.14 million and P=35.32 million, respectively.  In 2019 and 2018, the 
Association received dividend income from this investment amounting to P=22.43 million and  
P=14.84 million, respectively.  
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Investments in mutual funds have the following details: 
 

 2019 2018 
 Amount Units Amount Units 
Sun Life Prosperity Bond Fund P=256,624,587 83,430,732 P=230,702,657 83,430,732 
Sun Life Peso Balance Fund 101,643,932  26,306,727 96,064,275 26,306,727 
Philam Bond Fund 105,802,210  24,194,976 94,844,306 24,194,976 
 P=464,070,729  P=421,611,238  

 
The increase and decrease in reserve for fluctuation in value of the investments in available-for-sale 
investments amounted to P=255.69 million and P=179.12 million in 2019 and 2018, respectively.  This 
is presented as “Other comprehensive gain/(losses)” in the statements of comprehensive income. 

 
The rollforward of the reserve for fluctuation in value of AFS financial assets follows: 

 
 2019 2018 
At January 1 P=230,993,560 P=51,873,740 
Fair value gains (losses) on AFS financial assets   
 Unquoted equity shares 210,102,303 192,998,960 
 Mutual funds 42,459,490 (13,800,687) 
 UITF 3,128,612 (78,453) 
At December 31 P=486,683,965 P=230,993,560 

 
 
10. Accrued Income 
 

This account consists of: 
 

 2019 2018 
Interest receivable on:   
 Cash and cash equivalents (Note 6) P=1,255,764 P=533,733 

Held-to-maturity investments (Note 7) 126,799,215 96,365,005 
Loans and receivables (Note 8) 92,352,239 53,015,461 

 P=220,407,218 P=149,914,199 
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Gain on retirement of computer and office equipment, office furniture and fixtures and building 
amounted to nil in 2019 and 2018, respectively. 

 
The cost of fully depreciated property and equipment still in use amounted to P=13.51 million and  
P=9.18 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.    

 
 
12. Investment Properties 
 

The rollforward analyses of this account follow: 
 

 2019 
 Land Building Total 
Cost    
At January 1 P=210,873,040 P=136,196,389 P=347,069,429 
Additions 60,550,686 3,478,415 64,029,101 
Retirement/Others − (6,009,488) (6,009,488) 
At December 31 271,423,726 133,665,316 405,089,042 
Accumulated Depreciation    
At January 1 − 38,925,644 38,925,644 
Depreciation (Note 20) − 13,886,576 13,886,576 
At December 31 − 52,812,220 52,812,220 
Gain on Reversal − 672,609 672,609 
Net Book Value P=271,423,726 P= 81,525,705 P=352,949,431 

 
 2018 
 Land Building Total 
Cost    
At January 1 P=106,697,727 P=122,162,710 P=228,860,437 
Additions − 1,239,837 1,239,837 
Sale (11,209,628) − (11,209,628) 
Transfers from property and equipment  
 (Note 11) 115,384,941 16,129,572 131,514,513 
At December 31 210,873,040 139,532,119 350,405,159 
Accumulated Depreciation    
At January 1 − 25,807,229 25,807,228 
Depreciation (Note 20) − 13,118,416 13,118,416 
At December 31 − 38,925,645 38,925,644 
Impairment loss (Notes 5 and 20) − 3,335,730 3,335,730 
Net Book Value P=210,873,040 P=97,270,744 P=308,143,784 

 
In 2018, the Association transferred portion of its investment properties amounting to  
P=131.51 million to property and equipment.  The transfers from/to property and equipment were due 
to changes in management’s intention over the use of the properties (see Note 11).  
 
The investment properties have a total fair value of P=730.29 million and P=435.54 million as of 
December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.  The fair value of the properties is based on valuation 
performed by an independent valuer of CARD MRI Organization and Administration Unit with a 
recognized and relevant professional qualification and with recent experience in the location and 
category of the investment properties being valued.  The appraised value of investment property is 
classified under Level 3 of fair value hierarchy.  This is determined using sales comparison approach.  
This is a comparative approach to value that considers the sales of similar or substitute properties and 
related market data and establishes a value estimate by processes involving comparison.  Listings and 
offerings may also be considered.  The properties used as basis for comparison are situated within the 
subject building and land nearby.  Comparison would be premised on the factors such as floor level 
location, interior finishes, parking slot allocation and facilities offered and the time element.  

65AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



- 29 - 
 
 

*SGVFSM003201* 

The Association has determined that the highest and best use of the property is its current use. 
 

As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, no investment has been pledged as collateral or security for any 
of the Association’s liabilities. 

 
The Association earned rental income amounting to P=16.24 million and P=14.56 million from its 
investment properties in 2019 and 2018, respectively (see Note 21). 

 
 
13. Investments in Associates 
 

This account consists of the following: 
 

 2019 2018 
Acquisition cost P=769,350,788 P=566,156,425 
Placements 40,311,980  
Accumulated equity in net earnings 138,062,443 202,728,196 
Accumulated equity in other comprehensive income 

(loss)   (1,100,442) 466,167 
 P=946,624,769 P=769,350,788 

 
Details of the Association’s investments in associates follow: 

 
 2019 2018 
 Amount Percentage* Amount Percentage* 
CPMI P=677,532,697  46.10% P=557,326,231 46.10% 
CMIT  119,007,276  40.00% 96,508,833 40.00% 
CMPHI  114,847,803  40.00% 90,443,165 40.00% 
BotiCARD  19,468,228  30.00% 16,840,784 30.00% 
CMHI  8,554,351  25.00% 7,571,822 25.00% 
CARD Astro Laboratories, Inc. 6,015,095 28.00% – – 
CMPuHI   779,373   30.00% 539,310 30.00% 
CMHTI  419,946  20.00% 120,643 20.00% 
 P=946,624,769  P=769,350,788  
*Percentage ownership in the total outstanding number of shares of the Associates. 

 
CARD Pioneer Microinsurance, Inc. 

 
The details of this investment follow: 

 
 2019 2018 
Acquisition cost:   
 At January 1 P=278,982,753 P=278,982,753 
Accumulated equity in net earnings   
 At January 1 277,357,677 133,055,343 
 Equity in net earnings  120,206,467 144,302,334 
 At December 31 397,564,142 277,357,677 
Accumulated equity in other comprehensive income:   
At January 1 985,801 (123,505) 
 Equity in other comprehensive income – 1,109,306 
 At December 31 985,801 985,801 
 P=677,532,697 P=557,326,231 
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On July 16, 2013, the Association entered into an agreement with CPMI for the purchase of 2,303,428 
shares at P=100 par value representing 47.00% ownership in CPMI.  On September 30, 2013, the 
consideration paid to CPMI amounted to P=257.98 million.  No goodwill was recognized since the 
consideration paid is equal to the proportionate ownership in CPMI.  In 2014, an amount of  
P=0.06 million was added to the investment in CPMI representing adjustments at the time of its 
acquisition.  

 
In 2016, the Association invested additional P=27.74 million in CPMI representing contributed surplus 
in order for CPMI to meet the minimum capitalization requirement by IC.  Moreover, the  
P=65.47 million equity in net earnings is net of the P=6.79 million dilution on investment in CPMI 
resulting from the decrease of the Association’s percentage ownership from 47% to 46.1% in 
December 2016.  This decrease is the result of the Association’s waiver of its pre-emptive right over 
the remaining unissued authorized capital stock of CPMI. 

 
CARD MRI Information Technology, Inc. (CMIT) 

 
The details of this investment follow: 

 
 2019 2018 
Acquisition cost:   
 At January 1 P=79,087,000 P=61,487,000 
 Placements 6,913,000 17,600,000 
 At December 31 86,000,000 79,087,000 
Accumulated equity in net earnings:   
 At January 1 15,868,428 17,126,923 
 Equity in net earnings 32,465,443 16,245,872 
 Dividend income (16,880,000) (17,504,367) 
At December 31 31,453,871 15,868,428 
Accumulated equity in other comprehensive  

income   
 At January 1 1,553,405 2,156,610 
 Equity in other comprehensive loss – (603,205) 
At December 31 1,553,405 1,553,405 
 P=119,007,276 P=96,508,833 

 
In 2011, the Association subscribed to 400,000 common shares at P=100 par value representing 40% 
ownership in CMIT.  In 2019, the Association subscribed additional 69,130 common shares at 
P=100 par value amounting to P=6.91 million.  As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Association’s 
investment in CMIT amounted to P=119.00 million and P=96.51 million, respectively. 

 
BotiCARD, Inc. 

 
The details of the investment follow: 
 

 2019 2018 
Acquisition cost   
 At January 1 P=11,697,000 P=11,697,000 
 Placement 1,203,980 − 
 At December 31 12,900,980 11,697,000 

(Forward)   
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 2019 2018 
Accumulated equity in net earnings:   
 At January 1 P=3,820,895 P=2,683,331 
 Equity in net earnings 2,627,444 1,685,367 
 Dividend income (1,203,980) (547,803) 
 At December 31 5,244,359  3,820,895 
Accumulated equity in other comprehensive income   
 At January 1 1,322,889 1,362,824 
 Equity in other comprehensive loss - (39,935) 
At December 31 1,322,889 1,322,889 
 P=19,468,228 P=16,840,784 

 
In 2011, the Association purchased 780,000 common shares at P=5.00 par value of BotiCARD 
amounting to P=3.90 million.   

 
In 2012, the Association deposited P=3.00 million which will be used to subscribe to 600,000 
additional common shares of BotiCARD initially recorded as advances for future stock subscription.  
On May 19, 2015, the SEC already approved BotiCARD’s request for increase in authorized capital 
stock.  The P=3.00 million advances were reclassified from advances for future stock subscription as 
investment in BotiCARD as of December 31, 2015 together with the additional investment of  
P=2.50 million.  Additional investment amounting P=1.95 million was made in 2017.  As of  
December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Association’s investment in BotiCARD amounted to  
P=19.47 million and P=16.84 million, respectively. 

 
CARD MRI Property Holdings, Inc. (CMPHI) 

 
The details of the investment follow: 

 
 2019 2018 
Acquisition cost   
 At January 1 P=90,000,000 P=50,000,000 
 Placement 25,495,000 40,000,000 
 At December 31 115,495,000 90,000,000 
Accumulated equity in net earnings:   
 At January 1 443,165 (46,879) 
 Equity in net earnings (loss) 383,732 490,044 
 Dividend income (495,000) – 
 331,897 443,165 
Accumulated equity in Other Comprehensive 

Income   
 At January 1 – − 
 Equity in other comprehensive income (979,095) – 
 (979,095) – 
 P=114,847,803 P=90,443,165 
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 2019 2018 
Accumulated equity in net earnings:   
 At January 1 P=3,820,895 P=2,683,331 
 Equity in net earnings 2,627,444 1,685,367 
 Dividend income (1,203,980) (547,803) 
 At December 31 5,244,359  3,820,895 
Accumulated equity in other comprehensive income   
 At January 1 1,322,889 1,362,824 
 Equity in other comprehensive loss - (39,935) 
At December 31 1,322,889 1,322,889 
 P=19,468,228 P=16,840,784 

 
In 2011, the Association purchased 780,000 common shares at P=5.00 par value of BotiCARD 
amounting to P=3.90 million.   

 
In 2012, the Association deposited P=3.00 million which will be used to subscribe to 600,000 
additional common shares of BotiCARD initially recorded as advances for future stock subscription.  
On May 19, 2015, the SEC already approved BotiCARD’s request for increase in authorized capital 
stock.  The P=3.00 million advances were reclassified from advances for future stock subscription as 
investment in BotiCARD as of December 31, 2015 together with the additional investment of  
P=2.50 million.  Additional investment amounting P=1.95 million was made in 2017.  As of  
December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Association’s investment in BotiCARD amounted to  
P=19.47 million and P=16.84 million, respectively. 

 
CARD MRI Property Holdings, Inc. (CMPHI) 

 
The details of the investment follow: 

 
 2019 2018 
Acquisition cost   
 At January 1 P=90,000,000 P=50,000,000 
 Placement 25,495,000 40,000,000 
 At December 31 115,495,000 90,000,000 
Accumulated equity in net earnings:   
 At January 1 443,165 (46,879) 
 Equity in net earnings (loss) 383,732 490,044 
 Dividend income (495,000) – 
 331,897 443,165 
Accumulated equity in Other Comprehensive 

Income   
 At January 1 – − 
 Equity in other comprehensive income (979,095) – 
 (979,095) – 
 P=114,847,803 P=90,443,165 
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In October and November 2016, the Association invested in 146,001 shares of CMPHI with par value 
of P=100 representing 40% ownership.  In 2017, additional placement was made amounting to  
P=35,999,900.  As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Association’s investment in CMPHI amounted 
to P=114.85 million and P=90.44 million, respectively. 

 
CARD MRI Holdings, Inc. (CMHI) 

 
The details of the investment follow: 

 
 2019 2018 
Acquisition cost:   
 At January 1 and December 31 P=7,812,500 P=7,812,500 
Accumulated equity in net loss:   
 At January 1 (409,309) (474,781) 
 Equity in net earnings 982,529 65,472 
 At December 31 573,220 (409,309) 
Accumulated equity in other comprehensive income:   
 At January 1 and December 31 168,631 168,631 
 P=8,554,351 P=7,571,822 

 
On February 5, 2016, the Association invested in 78,125 shares of CMHI with par value of P=100 
representing 25% ownership.  As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Association’s investment in 
CMHI amounted to P=8.55 million and P=7.51 million, respectively. 

 
CARD MRI Hijos Tours, Inc. (CMHTI) 
 
The details of the investment follow: 

 
 2019 2018 
Acquisition cost:   
 At January 1 P=100,000 P=100,000 
 Placements 300,000 – 
 At December 31 400,000 100,000 
Accumulated equity in net gain:   
At January 1 20,643 5,453 
 Equity in net earnings  (697) 15,190 
 Dividend income − − 
 19,946 20,643 
 At December 31 P=419,946 P=120,643 

On September 12, 2017, the Association invested in 20,000 shares of CMHTI with par value of P=5.00 
representing 20% ownership.  As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Association’s investment in 
CMHTI amounted to P=0.42 million and P=0.12 million, respectively. 
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CARD MRI Publishing House, Inc. (CMPuHI) 
 

The details of the investment follow: 
 

 2019 2018 
Acquisition cost:   
 At January 1 P=150,000 P=150,000 
 Placements − − 
 At December 31 150,000 150,000 
Accumulated equity in net income:   
 At January 1 389,310 13,222 
 Equity in net income (loss) 361,411 376,088 
 At December 31 750,721 389,310 
Accumulated equity in Other Comprehensive 

Income   
 At January 1 – – 
 Equity in other comprehensive income (121,347) – 
 At December 31 (121,347) – 
- P=779,373 P=539,310 

 
On September 12, 2017, the Association invested in 30,000 shares of CMPuHI with par value of  
P=5.00 representing 30% ownership.  As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Association’s 
investment in CMPuHI amounted to P=0.78 million and P=0.54 million, respectively. 
 
CARD Astro Laboratories, Inc. 

 
The details of the investment follow: 

 
  2019 
Acquisition cost:   
 At January 1  P=6,400,000 
 Placements  − 
 At December 31  6,400,000 
Accumulated equity in net gain:   
 At January 1  − 
 Equity in net gain  (384,905) 
 At December 31  P=6,015,095 

 
On August 6, 2019, the Association invested in 128,000 shares of CARD Astro with par value of  
P=50.00 representing 28% ownership.  As of December 31, 2019, the Association’s investment in 
CARD Astro amounted to P=6.20 million. 

 
The total undistributed accumulated equity in associate’s net earnings are included in the 
Association’s unappropriated fund balance and are not available for dividend declaration until these 
are actually received. 
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Financial information of the Association’s associates follows:  
 

 2019 2018 
CPMI   
 Total assets  P=2,803,139,535 P=1,525,650,803 
 Total liabilities 1,478,771,022 622,634,845 
 Net income 260,876,051 210,342,091 
 Other comprehensive income (loss) – (619,675) 
CMIT   
 Total assets  386,030,454 267,563,566 
 Total liabilities 87,984,766 75,216,509 
 Net income 81,163,608 22,801,288 
 Other comprehensive income (loss) − − 
BotiCARD   
 Total assets 60,847,669 36,780,799 
 Total liabilities 11,083,675 4,152,121 
 Net income 10,545,583 1,120,267 
 Other comprehensive income (loss) – − 
CMPHI   
 Total assets  396,675,887 153,455,754 
 Total liabilities 96,925,529 28,612,451 
 Net income 959,330 888,864 
 Other comprehensive income (loss) (2,447,737)  
CMHI   
 Total assets  41,673,176 30,803,164 
 Total liabilities 540,015 50,000 
 Net income 3,930,116 1,327,338 
CMHTI   
 Total assets  2,998,074 P=784,362 
 Total liabilities 891,881 256,899 
 Net income (3,487) 27,266 
CMPuHI   
 Total assets  3,313,030 869,270 
 Total liabilities 1,209,999 323,002 
 Net income 1,204,703 44,074 
 Other comprehensive income (loss) (404,491)  
CARD Astro   
 Total assets  15,291,482 − 
 Total liabilities 1,666,044 − 
 Net income (1,374,662) − 
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Financial information of the Association’s associates follows:  
 

 2019 2018 
CPMI   
 Total assets  P=2,803,139,535 P=1,525,650,803 
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 Total assets  41,673,176 30,803,164 
 Total liabilities 540,015 50,000 
 Net income 3,930,116 1,327,338 
CMHTI   
 Total assets  2,998,074 P=784,362 
 Total liabilities 891,881 256,899 
 Net income (3,487) 27,266 
CMPuHI   
 Total assets  3,313,030 869,270 
 Total liabilities 1,209,999 323,002 
 Net income 1,204,703 44,074 
 Other comprehensive income (loss) (404,491)  
CARD Astro   
 Total assets  15,291,482 − 
 Total liabilities 1,666,044 − 
 Net income (1,374,662) − 
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14. Other Assets 
 

This account consists of: 
 

 2019 2018 
Prepaid expenses P=5,281,081 P=5,181,229 
Supplies inventory 5,077,904 6,549,212 
Prepaid rent 2,879,611 2,238,485 
Funds and deposits  2,235,200 1,540,583 
Prepaid taxes 1,096,022 1,004,417 
Deferred reinsurance premiums (Note 18) 676,750 869,583 
 P=17,246,568 P=17,383,509 

 
Prepaid expenses include advance payment to ARK KMFD Development, Inc. for the construction of 
the CARD MBA building in San Pablo, Laguna and advance payments for the acquisition of 
computer equipment of the Association’s provincial offices. 

 
Supplies inventory includes office items that are being used in the operations of the Association.  
Prepaid rent pertains to the payment made in advance to the owners of the spaces being leased by the 
Association as provincial offices. 

 
Prepaid taxes of the Association pertain to the excess creditable withholding taxes over the income 
tax due from rental income and interest income from loans to related parties. 

 
Funds and deposits pertain to mutual guaranty fund paid to Microinsurance Association of the 
Philippines (MiMAP).  This fund represents a claim reserve fund held and being managed by MiMAP 
that will be subsequently used to satisfy the claims of the Association’s members that cannot be met 
by the net assets of the members in case of insolvency.  

 
 
15. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses 
 

This account consists of: 
 

 2019 2018 
Accrued expenses P=14,495,819 P=11,009,927 
Collection fee payable    
 Related parties (Note 22) 10,527,250 2,059,982 
 Staff, members and employees 2,363,511 1,578,874 
Accounts payable   
 Suppliers and contractors 7,606,373 17,933,664 
 Related parties (Note 22) 3,635,146 25,094,563 
 Staff, members and employees  41,168 25,650 
Lease liabilities (Note 21) 4,801,734 – 
Rent deposits 2,803,474 2,776,124 
Due to government agencies 1,862,021 1,388,428 
Premium received in advance – 1,155,400 
 Others 89,255 259,864 
 P=48,225,751 P=63,282,476 
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Accounts payable to suppliers and contractors consist mainly of unpaid purchases of supplies, 
outstanding obligations for ongoing building constructions and unpaid balances for land properties 
acquired by the Association.  These are settled within one year after the reporting date.    

 
Accounts payable to staff, members and employees include amounts accrued for expenses related to 
the reunion of the Association’s current and past Board of Trustees (BOT).  These are settled within 
one year after reporting date. 

 
Accrued expenses pertain to accruals for employee benefits, professional fees, utilities and supplies.  
These are non-interest bearing and are generally settled upon receipt of actual billings.  

 
Collection fee payable pertains to the Association‘s payable to its collecting institutions 
(see Note 22), staff, members and employees regarding the amount of claims and expenses paid in 
excess of the premiums collected.  These are non-interest-bearing and are generally on 1 to 30 day 
payment terms. 

 
Rent deposits represent the amounts received from the Association’s lessees as security deposit.  
These amounts are returnable to the lessees upon expiration of the lease agreement subject to the 
lessor’s conditions.  

 
Premium received in advances pertains to the premium payment of the CARD MRI members for 
Remitter Protek Plan for the year 2019. 

 
Due to government agencies pertains to withholding taxes payable, SSS loan and contribution 
payable, PAG-IBIG loan and contribution payable and Medicare contribution payable which are 
subsequently remitted within one month after the reporting date based on the requirements of 
government agencies. 

 
Other payables include unpaid balances for the services availed by the Association such as legal, 
actuarial valuation, driving services and lease liabilities.  These are non-interest bearing and are 
generally settled within thirty (30) days. 
 
 

16. Insurance Contract Liabilities 
 

This account consists of: 
 2019 2018 
Life insurance contract liabilities P=9,080,796,917 P=7,595,923,442 
Loan redemption contract liabilities 225,638,796 187,474,635 
 P=9,306,435,713 P=7,783,398,077 

 
a) Life insurance contract liabilities 

 
Details of the life insurance contract liabilities follow: 

 
 2019 2018 
Provision for unearned premiums P=8,990,033,345 P=7,507,432,541 
Outstanding claims provision 90,763,572 88,490,901 
Total life insurance contract liabilities P=9,080,796,917 P=7,595,923,442 
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Accounts payable to suppliers and contractors consist mainly of unpaid purchases of supplies, 
outstanding obligations for ongoing building constructions and unpaid balances for land properties 
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Life insurance contract liabilities P=9,080,796,917 P=7,595,923,442 
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Details of the life insurance contract liabilities follow: 
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This account represents reserves for life insurance which is computed in compliance with the 
statutory requirements as set by the IC which is equal to 50% of gross contributions to Basic Life 
Insurance for the year. 

 
The rollforward analysis of provision for unearned premiums follows: 

 
 2019 2018 
At January 1 P=7,507,432,541 P=5,948,998,400 
Premiums received 1,859,987,552 1,926,097,096 
Liability released for payments of death, maturity 

and surrender benefits and claims (377,386,748) (367,662,955) 
At December 31 P=8,990,033,345 P=7,507,432,541 

 
The rollforward analysis of outstanding claims provision follows: 

 
 2019 2018 
At January 1 P=88,490,901 P=41,998,258 
Claims incurred in the current year 1,550,657,986 1,266,190,935 
Claims paid during the year (1,548,385,315) (1,219,698,292) 
At December 31 P=90,763,572 P=88,490,901 

 
b) Loan redemption contract liabilities 

 
Details of the loan redemption contract liabilities follow: 

 
 2019 2018 
Provision for unearned premiums P=218,350,082 P=180,568,421 
Provision for claims incurred but not reported 

(IBNR) 7,288,714 6,906,214 
Total loan redemption contract liabilities P=225,638,796 P=187,474,635 

 
The rollforward analysis of provision for unearned premiums follows: 

 
 2019 2018 
At January 1 P=180,568,421 P=145,584,308 
Premiums received 740,819,961 645,300,995 
Earned premiums (703,038,300) (610,316,882) 
At December 31 P=218,350,082 P=180,568,421 

 
This account represents reserves for loan redemption insurance computed using the unearned net 
premium reserves method. 
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This account represents reserves for life insurance which is computed in compliance with the 
statutory requirements as set by the IC which is equal to 50% of gross contributions to Basic Life 
Insurance for the year. 

 
The rollforward analysis of provision for unearned premiums follows: 

 
 2019 2018 
At January 1 P=7,507,432,541 P=5,948,998,400 
Premiums received 1,859,987,552 1,926,097,096 
Liability released for payments of death, maturity 

and surrender benefits and claims (377,386,748) (367,662,955) 
At December 31 P=8,990,033,345 P=7,507,432,541 

 
The rollforward analysis of outstanding claims provision follows: 

 
 2019 2018 
At January 1 P=88,490,901 P=41,998,258 
Claims incurred in the current year 1,550,657,986 1,266,190,935 
Claims paid during the year (1,548,385,315) (1,219,698,292) 
At December 31 P=90,763,572 P=88,490,901 

 
b) Loan redemption contract liabilities 

 
Details of the loan redemption contract liabilities follow: 

 
 2019 2018 
Provision for unearned premiums P=218,350,082 P=180,568,421 
Provision for claims incurred but not reported 

(IBNR) 7,288,714 6,906,214 
Total loan redemption contract liabilities P=225,638,796 P=187,474,635 

 
The rollforward analysis of provision for unearned premiums follows: 

 
 2019 2018 
At January 1 P=180,568,421 P=145,584,308 
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This account represents reserves for loan redemption insurance computed using the unearned net 
premium reserves method. 
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The rollforward analysis of provision for claims IBNR follows: 
 

 2019 2018 
At January 1 P=6,906,214 P=1,948,803 
Increase in IBNR 382,500 4,957,411 
At December 31 P=7,288,714 P=6,906,214 

 
The rollforward analysis of outstanding claims provision follows: 

 
 2019 2018 
At January 1 P=− P=− 
Claims incurred in the current year 171,070,655 137,286,331 
Claims paid during the year (171,070,655) (137,286,331) 
At December 31 P=− P=− 

 
The loan redemption insurance covers the outstanding loan balance of members from CARD, Inc., 
CARD SME Bank, Inc., CARD Bank, Inc., and CARD MRI Rizal Rural Bank, Inc., CARD Leasing 
and Finance Corporation and CARD Employees’ Multi-purpose Cooperative and all BOAT partners 
in case of death of a member-borrower.   

 
 
17. Retirement Fund 
 

The retirement fund or provident fund represents contributions of members of the Association to the 
Retirement fund, net of administrative expenses.  The retirement fund is being administered by the 
Association and is intended for the retirement of its members.  The contributions are invested and the 
interests thereon are credited to the retirement fund.  It can be availed of at the age of 65 if the 
member has completed a minimum of five (5) consecutive years of membership in the Association.  
The benefit shall be equal to all the contributions made by the member to the retirement fund plus 
interest earned.  If a member decides to resign prior to age of 65, the member shall be entitled to 
refund of 100.00% of the member’s total contributions plus interest based on prevailing interest rates 
for regular savings of commercial banks.   
 
The rollforward analysis of retirement fund follows: 

 
 2019 2018 
At January 1 P=4,839,250,994 P=3,843,088,362 
Contribution 1,169,890,840  1,034,952,503 
Interest income 266,369,240 172,913,063 
Claims and expenses (284,813,363) (211,702,934) 
At December 31 P=5,990,697,711 P=4,839,250,994 

 
The allocation of interest for retirement fund is equivalent to 3.87% in 2019 and 3.53% in 2018, of 
the beginning balance of the account plus contribution from members during the year.  

 
Included in the ‘Other income’ are adjustments on interest income previously allocated to retirement 
fund amounting to P=22.13 million as of December 31, 2019.  
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18. Net Earned Premiums 
 

The net earned premiums consist of the following: 
 

 2019 2018 
Members’ contribution and premiums – micro   
 Life insurance premiums P=3,614,297,925 P=3,145,947,322 
 Loan insurance premiums 740,819,961 645,300,995 
Total members’ contribution and premiums – micro 4,355,117,886 3,791,248,317 
Less: Reinsurer’s share on gross earned premium on 

insurance contracts 
 

 
 Life insurance 3,031,225 3,050,435 
Members’ contribution and premiums – micro – net  P=4,352,086,661 P=3,788,197,882 

 
Under the Association’s basic life insurance program, members and its qualified dependents are 
entitled to receive a minimum amount of benefit upon death or permanent disability duly approved by 
the Association after meeting certain conditions as stated in the certificate of membership issued to 
members.  The member’s contribution is P=15.00 every week. 

 
Under the basic life insurance program is the golden life insurance program wherein members aging 
70 years old are entitled to enroll in the program and have continued coverage up to 100 years old.  
The member has the option to choose between P=50.00 or P=100.00 premium every week with death 
benefit of P=25,000 or P=50,000, respectively.  Premiums are payable for ten (10) years. 
 
Under the basic life insurance program extension program, members retiring from the Basic Life 
Insurance Program shall pay a single premium amounting to P=1,000.00 per year, 50% of which is 
Member’s Equity Value refundable to the member upon termination of the policy.  
 
Katuparan program provides protection ensuring that the member’s target savings will be met after a 
loss.  Under this plan, the member may choose between five (5) options with varying Target Savings 
Amount and term to meet the said target.  The face amount ranges from P=10,000.00 up to  
P=100,000.00 with term of at least two (2) years up to a maximum of five (5) years. 
 
Remitter Protek Plan is a group personal accident insurance cover that provides benefits for death, 
dismemberment/disablement and daily hospitalization caused by an accident.  This insures member 
elected in a Center meeting who is tasked to remit the collection of the Center to the Unit Offices, 
Bank Lite Unit (BLU) or Branches of CARD MRI Microfinancing Institutions and other 
organizations recognized by and affiliated with CARD MBA.  The corresponding premium for this 
plan is P=200 per center per year.  

The loan redemption insurance covers the outstanding principal loan balance of members to CARD 
Micro-finance institutions namely: CARD Inc., CARD Bank, Inc., CARD SME Bank Inc. and CARD 
MRI Rizal Rural Bank, Inc. in case of death.  Under this program, the member contributes 1.5% per 
annum of his/her principal loan to be recognized by the Association as gross premiums. 

 
In April 2014, the Association entered into a reinsurance agreement with National Reinsurance 
Corporation of the Philippines (PHILNARE) in response to the increased risk brought by severe 
calamities hitting the country.  Portion of the premiums received amounting to P=2.18 million and  
P=3.18 million in 2018 and 2017, respectively, are allocated and ceded to the reinsurer.  

 
Reinsurance will limit the possible loss that the Association would experience in case of disaster. 
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The rollforward of the deferred reinsurance premiums follows: 
 

 2019 2018 
At January 1 P=869,583 P=737,693 
Premiums ceded to reinsurer 2,838,392 3,182,325 
Reinsurer’s share of gross earned premiums on 

insurance contracts (3,031,225) (3,050,435) 
At December 31 P=676,750 P=869,583 

 
Deferred reinsurance premiums pertain to the unamortized portion of the premiums ceded to 
PHILNARE (see Note 14). 

 
 
19. Investment Income 
 

This account consists of 
 

 2019 2018 
Interest income on:    
 HTM investments (Note 7) P=356,072,560 P=329,836,355 
 Cash and cash equivalents (Note 6) 9,947,332 4,241,345 
 Short-term investments (Note 8) 4,301,188 3,445,479 
 Long-term investments (Note 8) 18,353,848 17,232,436 
 Loans and receivable (Note 8) 813,772 385,446 
 Pension asset (Note 25) 2,778,093 2,354,601 
Dividend income (Note 9) 169,885,744 124,249,320 
 P=562,152,537 P=481,744,982 

 
 
20. General and Administrative Expenses 
 

This account consists of: 
 

 2019 2018 
Transportation and travel P=217,049,900 P=187,519,010 
Salaries and allowances 124,970,973 93,521,629 
Professional fees 42,418,370  37,868,454 
Depreciation (Notes 3, 5, 11 and 12 ) 32,744,305  24,810,520 
Program, monitoring and evaluation 27,678,433  26,740,119 
Supplies 23,990,520  21,699,803 
Rental (Note 21) 23,041,101  22,645,692 
Other members’ benefit 19,923,144  20,719,615 
Security and janitorial 16,694,566  14,058,706 
Training and development 12,582,991  7,008,396 
Meetings and seminars 11,618,985  9,068,974 
Communication 7,233,686  6,131,070 
Repairs and maintenance 7,142,978  10,295,874 
Taxes and licenses 5,589,490  1,969,356 
   
(Forward)   
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 2019 2018 
Insurance P=5,529,295  P=7,010,451 
Light and water 5,392,774 4,216,964 
Interest expense 5,391,811  5,959,535 
Provision for probable losses (Notes 5, 8, 11 and 12) 3,596,596  1,696,502 
Pension expense (Note 25) 2,748,654  2,964,267 
Bank charges 1,246,271   923,966  
Entertainment, amusement and recreation 1,210,395   492,604  
Membership dues 1,065,723  1,041,907 
Research and documentation 44,734   135,801  
Impairment Expense – 4,871,495 
Miscellaneous 1,830,662   16,378,189  
 P=600,736,357 P=529,748,899 

 
 
21.  Leases 
 

The Association as a Lessee 
Short-term and low-value leases 
The Association leases vehicles, IT equipment and office spaces.  The lease contracts are for the 
periods ranging from six (6) months to two (2) years and are renewable upon mutual agreement 
between the Company and the lessors such as CARD Leasing and Finance Corporation and other 
third-party lessors.  

 
Rent expense amounted to P=23.04 million and P=22.65 million in 2019 and 2018, respectively.  Rent 
expense in 2019 pertains to expenses from short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. 

 
As of December 31, 2019, and 2018, the Company has no contingent rent payable. 

 
Long-term leases 
The Association leases vehicles, IT equipment and office spaces.  The lease contracts are for the 
periods ranging from one (1) year and five (5) months to two (2) years  and are renewable upon 
mutual agreement between the Company and the lessors such as CARD Bank, Inc., CARD Inc., 
CARD Leasing and Finance Corporation, CARD MRI Development Institute, CARD MRI Property 
Holdings, CARD SME Bank and third-party lessors. 
 
The movements in lease liabilities follows: 
 

 Balance at beginning of year P=1,916,179 
 Additions 8,252,898 
 Interest expense 422,093 
 Payments (5,789,436) 
 Balance at end of year P=4,801,734 
   

 
In 2019, the Association entered into new lease contracts with CLFC and other third-party lessor for 
the lease of office space and vehicles.  These contracts have terms ranging from one (1) year and five 
(5) months to two (2) years. 
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 2019 2018 
Insurance P=5,529,295  P=7,010,451 
Light and water 5,392,774 4,216,964 
Interest expense 5,391,811  5,959,535 
Provision for probable losses (Notes 5, 8, 11 and 12) 3,596,596  1,696,502 
Pension expense (Note 25) 2,748,654  2,964,267 
Bank charges 1,246,271   923,966  
Entertainment, amusement and recreation 1,210,395   492,604  
Membership dues 1,065,723  1,041,907 
Research and documentation 44,734   135,801  
Impairment Expense – 4,871,495 
Miscellaneous 1,830,662   16,378,189  
 P=600,736,357 P=529,748,899 

 
 
21.  Leases 
 

The Association as a Lessee 
Short-term and low-value leases 
The Association leases vehicles, IT equipment and office spaces.  The lease contracts are for the 
periods ranging from six (6) months to two (2) years and are renewable upon mutual agreement 
between the Company and the lessors such as CARD Leasing and Finance Corporation and other 
third-party lessors.  

 
Rent expense amounted to P=23.04 million and P=22.65 million in 2019 and 2018, respectively.  Rent 
expense in 2019 pertains to expenses from short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. 

 
As of December 31, 2019, and 2018, the Company has no contingent rent payable. 

 
Long-term leases 
The Association leases vehicles, IT equipment and office spaces.  The lease contracts are for the 
periods ranging from one (1) year and five (5) months to two (2) years  and are renewable upon 
mutual agreement between the Company and the lessors such as CARD Bank, Inc., CARD Inc., 
CARD Leasing and Finance Corporation, CARD MRI Development Institute, CARD MRI Property 
Holdings, CARD SME Bank and third-party lessors. 
 
The movements in lease liabilities follows: 
 

 Balance at beginning of year P=1,916,179 
 Additions 8,252,898 
 Interest expense 422,093 
 Payments (5,789,436) 
 Balance at end of year P=4,801,734 
   

 
In 2019, the Association entered into new lease contracts with CLFC and other third-party lessor for 
the lease of office space and vehicles.  These contracts have terms ranging from one (1) year and five 
(5) months to two (2) years. 
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The following are the amounts recognized in statement of income: 
 

 2019 
Lease payments relating to short-term leases and leases with 

low value assets P=23,041,101 
Depreciation expense of ROU assets included in property and 

equipment 5,705,313 
Interest expense on lease liabilities 422,093 
Total amount recognized in statement of income P=29,168,507 

 
Shown below is the maturity analysis of the undiscounted lease payments: 
 

 2019 2018 
Within one year P=9,700,422 P=17,913,653 
Beyond one to two years 851,976 32,515,060 
 P=10,552,398 P=50,428,713 

 
The Association as a lessor 
The Association entered into operating lease agreements with its related parties with terms ranging 
from three (3) to five (5) years.  Rent income included in the statements of comprehensive income 
under “rental income” account in 2019 and 2018 amounted to P=16.24 million and P=14.56 million, 
respectively.   

 
As of December 31, the amount of future minimum rentals receivable based on the remaining term of 
the existing lease contracts are as follow: 

 
 2019 2018 
Within 1 year P=13,015,653 P=17,913,653 
More than 1 year but not more than 5 years 13,858,768 32,515,060 
 P=26,874,421 P=50,428,713 

 
 
22. Related Party Transactions 
 

Parties are related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or 
exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions, and 
the parties are subject to common control or common significant influence.  Related parties may be 
individuals or corporate entities. 

 
The significant transactions of the Association with related parties in the normal course of business 
are as follow: 

 
2019 

Category Amount Outstanding Nature  Terms Conditions 
Associates      
CMIT      
Account receivable P=3,781,863 P=- Unremitted Collection of members  

(staff contribution), share on 
electricity and other expense 
incurred 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;  
no impairment 

Accounts payable 699 - Unpaid expenses On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured; 
 no impairment 
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2019 
Category Amount Outstanding Nature  Terms Conditions 
Rental Income 250,596  Income received from office space 

rentals 
On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured; 
 no impairment 

      
BoTICARD      
Account receivable P=601,752 P=18,346 Unremitted Collection of members  

(Staff contribution) and others 
expense incurred 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;   
no impairment 

Accounts payable 230,822 95,312 Unpaid medicines and others 
expenses incurred 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;   
no impairment 

Rental Income 420,687     
CPMI      
Account receivable 50,031,520 2,825,892 Advance payment for claims to 

members who avail CPMI products 
and other related expenses  

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;   
no impairment 

Accounts payable 586,244,351 429,049 Unpaid  Premiums uncollected 
from CPMI products 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;   
no impairment 

Rental Income 133,368     
      

Affiliates      
      

MNLI      
Accounts receivable 6,000 -  On-demand; 

noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;    
no impairment 

Accounts payable 394,355 386,197 Unpaid expenses  incurred in 
MNLI Product 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;   
no impairment 

      
CaMIA      
Account receivable 7,547,061 565,119 Advance payment of claims to 

members who avail CaMIA 
products and other related expenses 
incurred 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;  
no impairment 

Accounts payable 
 (Note 15) 

12,616,709 1,338,860 Unpaid  Premiums uncollected 
from CaMIA products 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;  
no impairment 

Rental Income 389,053     
      

CMDI      
Account receivable 364,017 5,480 Unremitted Collection of Staff 

contribution & others expense 
incurred 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;   
no impairment 

Accounts payable 110,557 38,202 Unpaid expenses for administration 
and training cost of staff & 
coordinators 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;  
no impairment 

      
CARD Inc.      
Account receivable 236,123,800 1,756,075 Unremitted Collection of members  

(Staff contribution) and others 
expense incurred 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;  
no impairment 

Collection fee payable 264,041,912 2,668,792 Unpaid claims and expenses 
incurred 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;   
no impairment 

Rental Income 365,364     
      

(Forward)      
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2019 
Category Amount Outstanding Nature  Terms Conditions 
CARD  SME Bank Inc.      
Cash and cash 
equivalents 

 P=32,014,651 On-demand; 
interest at 1.50% 
for regular savings 
deposit 

 Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Account receivable P=65,857,689 5,511,075 Unremitted Collection of members  
(Staff contribution) and others 
expense incurred 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Collection fee payable 46,289,928 1,750,313 Unpaid claims and expenses 
incurred 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Rental Income 4,841,300     
      

BDSFI      
Account receivable 13,520 300 Unremitted Collection of Staff 

contribution 
On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

CARD EMPC      
Account receivable - 901,428 Unremitted Collection of members  

(Staff contribution) and others 
expenses 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Accounts payable 43,320 - Unpaid Claims & expenses 
incurred 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

      
Rizal Bank Inc.      
Cash and cash 
equivalents 

24,742,984    

Account receivable 22,652,693 5,439,389 Unremitted Collection of members  
(Staff contribution) and others 
expense incurred 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Collection fee payable 18,717,278 (330,594) Unpaid claims and expenses 
incurred 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Rental Income 1,987,727     
      

CLFC      
Loans receivable  – Loans made by CARD LFC  Interest at 4.50% 

per annum 
Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Account receivable 114,532 5,136 Unremitted Collection of members  
(Staff contribution) and others 
expenses 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Accounts payable 1,501,585 1,347,445 Unpaid expenses  incurred in 
leasing  

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Income from Financial 
Assistance 

–  Income from Financial Income 
from Financial Assistance 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

 

      
CARD Bank Inc.      
Cash and cash 
equivalents 

73,174,694    

Account receivable 185,749,445 6,826,641 Unremitted Collection of staff 
contributions, rental for year end  
and other expenses incurred 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Collection fee payable 63,474,165 3,303,018 Unpaid claims and expenses 
incurred 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Rental Income 7,801,758     
      

CMPHI      
Loans receivable  15,000,000 Loan granted to CMPH on May 16, 

2019 
3-year term; interest 
at 5.11%  

Unsecured;        
no impairment 
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2018 
Category Amount Outstanding Nature Terms Conditions 

      
Associates      
      
CMIT      
Account receivable P=479,392 P=21 Un-remitted contributions for 

staff and shares on expenses 
On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Accounts payable 170,077 38,441 Unpaid expenses On-demand; 
Noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured; 
no impairment 

Rental Income 236,908 – Income received from office 
space rentals 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

BoTICARD      
Account receivable 161,718 14,804 Un-paid billing re: water and 

electricity. 
On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Accounts payable 5,058,885 4,959,022 Unpaid medicines and other 
expenses 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Rental Income 306,386 – Income received from office 
space rentals 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

      
CPMI      
Account receivable 77,650,271 2,882,225 Unpaid reimbursement on claims 

for members who avail CPMI 
products  

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Accounts payable 926,675,124 888,568 Unpaid  Premiums for CPMI 
products 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Rental Income 78,417 – Income received from office 
space rentals 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Affiliates      
      
MNLI      
Accounts receivable 100,641 6,565  On-demand; 

Noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured; 
no impairment 

Accounts payable 89,986 26,216 Unpaid billings from MNLI re: 
products 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

      
CaMIA      
Account receivable 6,591,829 463,774 Unpaid reimbursement on claims 

for members who avail CaMIA 
products   and others expenses 
incurred 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Accounts payable  12,221,959 1,251,113 Unpaid  Premiums for CaMIA 
products 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Rental Income 359,579 – Income received from office 
space rentals 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

      
CMDI      
Account receivable 151,243 45,272 Unpaid billing re: electricity On-demand; 

noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Accounts payable 547,738 45,070 Unpaid expenses for 
administration and training cost 
of staff & coordinators 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

(Forward) 
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2018 
Category Amount Outstanding Nature Terms Conditions 

      
Associates      
      
CMIT      
Account receivable P=479,392 P=21 Un-remitted contributions for 

staff and shares on expenses 
On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Accounts payable 170,077 38,441 Unpaid expenses On-demand; 
Noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured; 
no impairment 

Rental Income 236,908 – Income received from office 
space rentals 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

BoTICARD      
Account receivable 161,718 14,804 Un-paid billing re: water and 

electricity. 
On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Accounts payable 5,058,885 4,959,022 Unpaid medicines and other 
expenses 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Rental Income 306,386 – Income received from office 
space rentals 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

      
CPMI      
Account receivable 77,650,271 2,882,225 Unpaid reimbursement on claims 

for members who avail CPMI 
products  

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Accounts payable 926,675,124 888,568 Unpaid  Premiums for CPMI 
products 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Rental Income 78,417 – Income received from office 
space rentals 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Affiliates      
      
MNLI      
Accounts receivable 100,641 6,565  On-demand; 

Noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured; 
no impairment 

Accounts payable 89,986 26,216 Unpaid billings from MNLI re: 
products 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

      
CaMIA      
Account receivable 6,591,829 463,774 Unpaid reimbursement on claims 

for members who avail CaMIA 
products   and others expenses 
incurred 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Accounts payable  12,221,959 1,251,113 Unpaid  Premiums for CaMIA 
products 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Rental Income 359,579 – Income received from office 
space rentals 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

      
CMDI      
Account receivable 151,243 45,272 Unpaid billing re: electricity On-demand; 

noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Accounts payable 547,738 45,070 Unpaid expenses for 
administration and training cost 
of staff & coordinators 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

(Forward) 
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2018 
Category Amount Outstanding Nature Terms Conditions 

CARD Inc.      
Account receivable P=196,688,763 P=690,706 Unremitted collection from 

members contributions 
On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Collection fee payable 227,565,026 1,624,525 Amount of claims and expenses 
is much higher than the collected 
contributions 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Rental Income 350,520 – Income received from office 
space rentals 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

CARD  SME Bank Inc.      
Cash and cash 
equivalents 

 11,309,942 Various On-demand; 
interest at 1.50% 
for regular 
savings 
deposit 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Deposits 1,382,489,097     
Withdrawals 1,384,337,441     
Account receivable 11,357,391 58,347 Unremitted collection from 

members contributions 
On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Collection fee payable 17,881,156 6,717 Amount of claims and expenses 
is much higher than the collected 
contributions 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Rental Income 4,621,241 – Income received from office 
space rentals 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Interest Income 318,608 – Income from deposited made 
(including in cash and cash 
equivalents) 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

      
BDSFI      
Account receivable 3,455 – Uncollected of staff contribution On-demand; 

noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Accounts payable – – Unpaid billing re: repacking and 
delivery of relief goods 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

CARD EMPC      
Account receivable 834,022 769,250 unremitted loan redemption 

premium and health 
reimbursement of staff 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Accounts payable 19,519 - Unpaid claims benefit of staff for 
his loans.  

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

      
CARD MRI RIZAL 
BANK INC. 

  
 

  

Cash and cash 
equivalents 
 

 7,827,561 Various On-demand; 
interest at 1.50% 
for regular 
savings 
deposit 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Deposits 636,469,311     
Withdrawals 632,719,209     
Account receivable 7,641,678 638,565 Unremitted collection from 

members contributions 
On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Collection fee payable 36,272,970 37,624 Amount of claims and expenses 
is much higher than the collected 
contributions 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Interest Income 171,666 – Income from deposited made 
(including in cash and cash 
equivalents) 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Rental Income 1,858,653 – Income received from office 
space rentals 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

      
(Forward)      

83AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



- 47 - 
 
 

*SGVFSM003201* 

2018 
Category Amount Outstanding Nature Terms Conditions 

CLFC      
Account receivable  

P=61,713 
 

P=48,821 
 
Unremitted loan redemption 
premium 

 
On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

 
Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Accounts payable 7,901,309 1,676 Unpaid billing re: supplies  On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

      
CARD Bank Inc.      
Cash and cash 
equivalents 

 
 

34,631,930 
 

Various 
 
 

On-demand; 
interest at 1.50% 
for regular 
savings 
deposit 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Deposits 4,000,726,698     
Withdrawals 632,719,209     
Account receivable 59,649,361 696,250 Unremitted collection from 

members contributions 
On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Collection fee payable 
 
 

56,037,460 
 

391,117 
 
 

Amount of claims and expenses 
is much higher than the collected 
contributions 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Rental Income 6,752,245 – Income received from office 
space rentals 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Interest Income 830,396  Income from deposited made 
(including in cash and cash 
equivalents) 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

 
 
23. Income Tax 
 

The provision for income tax consists of: 
 

 2019 2018 
Current tax P=720,767 P=298,988 
Final tax 75,049,635 69,062,398 
Provision for income tax P=75,770,402 P=69,361,386 

 
The reconciliation of the income tax expense computed based on the excess of revenue over expenses 
before tax at the statutory income tax rate to the provision for income tax in the statements of 
comprehensive income follows: 

 
 2019 2018 
Statutory income tax P=381,633,349 P=290,422,780 
Add (deduct) the tax effect of:   
 Gross premiums on insurance contracts (1,305,625,998) (1,136,459,365) 
 Gross change in insurance contract liabilities 456,114,993 478,025,476 
 Gross insurance contract benefits and claims 

Paid 515,836,791 407,095,387 
 General and administrative expenses 176,812,407 158,924,670 
 Equity in net earnings of associates (47,153,296) (48,954,110) 
 Dividend income (50,965,723) (37,274,796) 
 Interest income subjected to final tax (37,032,108) (32,194,555) 
 Interest income not subjected to final tax (5,506,154) (5,277,656) 
 Rental income (4,870,553) (4,077,906) 
 Other income (3,473,053) (866,647) 
 Surrender charge (253) (1,892) 
Provision for income tax P=75,770,402 P=69,361,386 
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2018 
Category Amount Outstanding Nature Terms Conditions 

CLFC      
Account receivable  

P=61,713 
 

P=48,821 
 
Unremitted loan redemption 
premium 

 
On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

 
Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Accounts payable 7,901,309 1,676 Unpaid billing re: supplies  On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

      
CARD Bank Inc.      
Cash and cash 
equivalents 

 
 

34,631,930 
 

Various 
 
 

On-demand; 
interest at 1.50% 
for regular 
savings 
deposit 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Deposits 4,000,726,698     
Withdrawals 632,719,209     
Account receivable 59,649,361 696,250 Unremitted collection from 

members contributions 
On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Collection fee payable 
 
 

56,037,460 
 

391,117 
 
 

Amount of claims and expenses 
is much higher than the collected 
contributions 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Rental Income 6,752,245 – Income received from office 
space rentals 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

Interest Income 830,396  Income from deposited made 
(including in cash and cash 
equivalents) 

On-demand; 
noninterest-
bearing 

Unsecured;        
no impairment 

 
 
23. Income Tax 
 

The provision for income tax consists of: 
 

 2019 2018 
Current tax P=720,767 P=298,988 
Final tax 75,049,635 69,062,398 
Provision for income tax P=75,770,402 P=69,361,386 

 
The reconciliation of the income tax expense computed based on the excess of revenue over expenses 
before tax at the statutory income tax rate to the provision for income tax in the statements of 
comprehensive income follows: 

 
 2019 2018 
Statutory income tax P=381,633,349 P=290,422,780 
Add (deduct) the tax effect of:   
 Gross premiums on insurance contracts (1,305,625,998) (1,136,459,365) 
 Gross change in insurance contract liabilities 456,114,993 478,025,476 
 Gross insurance contract benefits and claims 

Paid 515,836,791 407,095,387 
 General and administrative expenses 176,812,407 158,924,670 
 Equity in net earnings of associates (47,153,296) (48,954,110) 
 Dividend income (50,965,723) (37,274,796) 
 Interest income subjected to final tax (37,032,108) (32,194,555) 
 Interest income not subjected to final tax (5,506,154) (5,277,656) 
 Rental income (4,870,553) (4,077,906) 
 Other income (3,473,053) (866,647) 
 Surrender charge (253) (1,892) 
Provision for income tax P=75,770,402 P=69,361,386 
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24. Notes to Statement of Cash Flows 
 

The Association’s principal noncash investing activity in 2019 pertains to additions to ROU assets 
amounting to P=8.44 million as of December 31, 2019. 
 
In 2018, noncash activity pertains to the transfer of advances for future stock subscription from AFS 
financial assets to loans and receivables amounting to  
P=6.46 million (see Notes 8 and 9).  

 
 
25. Employee Benefits 
 

The Association, CARD Bank, CARD Inc., CARD SME Bank, CAMIA, CARD BDSFI, CMIT, 
BotiCARD, CMDI, MLNI, RBI, CLFC, RISE and EMPC maintain a funded and formal 
noncontributory defined benefit retirement plan - the CARD MRI Multi-Employer Retirement Plan 
(MERP) - covering all of their regular employees and CARD Group Employees’ Retirement Plan 
(Hybrid Plan) applicable to employees hired on or after July 1, 2016.  MERP is valued using the 
projected unit cost method and is financed solely by the Parent Company and its related parties.   

MERP and the Hybrid Plan are compliant with the requirements of RA No. 7641 (Retirement Law).  
MERP provides lump sum benefits equivalent to up to 120% of final salary for every year of credited 
service, a fraction of at least six (6) months being considered as one whole year, upon retirement, 
death, total and permanent disability, or voluntary separation after completion of at least one year of 
service with the participating companies.   

The Hybrid Plan provides a retirement benefit equal to 100% of the member’s employer accumulated 
value (the Parent Company’s contributions of 8% plan salary to Fund A plus credited earnings) and 
100% of the member’s employee accumulated value (member’s own contributions up to 10% of plan 
salary to Fund B plus credited earnings), if any.  Provided that in no case shall 100% of the employer 
accumulated value in Fund A be less than 100% of plan salary for every year of credited service. 

 
Total retirement expense in related to Hybrid Plan amounted to P=0.99 million in 2019 and ₱0.91 
million in 2018. 

 
The latest actuarial valuation report covers reporting period as of December 31, 2019. 
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The principal actuarial assumptions used in determining retirement liability for the Association’s 
retirement plan are shown below: 

 
 2019 2018 
Discount rate 5.54% 7.70% 
Salary increase rate 5.00% 5.00% 
Average remaining working lives 31.8 years 31.1 years 

 
The fair value of net plan assets by each class is as follows: 

 
 2019 2018 
Investment in bonds P=45,854,646 P=47,334,738 
Cash and cash equivalents 43,913,402 42,001,779 
Loans receivable 8,262,907 − 
Investment in mutual funds 501,902 − 
Others 1,764,114 5,219,491 
 P=100,296,971 P=94,556,008 

 
The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on reasonably possible changes of each 
significant assumption on the defined benefit obligation as of December 31, 2019, assuming if all 
other assumptions were held constant: 

 
 Effect on defined pension plan 

 Increase (decrease) 2019 2018 
Discount rate +100 basis points (P=4,612,127) (P=3,002,726) 
 -100 basis points 5,595,562 3,635,936 
Future salary increase +100 basis points 5,568,815 3,700,254 
 -100 basis points (4,674,112) (3,099,592) 

 
The Association expects to contribute P=5.29 million to the defined pension plan in 2020. 

 
As of December 31, 2019, the maturity profiles of undiscounted benefit payments of the Association 
follow: 

 
Less than one year  P=1,896,770 
More than one year to five years  9,969,794 
More than five years  20,219,723 
  P= 32,086,287 

 
The average duration of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period is 
13.1 years. 

 
 
26. Management of Insurance and Financial Risks 
 

Governance Framework 
The Association has established a risk management function with clear terms of reference and with 
the responsibility for developing policies on market, credit, liquidity, insurance and operational risk.  
It also supports the effective implementation of policies at the overall association and individual 
business unit levels.  
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The policies define the Association’s identification of risk and its interpretation, limit structure to 
ensure the appropriate quality and diversification of assets, alignment of underwriting and reinsurance 
strategies to the corporate goals and specify reporting requirements. 

 
Regulatory Framework 
Regulators are interested in protecting the rights of the members and maintain close vigil to ensure 
that the Association is satisfactorily managing affairs for the member’s benefit.  At the same time, the 
regulators are also interested in ensuring that the Association maintains appropriate solvency position 
to meet liabilities arising from claims and that the risk levels are at acceptable levels. 

 
The operations of the Association are subject to the regulatory requirements of the IC.  Such 
regulations not only prescribe approval and monitoring of activities but also impose certain restrictive 
provisions (e.g., margin of solvency to minimize the risk of default and insolvency on the part of the 
insurance companies to meet the unforeseen liabilities as these arise, minimum guaranty fund, risk-
based capital requirements). 

 
Guaranty fund 
As a mutual benefit association, IC requires the Association to possess a guaranty fund of  
P=5.00 million.  This minimum amount shall be maintained at all times and it must be increased by an 
amount equivalent to 5.00% of the Association’s gross premium collections until the guaranty fund 
reaches 12.50% of the minimum paid up capital for domestic life insurance companies or  
P=125.00 million.  As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Association has a total of P=225.06 and  
P=137.86 million, respectively, representing guaranty fund which is deposited with the IC. 

 
Risk-based capital requirements (RBC) 
On December 8, 2006, the IC issued IMC NO. 11-2006 adopting the RBC framework for the mutual 
benefit associations to establish the required amounts of capital to be maintained by entities in 
relation to their investment and insurance risks.  Every mutual benefit association is annually required 
to maintain a minimum RBC ratio of 100.00% and not fail the trend test.  Failure to meet the 
minimum RBC ratio shall subject the insurance entity to the corresponding regulatory intervention 
which has been defined at various levels. 
 
The RBC ratio shall be calculated as member’s equity divided by the RBC requirement whereas, 
members’ equity is defined as admitted assets minus all liabilities inclusive of actuarial reserves and 
other policy obligations. 
 
The following table shows how the RBC ratio was determined by the Association based on its 
calculation: 

 
 2019 2018 
Member’s equity P=4,576,314,812 P=3,424,570,960 
RBC requirement 1,107,625,917 873,509,195 
RBC ratio 413.16% 392.05% 

 
The final amount of the RBC ratio can be determined only after the accounts of the Association have 
been examined by the IC specifically as to admitted and non-admitted assets as defined under the 
same Code. 
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Standard chart of accounts  
IC has released Circular No. 2014-41 containing the standard chart of accounts for all new and 
existing mutual benefit associations doing business in the Philippines.  This circular is in line with the 
requirements of SRC Rule 68, Section 189 of the Amended Insurance Code, and the current accounting 
standards in the Philippines.  This circular is effective immediately and should be used in the annual 
statement filed with IC starting calendar year 2014.  In 2019, the Association changed the account title 
for the collected contributions from the members under the basic and optional funds, respectively, from 
‘Gross premiums on insurance contracts’ to ‘Members’ Contributions” and “Premiums – Micro”. Said 
accounts still conform with this circular. 
 
Valuation of reserves 
IC has released Circular No. 2016-66 on the Valuation Standards for Life Insurance Policy Reserves 
which provides a change in the basis of valuation of the life insurance policy reserves from Net 
Premium Valuation (NPV) to Gross Premium Valuation (GPV).  Whereas, the methods and 
assumptions shall be in accordance with the internationally accepted actuarial standards and consider 
the generally accepted actuarial principles concerning financial reporting framework promulgated by 
the Actuarial Society of the Philippines (ASP) which now considers other assumptions such as 
morbidity, lapse and/or persistency, expenses, non-guaranteed benefits and margin for adverse 
deviation.   This valuation method is applicable to the Association’s golden life insurance product 
which takes effect beginning January 1, 2017.  However, in 2018 per advisory no. 6-2018 as released 
by IC, the Association shift back to NPV as the implementation of GPV for mutual benefit 
associations (MBAs) is meantime deferred as there appears a pressing need to issue a new Financial 
Reporting Framework for MBAs which shall be implemented simultaneously to avoid asset-liability 
mismatch.  As a result of Advisory No. 6-2018, the Association retrospectively changed its insurance 
remeasurement policy from GPV to NPV.  
 
The main risks arising from the Association’s financial instruments follow: 

 
Insurance Risk 
The principal risk the Association faces under insurance contracts is that the actual claims and benefit 
payments or the timing thereof, differ from expectations.  This is influenced by the frequency of 
claims, severity of claims, actual benefits paid are greater than originally estimated and subsequent 
development of long-term claims.  Therefore, the objective of the Association is to ensure that 
sufficient reserves are available to cover these liabilities.  

 
The above risk exposure is mitigated by diversification across a large portfolio of insurance contracts 
and geographical areas.  The variability of risks is also improved by careful selection and 
implementation of underwriting strategy and guidelines, as well as the use of reinsurance 
arrangements for the loan redemption fund.  Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are estimated in a 
manner consistent with the outstanding claims provision and are in accordance with the reinsurance 
contract.  Although the Association has reinsurance arrangements, it is not relieved of its direct 
obligations to its policyholders and thus, a credit exposure exists with respect to ceded insurance, to 
the extent that any reinsurer is unable to meet its obligations assumed under such reinsurance 
agreements.  The Association’s placement of reinsurance is diversified such that it is neither 
dependent on a single reinsurer nor are the operations of the Association substantially dependent upon 
any single reinsurance contract. 
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Underwriting risk 
Underwriting risk represents the exposure to loss resulting from actual policy experience adversely 
deviating from assumptions made in the product pricing.  Underwriting risks are brought about by a 
combination of the following: 

 
 Mortality risk - risk of loss arising due to policyholder death experience being different than 

expected.  
 Morbidity risk - risk of loss arising due to policyholder health experience being different than 

expected. 
 Investment return risk - risk of loss arising from actual returns being different than expected.  
 Expense risk - risk of loss arising from expense experience being different than expected. 
 Policyholder decision risk - risk of loss arising due to policyholder experiences (lapses and 

surrenders) being different than expected. 
 

These risks do not vary significantly in relation to the location of the risk insured by the Association, 
type of risk insured and by industry.  Undue concentration by amounts could have an impact on the 
severity of benefit payments on a portfolio basis. 

 
The Association’s underwriting strategy is designed to ensure that risks are well diversified in terms 
of type of risk and level of insured benefits.  Underwriting limits are in place to enforce appropriate 
risk selection criteria.  For example, the Association has the right not to renew individual policies, it 
can impose deductibles and it has the right to reject the payment of fraudulent claims.  Insurance 
contracts also entitle the Association to pursue third parties for payment of some or all cost.  The 
Association further enforces a policy of actively managing and prompt pursuing of claims, in order to 
reduce its exposure to unpredictable future developments that can negatively impact the Association. 

 
The key assumptions to which the estimation of liabilities is particularly sensitive are as follows: 

 
Mortality and morbidity rates 
Assumptions are based on standard industry and national tables, according to the type of contract 
written, reflecting recent historical experience and which are adjusted where appropriate to reflect the 
Association’s own experiences.  An appropriate but not excessive prudent allowance is made for 
expected future improvements. 

 
An increase in rates will lead to a larger number of claims and claims could occur sooner than 
anticipated, which will increase the expenditure and decrease the funds of the Association. 

 
Investment return 
The weighted average rate of return is derived based on a model portfolio that is assumed to back 
liabilities, consistent with the long-term asset allocation strategy.  These estimates are based on 
current market returns as well as expectations about future economic and financial developments. 

An increase in investment return would lead to a reduction in expenditure and an increase in the funds 
of the Association. 

 
Expenses 
Operating expenses assumptions reflect the projected costs of maintaining and servicing in force 
policies and associated overhead expenses.  The current level of expenses is taken as an appropriate 
expense base, adjusted for expected expense inflation adjustments if appropriate.  An increase in the 
level of expenses would result in an increase in expenditure thereby reducing the funds of the 
Association. 
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Lapse and surrender rates 
Lapses relate to the termination of policies due to nonpayment of premiums.  Surrenders relate to the 
voluntary termination of policies by policyholders.  Policy termination assumptions are determined 
using statistical measures based on Association’s experience and vary by product type, policy 
duration and sales trends. 

 
An increase in lapse rates early in the life of the policy would tend to reduce the funds of the 
Association, but later increases are broadly neutral in effect. 
 
Discount rate 
Life insurance liabilities are determined as the sum of the discounted value of the expected benefits 
and future administration expenses directly related to the contract, less the discounted value of the 
expected theoretical premiums that would be required to meet these future cash outflows.  Discount 
rates are based on current industry risk rates, adjusted for the Association’s own risk exposure. 

 
A decrease in the discount rate will increase the value of the liability. 

 
Sensitivities 
The analysis below is performed for a reasonable possible movement in key assumptions with all 
other assumptions held constant, on the statement of revenue and expenses.  The correlation of 
assumptions will have a significant effect in determining the ultimate claims liabilities.  It should also 
be stressed that these assumptions are nonlinear and larger or smaller impacts cannot easily be 
gleaned from these results.  Sensitivity information will also vary according to the current economic 
assumptions, mainly due to the impact of changes to both the intrinsic cost and time value of options 
and guarantees.  

 
2019 

 

Increase of 1.00% 
on discount rate 

and decrease 
of 25.00% on 

mortality rate 

Increase of 1.00% 
on discount rate 

and decrease 
of 25.00% on 

mortality rate 
Increase (decrease) on liabilities P=7,688,000,118 (P=399,369,648) 
Increase (decrease) on revenue (7,688,000,118) 399,369,648 

 
2018 

 

Increase of 1.00% 
on discount rate 

and decrease 
of 25.00% on 

mortality rate 

Increase of 1.00% 
on discount rate 

and decrease 
of 25.00% on 

mortality rate 
Increase (decrease) on liabilities P=6,094,577,512 (P=418,615,574) 
Increase (decrease) on revenue (6,094,577,512) 418,615,574 

 
The sensitivity analyses consider upward movements in the discount rates and upward and downward 
movements in mortality and morbidity rates.  These do not necessarily represent management's view 
of expected future rate changes. 

 
Fair value hierarchy 
The Association uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of its 
financial instruments and other non-financial instruments by valuation technique: 

 
Level 1:  Quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
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Level 2:  Other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair 

value are observable, either directly or indirectly. 
Level 3:  Techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that 

are not based on observable market data. 
 
Financial instruments 
The Association’s principal financial instruments are cash and cash equivalents, loans and 
receivables, AFS financial assets, HTM investments, accounts payable and accrued expenses.  The 
main purpose of these financial instruments is to finance their operations.   

 
The following table sets forth the carrying values and estimated fair values of financial assets and 
liabilities recognized as of December 31, 2019 and 2018: 

 
 2019 2018 
 Carrying Value Fair Value Carrying Value Fair Value 
Financial Assets     
Cash and cash equivalents P=547,505,284 P=547,505,284 P=315,295,952 P=315,295,952 
HTM investments  15,558,075,386 15,849,025,083 12,689,868,405 11,586,000,495 
Loans and Receivables     
 Short-term investments 276,551,385 276,551,385 119,715,969 119,715,969 
 Long-term investments 854,375,594 854,375,594 854,375,594 728,560,686 
 Receivables     

  Accounts receivables 29,119,251 25,961,427 8,545,024 8,545,024 
  Loans receivable 19,960,000 19,960,000 6,460,000 5,192,010 
  Other receivables 142,071,067 141,773,004 42,524,752 42,524,752 

AFS financial assets     
 Quoted 537,128,813 537,128,813 451,542,081 451,542,081 
 Unquoted 1,108,241,463 1,108,241,463 819,115,760 819,115,760 
Accrued interest receivable 220,407,218 220,407,218 149,918,199 149,918,199 

 P=19,293,435,461 P=19,580,929,271 P=15,457,361,736 P=14,226,410,928 
Financial Liabilities     
Accounts payable and accrued 

expenses  P=45,422,277 P=45,422,277 P=59,488,522 P=59,488,522 
 

Due to the short-term nature of transactions, the carrying amounts of financial instruments such as 
cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, receivables except loan receivable, quoted equity 
securities classified as AFS financial assets, accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate 
their fair values. 

 
For unquoted equity investments classified as AFS, these investments are carried at a reliable fair 
value. 

 
For loans receivable and long-term investments classified under loans and receivable, fair value are 
based on discounted value of future cash flows using applicable rates for similar types of instruments.  
The discount rate used ranged from 4.00% to 6.00% and 4.00% to 6.00% as of December 31, 2019 
and 2018, respectively. 

 
For investments in mutual fund companies under AFS investments, fair values are established by 
reference to the published net asset value. 

 
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the fair value of the investments in mutual funds designated as 
AFS financial assets of the Association amounted to P=464.07 million and P=421.61 million, 
respectively.  
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As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the investment in Unit Investment Trust Fund (UITF) with BPI 
Bayanihan Balanced Fund amounted to ₱73.06 and P=29.93 million, respectively. 
 
The Association classifies AFS financial assets under Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy, except for the 
unquoted equity securities that do not have quoted market prices in an active market which are 
measured using dividend yield model.  During the reporting period ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, 
there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements, and no transfers into and 
out of Level 3 fair value measurements. 
 
Impact on fair value of level 3 financial instruments measured at fair value of changes to key 
assumptions 
 
Starting in 2018, the Association determined the fair value of its unquoted equity securities classified 
as AFS financial assets using the dividend yield model.  This method are based on inputs other than 
quoted prices that are observable for the asset such as weighted cost of capital. 
 
The assumptions above were used in the “Base Case” projections.  These assumptions were 
individually changed (while holding other assumptions steady as in the Base Case) and the resulting 
valuations derived, to show sensitivity of the valuation to various changes in assumptions. 

 
  Increase (decrease) in fair value 
Significant Unobservable 
 Input 

Movement in 
basis points 2019 2018 

Weighted cost of capital +500% (P=83,494,663) (P=39,019,418) 
 -500% 98,051,182 43,043,355 

 
Financial Risks 
The Association is exposed to financial risk through its financial assets, financial liabilities and 
insurance liabilities.  In particular, the key financial risk that the Association is exposed to is that the 
proceeds from its financial assets may not be sufficient to fund the obligations arising from its 
insurance contracts.  The most important components of this financial risk are credit risk, liquidity 
risk and market risk. 

These risks arise from open positions in interest rate, currency and debt securities products, all of 
which are exposed to general and specific market movements. 

 
Credit risk 
This is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party 
by failing to discharge an obligation. 

 
The following policies and procedures are in place to mitigate the Association’s exposure to credit 
risk: 

 
a. The credit risk in respect of customer balances, incurred on non-payment of premiums or 

contributions will only persist during the grace period specified in the policy document or when 
the policy is either paid up or terminated. 
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b. Reinsurance is placed with highly rated counterparties and concentration of risk is avoided by 
following policy guidelines in respect of counterparties’ limits that are set each year and are 
subject to regular reviews.  At each reporting date, management performs an assessment of 
creditworthiness of reinsurers and update the reinsurance purchase strategy, ascertaining suitable 
allowance for impairment. 

 
c. The Association sets the maximum amounts and limits that may be advanced to corporate 

counterparties by reference to their long-term credit ratings. 
 

The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the statements of 
financial position. 

 
 2019 2018 
Financial Assets   
Cash and cash equivalents (excluding cash on 

hand amounting P=0.22 million and  
P=0.11 million in 2019 and 2018, respectively) P=547,288,384 P=315,181,107 

HTM investments 15,558,075,386 12,689,868,405 
Loans and Receivables   
 Short-term investments 276,551,385 119,715,969 
 Long-term investment 854,375,594 854,375,594 
 Receivables   
  Accounts receivable 29,119,251 8,545,024 
  Loans receivable 19,960,000 6,460,000 
  Advances for future stocks subscriptions 121,273,000 − 
  Other receivables 20,798,067 42,524,752 
Available-for-sale financial assets   
 Unquoted 1,108,241,463 819,115,760 
 Quoted 537,128,813 451,542,080 
Accrued income 220,407,218 149,918,199 
 P=19,293,218,561 P=15,457,246,890 

 
The table below provides information regarding the credit risk exposure of the Association by 
classifying assets according to the Association’s credit ratings of counterparties as of  
December 31, 2019 and 2018. 

 
2019 

 Neither Past-Due nor Impaired 
Past Due and 

Impaired 

 

 
Investment 

Grade 
Non-investment 

Grade Total 
Financial Assets     
HTM investments P=15,558,075,386 P=– P=– P= 15,558,075,386 
Cash and cash equivalents 547,505,284 – – 547,505,284 
Loans and Receivables     
 Long-term investments 854,375,594 – – 854,375,594 
 Short-term investments 276,551,385 – – 276,551,385 
  Accrued interest receivable 220,407,218 – – 220,407,218 
  Loans receivable 19,960,000 – – 19,960,000 
  Accounts receivables 27,364,402 – 1,754,849 29,119,251 
  Other receivables 137,261,317 − 4,809,750 142,071,067 
AFS financial assets     
 Quoted 537,128,813 – – 537,128,813 
 Unquoted 1,108,241,463 – – 1,108,241,463 
 P=19,286,870,862 P=− P= 6,564,599 P=19,293,435,461 
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b. Reinsurance is placed with highly rated counterparties and concentration of risk is avoided by 
following policy guidelines in respect of counterparties’ limits that are set each year and are 
subject to regular reviews.  At each reporting date, management performs an assessment of 
creditworthiness of reinsurers and update the reinsurance purchase strategy, ascertaining suitable 
allowance for impairment. 

 
c. The Association sets the maximum amounts and limits that may be advanced to corporate 

counterparties by reference to their long-term credit ratings. 
 

The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the statements of 
financial position. 

 
 2019 2018 
Financial Assets   
Cash and cash equivalents (excluding cash on 

hand amounting P=0.22 million and  
P=0.11 million in 2019 and 2018, respectively) P=547,288,384 P=315,181,107 

HTM investments 15,558,075,386 12,689,868,405 
Loans and Receivables   
 Short-term investments 276,551,385 119,715,969 
 Long-term investment 854,375,594 854,375,594 
 Receivables   
  Accounts receivable 29,119,251 8,545,024 
  Loans receivable 19,960,000 6,460,000 
  Advances for future stocks subscriptions 121,273,000 − 
  Other receivables 20,798,067 42,524,752 
Available-for-sale financial assets   
 Unquoted 1,108,241,463 819,115,760 
 Quoted 537,128,813 451,542,080 
Accrued income 220,407,218 149,918,199 
 P=19,293,218,561 P=15,457,246,890 

 
The table below provides information regarding the credit risk exposure of the Association by 
classifying assets according to the Association’s credit ratings of counterparties as of  
December 31, 2019 and 2018. 

 
2019 

 Neither Past-Due nor Impaired 
Past Due and 

Impaired 

 

 
Investment 

Grade 
Non-investment 

Grade Total 
Financial Assets     
HTM investments P=15,558,075,386 P=– P=– P= 15,558,075,386 
Cash and cash equivalents 547,505,284 – – 547,505,284 
Loans and Receivables     
 Long-term investments 854,375,594 – – 854,375,594 
 Short-term investments 276,551,385 – – 276,551,385 
  Accrued interest receivable 220,407,218 – – 220,407,218 
  Loans receivable 19,960,000 – – 19,960,000 
  Accounts receivables 27,364,402 – 1,754,849 29,119,251 
  Other receivables 137,261,317 − 4,809,750 142,071,067 
AFS financial assets     
 Quoted 537,128,813 – – 537,128,813 
 Unquoted 1,108,241,463 – – 1,108,241,463 
 P=19,286,870,862 P=− P= 6,564,599 P=19,293,435,461 
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2018 
 Neither Past-Due nor Impaired 

Past Due and 
Impaired 

 

 
Investment 

Grade 
Non-investment 

Grade Total 
Financial Assets     
HTM investments P=12,689,868,405 P=– P=– P=12,689,868,405 
Cash and cash equivalents 315,295,952 – – 315,295,952 
Loans and Receivables     
 Long-term investments 854,375,594 – – 854,375,594 
 Short-term investments 119,715,969 – – 119,715,969 
  Accrued interest receivable 149,918,199 – – 149,918,199 
  Loans receivable 6,460,000 – – 6,460,000 
  Accounts receivables 8,008,383 – 536,641 8,545,024 
  Other receivables 40,597,082 − 1,927,670 42,524,752 
AFS financial assets     
 Quoted 451,542,080 – – 451,542,080 
 Unquoted 819,115,760 – – 819,115,760 
 P=15,454,897,424 P=− P=2,464,311 P=15,457,361,735 

 
The Association uses a credit rating concept based on the borrowers and counterparties’ overall credit 
worthiness, as follows: 

 
Investment grade - Rating given to borrowers and counterparties who possess strong to very 

strong capacity to meet its obligations. 
Non-investment grade - Rating given to borrowers and counterparties who possess above average 

capacity to meet its obligations. 
 

The Association trades only with members who are also members of the related parties.  The 
receivables represent mostly collections of the related parties pertaining to contributions for 
premiums for life insurance, loan redemption assistance and provident fund unremitted to the 
Association.  Receivables are generally on a 1-30 days terms and are all current.  All receivables are 
neither past due nor impaired. 

 
The Association conducts periodic review of allowance for credit losses each financial year through 
examining the financial position of the related party and the market in which the related party 
operates. 

Liquidity risk 
 This risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with 
financial instruments. 

 
The following policies and procedures are in place to mitigate the Association’s exposure to liquidity 
risk: 

 
a) The Association’s liquidity risk policy sets out the assessment and determination of what 

constitutes liquidity risk for the Association.  Compliance with the policy is monitored and 
exposures and breaches are reported to the management.  The policy is regularly reviewed for 
pertinence and for changes in the risk environment. 

 
b) Set guidelines on asset allocations, portfolio limit structures and maturity profiles of assets, in 

order to ensure sufficient funding available to meet insurance and investment contracts 
obligations. 
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The following table shows an analysis of assets and liabilities analyzed according to whether they are 
expected to be recovered or settled within one (1) year and beyond one (1) year from reporting date: 

 
2019 
 
 Up to 

 1 year 
1-3 years over 5 years No term Total 

Financial assets      
Cash and cash equivalents  547,505,284 – – – 547,505,284 
HTM investments  220,640,616 4,816,249,964 10,521,184,806 – 15,558,075,386 
Loans and receivables       
 Accounts receivable  24,845,505 1,070,935 – – 25,916,440 
 Accrued interest receivable  220,407,218 - – – 220,407,218 
 Loans receivable  - 19,960,000 – – 19,960,000 
 Advances for future stocks 

 subscriptions  
121,273,000 - – – 121,273,000 

 Other receivables  17,170,676 3,149,817 – – 20,320,493 
 Short-term investments  276,551,385 – – – 276,551,385 
 Long-term investments  – – 854,375,594 – 854,375,594 
AFS financial assets  – – – 1,645,370,276 1,645,370,276 
 1,428,393,684 4,840,430,716 11,375,560,400 1,645,370,276 19,289,755,076 
      
Financial liabilities       
Other financial liabilities       
 Accounts payable -CaMIA  1,340,685 – – – 1,340,685 
 Claims payable  98,052,285 – – – 98,052,285 
 Collection fee payable  22,902,073 – – – 22,902,073 
 Accrued expenses  21,179,520 – – – 21,179,520 
 143,474,563 – – – 143,474,563 

 
2018 
 
 

Up to 
one year 1-3 years Over 5 years No term Total 

Financial assets      
Cash and other cash items P=315,295,952 P=– P=– P=– P=315,295,952 
HTM investments 84,182,645 1,760,224,980 7,423,278,827 – 9,267,686,452 
Loans and Receivables      
 Accounts receivables 11,009,856 144,543 – – 11,154,399 
 Accrued interest receivable 114,037,287 – – – 114,037,287 
 Loans receivables – 6,460,000 – – 6,460,000 
 Advances for future stock 

Subscription 4,000,000 – – – 4,000,000 
 Other receivables 10,215,897 579,976 – – 10,795,873 
 Short-term investments 119,715,969 – – – 119,715,969 
 Long-term investments – – 854,375,594 – 854,375,594 
AFS financial assets – – – 1,270,657,841 1,270,657,841 
 P=658,457,606 P=1,767,409,499 P=8,277,654,421 P=1,270,657,841 P=11,974,179,367 
Financial liabilities      
Other financial liabilities      
 Accounts payable – CAMIA P=1,406,063 P=– P=– P=– P=1,406,063 
 Claims payable 95,397,115 − – – 95,397,115 
 Collection fee payable 45,542,935  – – 45,542,935 
 Accrued expenses 7,215,972 – – – 7,215,972 

 P=149,562,085 P=- P=– P=– P=149,562,085 

 
Market risk 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market prices.  Market risk comprises three types of risks: foreign exchange 
rates (currency risk), market interest rates (interest rate risk) and market prices (price risk). 
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The following table shows an analysis of assets and liabilities analyzed according to whether they are 
expected to be recovered or settled within one (1) year and beyond one (1) year from reporting date: 

 
2019 
 
 Up to 

 1 year 
1-3 years over 5 years No term Total 

Financial assets      
Cash and cash equivalents  547,505,284 – – – 547,505,284 
HTM investments  220,640,616 4,816,249,964 10,521,184,806 – 15,558,075,386 
Loans and receivables       
 Accounts receivable  24,845,505 1,070,935 – – 25,916,440 
 Accrued interest receivable  220,407,218 - – – 220,407,218 
 Loans receivable  - 19,960,000 – – 19,960,000 
 Advances for future stocks 

 subscriptions  
121,273,000 - – – 121,273,000 

 Other receivables  17,170,676 3,149,817 – – 20,320,493 
 Short-term investments  276,551,385 – – – 276,551,385 
 Long-term investments  – – 854,375,594 – 854,375,594 
AFS financial assets  – – – 1,645,370,276 1,645,370,276 
 1,428,393,684 4,840,430,716 11,375,560,400 1,645,370,276 19,289,755,076 
      
Financial liabilities       
Other financial liabilities       
 Accounts payable -CaMIA  1,340,685 – – – 1,340,685 
 Claims payable  98,052,285 – – – 98,052,285 
 Collection fee payable  22,902,073 – – – 22,902,073 
 Accrued expenses  21,179,520 – – – 21,179,520 
 143,474,563 – – – 143,474,563 

 
2018 
 
 

Up to 
one year 1-3 years Over 5 years No term Total 

Financial assets      
Cash and other cash items P=315,295,952 P=– P=– P=– P=315,295,952 
HTM investments 84,182,645 1,760,224,980 7,423,278,827 – 9,267,686,452 
Loans and Receivables      
 Accounts receivables 11,009,856 144,543 – – 11,154,399 
 Accrued interest receivable 114,037,287 – – – 114,037,287 
 Loans receivables – 6,460,000 – – 6,460,000 
 Advances for future stock 

Subscription 4,000,000 – – – 4,000,000 
 Other receivables 10,215,897 579,976 – – 10,795,873 
 Short-term investments 119,715,969 – – – 119,715,969 
 Long-term investments – – 854,375,594 – 854,375,594 
AFS financial assets – – – 1,270,657,841 1,270,657,841 
 P=658,457,606 P=1,767,409,499 P=8,277,654,421 P=1,270,657,841 P=11,974,179,367 
Financial liabilities      
Other financial liabilities      
 Accounts payable – CAMIA P=1,406,063 P=– P=– P=– P=1,406,063 
 Claims payable 95,397,115 − – – 95,397,115 
 Collection fee payable 45,542,935  – – 45,542,935 
 Accrued expenses 7,215,972 – – – 7,215,972 

 P=149,562,085 P=- P=– P=– P=149,562,085 

 
Market risk 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market prices.  Market risk comprises three types of risks: foreign exchange 
rates (currency risk), market interest rates (interest rate risk) and market prices (price risk). 
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The following policies and procedures are in place to mitigate the Association’s exposure to market 
risk: 

 
a. The market risk policy sets out the assessment and determination of what constitutes market risk 

for the Association.  Compliance with the policy is monitored and exposures and breaches are 
reported to the association risk committee.  The policy is reviewed regularly for pertinence and 
for changes in the risk environment. 

 
b. Set asset allocation and portfolio limit structure, to ensure that assets back specific member 

liabilities and that assets are held to deliver income and gains for members which are in line with 
expectations of the members.  

 
c. Stipulated diversification benchmarks by type of instrument, as the association is exposed to 

guaranteed bonuses, cash and annuity options when interest rates falls.  
 

Currency risk 
The Association’s principal transactions are carried out in Philippine peso and its foreign exchange 
risk arises primarily with respect to U.S. dollars, in which some of its investments are denominated.   

 
The following table shows the details of the Association’s foreign currency denominated monetary 
assets and liabilities and their Philippine peso equivalents. 

 
 2019 2018 

 U.S. Dollar(1) 
Peso 

Equivalent U.S. Dollar(1) 
Peso 

Equivalent 
Short-term investments $487,676 P=24,693,053 $5,623 P=295,638 
Cash in bank 12,681 642,112 495,128 26,033,842 
Total $500,357 P=25,335,165 $500,751 P=26,329,480 
(1)  The exchange rate used was P=50.64 to US$1.00 in 2019 and P=52.58 to US$1.00 in 2018. 

 
Sensitivity analysis  
The following table demonstrates sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the Philippine Peso 
exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of the Association’s income before income tax 
(due to changes in the fair value of currency sensitive monetary assets and liabilities).  

 

 Currency 
Increase (decrease) in 

Philippine Peso rate 
Effect on 

Profit 
2019 USD +0.10 P=2,533,807 
  -0.10 (2,533,807) 
2018 USD +0.10 P=2,632,949 
  -0.10 (2,632,949) 

 
Interest rate risk 
This interest rate risk is the risk that the value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. 

 
Floating rate instruments expose the Association to cash flow interest risk, whereas fixed interest rate 
instruments expose the Association to fair value interest risk. 
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The Association’s interest risk policy requires it to manage interest rate risk by maintaining 
appropriate mix of fixed and variable rate instruments.  The policy also requires it to manage the 
maturities of interest-bearing financial assets and interest-bearing financial liabilities.  Interest on 
fixed interest rate instruments is priced at inception of the financial instrument and is fixed until the 
maturity. 

 
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Association does not have financial instruments which have 
repricing interest. 

 
2019 
 Range of interest rate Up to a year Over one (1) year 
Cash and cash equivalents-regular deposit 0.10% to 1.50% P=186,955,522 P=– 
Cash and cash equivalents-time deposits 3.50% to 3.75% 360,549,762 – 
Short-term investments 3.50% to 4.00% 276,551,385 – 
Long term investments 4.00% to 6.00% – 854,375,594 
HTM investments 3.25% to 8.06% – 15,558,075,386 
Total financial assets  P=824,056,669 P= 16,412,450,980 

 
2018 
 Range of interest rate Up to a year Over one (1) year 
Cash and cash equivalents-regular deposit 0.05% to 1.50% P=106,282,027 P=– 
Cash and cash equivalents-time deposits 1.575 % to 2.125 % 209,013,925 – 
Short-term investments 0.875 % to 2.125 % 119,715,969 – 
Long term investments 4.00% to 6.00% – 854,375,594 
HTM investments 3.25% to 8.06% – 12,689,868,405 
Total financial assets  P=435,011,921 P=13,544,243,999 

 
Price risk 
The Association’s price risk exposure at year-end relates to financial assets whose values will 
fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices, principally, AFS investments.  Such investment 
securities are subject to price risk due to changes in market values of instruments arising either from 
factors specific to individual instruments or their issuers or factors affecting all instruments traded in 
the market. 

 
The Association’s investment policy requires it to manage such risks by setting and monitoring 
objectives and constraints on investments, diversification plan, and limits on investment in each 
country, sector and market.  Investments in derivatives are also not allowed. 

 
Sensitivity analysis 
The following table demonstrates sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the market value of 
investments in mutual fund companies and unit investment trust fund, with all other variables held 
constant, of the Association’s equity (due to changes in the net asset value of mutual funds).  

 
 2019 2018 
Change in NAVPS +10% -10% +10% -10% 
Mutual Funds P=44,323,038 (P=44,323,038) P=4,354,784 (P=4,354,784) 
Unit Investment Trust Fund 7,312,364 (7,312,364) 32,913,666 (32,913,666) 
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The Association’s interest risk policy requires it to manage interest rate risk by maintaining 
appropriate mix of fixed and variable rate instruments.  The policy also requires it to manage the 
maturities of interest-bearing financial assets and interest-bearing financial liabilities.  Interest on 
fixed interest rate instruments is priced at inception of the financial instrument and is fixed until the 
maturity. 

 
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Association does not have financial instruments which have 
repricing interest. 

 
2019 
 Range of interest rate Up to a year Over one (1) year 
Cash and cash equivalents-regular deposit 0.10% to 1.50% P=186,955,522 P=– 
Cash and cash equivalents-time deposits 3.50% to 3.75% 360,549,762 – 
Short-term investments 3.50% to 4.00% 276,551,385 – 
Long term investments 4.00% to 6.00% – 854,375,594 
HTM investments 3.25% to 8.06% – 15,558,075,386 
Total financial assets  P=824,056,669 P= 16,412,450,980 

 
2018 
 Range of interest rate Up to a year Over one (1) year 
Cash and cash equivalents-regular deposit 0.05% to 1.50% P=106,282,027 P=– 
Cash and cash equivalents-time deposits 1.575 % to 2.125 % 209,013,925 – 
Short-term investments 0.875 % to 2.125 % 119,715,969 – 
Long term investments 4.00% to 6.00% – 854,375,594 
HTM investments 3.25% to 8.06% – 12,689,868,405 
Total financial assets  P=435,011,921 P=13,544,243,999 

 
Price risk 
The Association’s price risk exposure at year-end relates to financial assets whose values will 
fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices, principally, AFS investments.  Such investment 
securities are subject to price risk due to changes in market values of instruments arising either from 
factors specific to individual instruments or their issuers or factors affecting all instruments traded in 
the market. 

 
The Association’s investment policy requires it to manage such risks by setting and monitoring 
objectives and constraints on investments, diversification plan, and limits on investment in each 
country, sector and market.  Investments in derivatives are also not allowed. 

 
Sensitivity analysis 
The following table demonstrates sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the market value of 
investments in mutual fund companies and unit investment trust fund, with all other variables held 
constant, of the Association’s equity (due to changes in the net asset value of mutual funds).  

 
 2019 2018 
Change in NAVPS +10% -10% +10% -10% 
Mutual Funds P=44,323,038 (P=44,323,038) P=4,354,784 (P=4,354,784) 
Unit Investment Trust Fund 7,312,364 (7,312,364) 32,913,666 (32,913,666) 
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27. Commitment and Contingencies 
 

There were no commitments, guarantees and contingent liabilities that arose in the normal course of 
the Association’s operations which are not reflected in the Association’s financial statements.  As of 
December 31, 2019 and 2018, management is of the opinion that losses, if any, from these 
commitments, guarantees and contingent liabilities will not have a material effect on the 
Association’s financial statements. 

 
 
28. Appropriated Fund Balance 
 

The Association’s BOT approved the appropriation of the following:  
 

 

Guaranty fund 

CARD MRI 
Disaster Relief 

Assistance 
Program 

Experience 
Refund 

Enhancement of 
IT system Total 

At January 1, 2018 P=137,861,701 P=– P=542,756 P=10,322,396 P=148,726,853 
Appropriation – 50,000,000 – 72,000,000 122,000,000 
Reversal of Appropriation – – – – – 
Utilization of Appropriation – (46,421,909) – – (46,421,909) 
At December 31, 2018 137,861,701 3,578,091 542,756 82,322,396 224,304,944 
Appropriation 87,200,000 80,000,000 – 197,632,531 364,832,531 
Reversal of Appropriation – (3,578,072) – – (3,578,072) 
Utilization of Appropriation – (55,929,693) – – (55,929,693) 
At December 31, 2019 P=225,061,701 P=24,070,326 P=542,756 P=279,954,927 P=529,629,710 

 
The Association is required to increase the guaranty fund based on the 5.00% annual gross premium 
collections until the guaranty fund reaches 12.50% of the minimum paid up capital for domestic life 
insurance companies or P=125.00 million, whichever is higher.   

 
The Association appropriated P=80.00 million and ₱50.00 in 2019 and 2018, respectively for CDRAP 
aimed at providing relief assistance to its members and dependents during calamities and other 
disasters in the form of cash or relief goods.  In 2019 and 2018, reversal and utilization of 
appropriation amounted to ₱59.51 and P=46.42, respectively.  These reversals, approved by the BOT, 
pertain to unused funds at year-end. 

 
 
29. Events after the Reporting Date 
 

In a move to contain the COVID-19 outbreak, on March 13, 2020, the Office of the President of the 
Philippines issued a Memorandum directive to impose stringent social distancing measures in the 
National Capital Region effective March 15, 2020.  On March 16, 2020, Presidential Proclamation 
No. 929 was issued, declaring a State of Calamity throughout the Philippines for a period of six (6) 
months and imposed an enhanced community quarantine throughout the island of Luzon until  
April 12, 2020, which was subsequently extended to April 30.  These measures have caused 
disruptions to businesses and economic activities, and its impact on businesses continue to evolve.   
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The Association considers the events surrounding the outbreak as non-adjusting subsequent events, 
which do not impact its financial position and performance as of and for the year ended  
December 31, 2019.  However, the outbreak could have a material impact on its 2020 financial results 
and even periods thereafter.  Considering the evolving nature of this outbreak, the Association cannot 
determine at this time the impact to its financial position, performance and cash flows.  The 
Association will continue to monitor the situation. 

 
 
30. Approval of the Financial Statements 
 

The accompanying financial statements of the Association were approved and authorized for issue by 
the Board of Trustees on May 23, 2020. 

 
 
31. Supplementary Tax Information Required Under Revenue Regulations 15-2010 
 

The Association reported and/or paid the following types of taxes in 2019:  
 

Value added tax (VAT) 
As a nonstock, not-for-profit and mutual benefit association, the Association was granted tax 
exemption with respect to income and value-added taxes as provided under the National Internal 
Revenue Code of 1997 as amended by Republic Act 8424 known as the Comprehensive Tax Reform 
Program by the Bureau of Internal Revenue (see Note 1). 

 
a. Net Sales/Receipts and Output VAT declared in the Association’s VAT returns follows: 

 
The Association paid Output VAT from its rental income and interest earned from loans 
receivables amounting P=1.95 million and P=0.10 million, respectively.   

 
b. The Association did not incur any input VAT in 2019. 

 
Information on the Association’s importations 

 
The Association does not undertake importation activities. 

 
Taxes and Licenses 
This includes all other taxes, local and national, including real estate taxes, license and permit fees 
lodged under the caption ‘Taxes and Licenses’ under the ‘General and Administrative Expenses’ 
section in the Association’s Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

 
Details consist of the following in 2018: 

 
Local tax   
License and permit fees  P= 4,205,869 
Real property taxes  1,275,569 
Others  15,162 
  5,496,600 
National tax   
Registration fees  92,890 
  P=5,589,490 
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c. Withholding Taxes 
 

Details consist of the following: 
 

 Remitted 
December 31, 

2019 
Withholding taxes on compensation and benefits P=520,669 P=71,512 
Expanded withholding taxes 3,467,799 432,150 
 P=3,988,468 P=503,662 

 
d. Tax Assessments and Cases 

 
On January 23, 2020, the Association received a letter from the OIC-Revenue District Officer of  
BIR Revenue District Office No. 055-East Laguna, in response to the Association’s request for 
the issuance of certificate of tax exemption, opining that the Association “does not qualify for 
exemption under Section 30 (G) of the NIRC , as amended, and, therefore, is liable for regular 
corporate income tax imposed under Title II of the same Code and other applicable taxes such as 
Value Added Tax (VAT) or Percentage Tax on the alleged ground that its primary source of 
income is the gross premiums on insurance contracts as this indicates that the Association is a 
credit facility or a financing enterprise administered for profit.   
 
The Association’s Legal Counsel duly protested the same and filed on February 20, 2020 its 
position paper thereto.  
 
Currently, the matter has been referred to the Legal Division of the BIR’s Revenue Region No. 
09 for appropriate action.  The resolution on this matter is on-going. 
 
Management together with its Legal Counsel assessed that it is highly probable that BIR will 
accept the uncertain tax treatment. 
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